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Thursday, July 27, 2023
--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. MORAN:  Good morning.  Before we start with IGUA's evidence, just as a preliminary matter, yesterday during cross-examination of Mr. Goulding by you, Mr. O'Leary, the question was asked with respect to accelerated depreciation what considerations or what factors need to be taken into account.  Mr. Goulding replied by identifying, one, a consideration of intergenerational equities but suggested that there were several considerations.  The Panel just for the completeness of the record would be interested in getting a complete answer from Mr. Goulding.  So, Mr. Millar, if we could mark that as an undertaking.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  J10.1, and I guess it is for London Economics to provide a full response on considerations with respect to accelerated depreciation?


MR. MORAN:  With respect to the use of accelerated depreciation.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING J10.1:  LONDON ECONOMICS TO PROVIDE A FULL RESPONSE ON CONSIDERATIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE USE OF ACCELERATED DEPRECIATION.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  Are there any other preliminary matters?  Okay.  Mr. Mondrow, I think we are ready to begin with Dr. Cleary.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you very much, Sir, and good morning, Panel.  I am very pleased to introduce to you in the flesh Dr. Sean Cleary, who is in the witness stand.  Dr. Cleary is a professor of finance at Queen's University and has been engaged by IGUA in this proceeding, to evaluate Enbridge Gas Inc.'s request to increase its equity thickness.  While Dr. Hopkins assessed EGI's energy-transition-related business risks, step 1 of the equity-thickness change analysis, Dr. Cleary addresses step 2, the fair return standard analysis.

Dr. Cleary's evidence has been filed as Exhibit M6.  His CV is included as attachment A to Exhibit M6.  The OEB's Form A, Acknowledgement of Expert's Duty, is included as attachment B to Exhibit M6, and his interrogatory responses have been designated as Exhibit I.M6.

On May 17th of 2023, we filed a letter with a corrected version of M6, and I just want to -- the letter explained what that corrected version is, but, just to make sure the record is complete and all in one place in respect of Dr. Cleary's evidence:  We explained in the letter that an interrogatory from OEB Staff correctly pointed out that Dr. Cleary had misrecorded in his evidence Enbridge's 2021 revenue, which revenue amount has been corrected in the corrected version of the evidence, as have the associated calculations.  All of the corrections in the evidence were listed in the interrogatory response to Board Staff's question, which is N.M6 Staff 3, and all the corrections have also been marked in the corrected version of Exhibit M6 which was filed some time ago, on May 17th.

The correction centred on the narrative which is found at page 25 of Dr. Cleary's evidence.  They have all been marked with a "/C" in the margin to indicate where the corrections were made, and they all go to the relative size of Enbridge Gas as the comparator -- relative to the comparator utilities identified by Concentric, and, as indicated in Dr. Cleary's interrogatory response, his opinion in that response is that the correction of the error did not change any of his conclusions, but that was nature of the mistake and the subsequent correction which fortunately was pointed out and we corrected quite early in the process.

As has been the practice in this proceeding, I did circulate a note to all parties several days ago, indicating we were proposing to qualify Dr. Cleary for the purposes of this proceeding as an expert in the area of utility cost of capital.  I received no objections.  In light of that, I would like just take a very few minutes to ask Dr. Cleary a few questions to introduce him and his position, to orient the overall focus of his work in the context of this proceeding without going into detail.  I understand that Dr. Cleary would then like to offer a comment briefly on the characterization of his work that was asserted in direct testimony by Concentric, and then he will be available for cross-examination.  If that suits Mr. Chair, perhaps Commissioner Duff could administer the oath or affirmation, and I will proceed to do all of that relatively quickly.


MS. DUFF:  Yes.  Good morning.  Dr. Cleary, you are about to give evidence in this hearing.  This Panel is dependent on you telling the truth, and the law also requires you to do so.  Therefore, before you testify, I must ask you this:  Do you solemnly promise this Panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?


DR. CLEARY:  I do.


MS. DUFF:  And do you understand that breaking that promise would be an offence under our law?


DR. CLEARY:  I do.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

STAFF/INTERVENOR PANEL 9 - EQUITY THICKNESS – IGUA M6
Sean Cleary; Affirmed.

Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.  Dr. Cleary, I referred a few minutes ago to your pre-filed evidence.  That is Exhibit M6, Corrected.  The correction date is May 15, 2023.  I also referred to your interrogatory responses given, Exhibit M6.  All of that evidence was prepared by you?


DR. CLEARY:  Yes, it was.


MR. MONDROW:  Do you adopt it for the purposes of this proceeding?


DR. CLEARY:  Yes, I do.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  I just want to take you for a minute to attachment A to Exhibit M6, which is your CV.  The first page of your CV, under Education, we see that you were awarded a PhD in finance from U of T in January 1998?


DR. CLEARY:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And you earned an MBA in finance in St. Mary's University.  I believe that is in Halifax, Nova Scotia, and that was in 1989?


DR. CLEARY:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  You are currently a professor of finance at the Queen's School of Business?


DR. CLEARY:  Also correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And you are also a Chartered Financial Analyst?


DR. CLEARY:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And that's the CFA designation.  Starting at PDF page 48, we see the second page of your CV, itself.  We see your expert witness experience.  Have you appeared before this commission before?


DR. CLEARY:  I have not.


MR. MONDROW:  But you have appeared both before the Alberta Utilities Commission in several proceedings, and also before the Newfoundland public utilities board, both places as an expert on regulated utility cost of capital matters?


DR. CLEARY:  That is correct.


MR. MONDROW:  All those appearances are listed here, in your CV?


DR. CLEARY:  Yes, they are.


MR. MONDROW:  All right.  If we could turn just briefly to attachment B to your evidence, and this is starting at PDF page 60, this is a Form A Acknowledgement of Expert's Duty from the Ontario Energy Board, and that is your signature below the date of April 12, 2023?


DR. CLEARY:  Yes, it is.


MR. MONDROW:  Can you confirm that you have read and that you acknowledge the responsibilities laid out in that form, above your signature?


DR. CLEARY:  I do.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Thank you, Dr. Cleary.  Mr. Chair, with that introduction and given no objections, I would request that the Board accept Dr. Cleary as qualified to give expert opinion evidence in this matter in the area of utility cost of capital.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  On the basis that there are no objections to Dr. Cleary's qualifications to provide opinion evidence, we will accept him on the basis proposed.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Sir.  Dr. Cleary, in the proceedings from this past Monday, which was July 24th, Concentric provided some commentary in its direct evidence on your work and on the work of LEI, London Economics Inc.  You were listening in to that evidence and have reviewed the transcript recording that evidence?


DR. CLEARY:  Yes, I did.


MR. MONDROW:  And I understand you would like to respond to the characterization of your work in this proceeding as asserted by Concentric?


DR. CLEARY:  Yes, I would.


MR. MONDROW:  Please go ahead and do that now.


DR. CLEARY:  First of all, good morning, Mr. Chair and other Board Members as well as members of the audience.  It is my pleasure to be here in person this morning.  It worked out.

So, first of all, I begin by noting that it has been noted by several other parties that, regarding step 1 of proving that a significant change in company business and financial risk that was EGI's hurdle to jump, if you will, I don't believe that they satisfied, and the debt-rating agencies don't believe so.  Their cost of debt in the public debt markets does not reflect this, nor do other comments in the credit -- or, sorry, nor do their credit metrics, their forecast credit metrics that were used from EGI, itself.  In its direct evidence, Concentric asserted that my analysis was narrow and backward looking.

In fact, I would argue just the opposite, that EGI's evidence is narrow and backward-looking.  They rely primarily on awarded equity ratios in other jurisdictions that happened historically, in some cases several years ago.  They do not pay enough attention to current market-based information as I do, and, in fact, I would suggest my evidence is forward-looking analysis.  They rely on the fair return standard, particularly comparable investment standard, and suggest, in effect, that EGI should get the same average awarded equity ratio that is provided to other utilities in North America, without making any adjustments for the risks that those utilities may have relative to EGI.  Nowhere in the fair return standard does it say that operating companies must receive the same equity ratio as others to satisfy that fair return standard.

In addition, while taking great pains to construct their proxy groups and justify them, and mentioning right up front that operating companies are the most representative, in fact, most of their analysis weights much heavier on holding companies than operating companies.  And also, in fact, several of their analyses used companies -- or utilities, I should say -- that were specifically excluded from their proxy groups.  For example, one of their analyses, in figure 38, provides data for 55 U.S. operating companies, 52 of which were not included in either of their proxy groups, and it included only three of them.

This is further evidenced when they do their credit metric analysis; again, back to that point that opcos are the most relevant, which I agree with, and their credit metric analysis used 13 of the 14 holding companies in their sample, zero of the 10 operating companies in Canada, and seven of 10 in the U.S.; so seven of 20 holdcos and 13 of 14 operating cos.

In their direct examination the other day -- Monday or Tuesday; sorry, the days are mixed up for me -- they suggested I ignore information regarding comparable utilities and suggest that I advocate making no reference to them.  This is not true.  First of all, I point out the flaw in the whole approach of just merely looking at equity ratios that are awarded in other jurisdictions without considering the record at the time, the risk facing the utilities, the operations of those utilities, and market conditions.

And, second of all, I point out that there are flaws and different risk characteristics in all of their proxy groups relative to EGI.  In particular, the first three are much riskier.  You can take the information, but it must be adjusted for the fact that they have higher risk.  And their fourth one, the most promising group, the  Canadian opco group, includes 10 companies, but seven of them are so much smaller than EGI that they require an adjustment for that risk, as has been argued be Mr. Coyne in the New Brunswick proceedings.

Further on, they suggest that, when I don't look at comparators, I then can't examine the three prongs of the fair return standard.  And I would suggest that, if all we needed to do to satisfy the fair return standard was to look at awarded equity ratios in other jurisdictions, there would be no need for proceedings such as these to look at market conditions, to look at the operations of EGI, and so on and so forth, the things that are done in these hearings to determine an appropriate equity ratio and an appropriate ROE ratio; or, sorry, allowed ROE in some cases.

So beyond looking at the equity ratios, they provide some other analyses, but most of these, I find, are flawed.  They ignore the fact that Enbridge Gas borrows at slightly below the A-rated utility average yield, which I believe -- well, not "believe" -- definitely shows that they have no problem attracting capital and that they are on par with comparable investments.

These yields, these market-determined yields, are based on the assumption that their equity ratio would remain at 36 percent, as are the credit metrics used by S&P and also those provided by EGI.  So there seems to be no concern there.

Another thing that they mentioned in their direct was my focus on debt reports and debt yield, and that I ignore equity investors.  And they insinuate that they operate in two parallel universes; equity investors and debt investors.  I find that totally untrue.  Both equity and debt investors look at forward-looking information, try to assess the future cash flows of a company, the growth opportunities, and risks facing the company.  I will agree that they do have different focuses, with debt investors focusing more on the downside.  Equity investors focus on the downside, but also more emphasis on the upside, but they use the same kind of information.  They assess the risk of the parties.

And, also, I would point out that the OEB formula to estimate the allowed ROE is supposed to proxy the cost of equity, and it includes, essentially, changes in the cost of debt.  Because the first component is the risk-free rate -- the government yields, if you will -- and the second component is the A-rated utility yield spread.  If you add those two together, that is the A-rated yield; the government yield plus the A-rated spread.  So the fact that the OEB recognizes that the cost of equity goes up or down, with changes in the cost of debt to the utility, reflects that close relationship between the cost of debt and cost of equity.

I have couple of other things here.  One is they suggest that I focus only on the short term, and not the long term.  That is incorrect.  I do acknowledge the importance of the long term, as do capital providers.  And I totally acknowledge that point.  The point that Concentric fails to recognize is that the capital providers, the debt markets, and the equity markets also have already looked at the long term, and those are reflected in today's current rate-borrowing rates for Enbridge Gas, so it's reasonable to assume that they have considered the energy transition risk and that it is already reflected in Enbridge Gas's cost of debt.

Finally, there some other financial analyses that I have issues with.  For example, they suggest that Canadian utilities are trading at a greater discount than U.S. utilities today versus in 2010.  Well, that is not true.  And also they fail to account the overall market movements, where the Canadian market -- equity returns and the Canadian market were 57 percent lower than in the U.S. over that period, while the returns to Canadian utilities were only 20 percent lower.  So, if anything, the Canadian utilities fared better relative to U.S. utilities.

Finally, one of the other things that they made a big point of was my analysis of the ROEs for operating companies versus holding companies.  And I do recognize that there are issues there, particularly the accounting issues in comparing the ROEs of operating companies to holding companies.  And I recognize that.  And, if anything, that supports my opinion that holding companies are poor comparators.

The second thing is they seem to not have the same concern when they look at the credit metrics, because, as mentioned, in their credit metrics, 13 of the 20 companies they look at are, in fact, holding companies.  So they seem to disregard the accounting differences when they are looking at the credit metrics, so I am not quite sure why it's an issue when looking at the ROEs and not when looking at the others.

The other thing that they suggest is that, just because a company earns above its allowed ROE, in the case of EGI, which has done so consistently and, on average, 1 percent, they suggest that doesn't indicate anything about the risk of the company, and suggest that doesn't suggest that they are less risky than a company that continually earns less than an allowed ROE; or let's just call it a non-utility and say, "Some expected return."

Well, I think any investor would recognize that investing in a business that continually earns above an expected return, or some high-water mark, and less volatility in those earnings, would be less risky than investing in a company that continually earns below that high-water mark or expected return with greater volatility.  You could think of just buying a small business yourself, and you certainly would consider one that earns above the expected to be less risky.

So, to conclude, in contrast to Concentric's simple reliance on historically awarded equity ratios, I would argue that my evidence is forward-looking, based on available financial market information, and my analysis suggests that it is not necessary to increase EGI's equity ratio of 36 percent, which comfortably satisfies all three legs of the fair return standard.  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Dr. Cleary.  Mr. Chair, Dr. Cleary is available for cross-examination.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Up first is FRPO, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Quinn, you're on mute.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you, I apologize.  I am working remotely, and if I turn off my camera, I have already had a little bit of instability.  But I trust that I will just turn off my camera and continue the cross, from there, if that is satisfactory.

Good morning to you, Dr. Cleary.  My name is Dwayne Quinn, and I am here on behalf of FRPO.  And I just want to start by getting some clarity on a matter that I posed to Concentric earlier this week, and it is on the matter of Enbridge's non-utility storage and the effect that that would have on the company's perceived risk as far as statements of the company go, and how that would show up in their return on equity.

So I wanted to ensure that you have an understanding, so I will walk you through similar questions that I posed to Concentric on Tuesday, I believe.

So Dr. Cleary, I note on page 9 of your evidence that DBRS' inclusion of the a -- of the importance of a sizable storage, which improves the additional rate base and cash flow.  Actually, I don't -- thank you.  Okay.

Can you confirm that you are aware that this storage is integrated storage with Enbridge's Dawn-Parkway system, to allow load balancing services to both in-franchise and ex-franchise customers?

DR. CLEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  I would say I am familiar with it to the extent of following the discussions that you -- is it me?  Can you hear me now?

MR. QUINN:  I can hear you.  But I am going turn to off my video; that is what I was concerned about.  Please proceed.

MR. MORAN:  Dr. Cleary, they are directional mics.  So make sure that it is pointed straight towards you.

DR. CLEARY:  Can you hear me now?  It is good?  Okay.  I will try not to move.

Sorry, I am familiar with that information, basically to the extent of following the discussions the other day and reviewing it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I will walk you slowly, but if you need clarity, please ask.

DR. CLEARY:  Sure.

MR. QUINN:  Can you confirm that you are aware that the company segregates its assets between what it calls regulated and unregulated storage?

DR. CLEARY:  That is my understanding, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Can you confirm that you are also aware that all of the storage is regulated?  But for a portion of the storage, the Board does not regulate the price paid for the storage services?

DR. CLEARY:  That is also my understanding, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So we prefer to refer to this separation as the more accurate, utility and non-utility storage.  And I will use these terms for the purposes of our questions.

Can you clarify if the earnings derived from the non-utility storage would be considered in the regulated return, or not?

DR. CLEARY:  Not being an expert on such things, but it would be my experience that if they are unregulated assets, that would not go into the regulated base in terms of applying the allowed ROE.  And the equity ratio would not apply to it.

MR. QUINN:  And that is also my --


DR. CLEARY:  That is more in general than for the specific case, which I haven't really dug into, very deep.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I understand and respect that, so I am not wanting to put you on the spot --


DR. CLEARY:  No.

MR. QUINN:  -- and in fact would hope that maybe you can be of assistance with some information I provided.  But my concern is what would investors see in terms of the financial statements of the company?  So from a market perspective what, would they see?  So did your analysis include this non-utility storage and the return on those assets and their return on equity?

DR. CLEARY:  That is not something that I -- but if you want me to ask the -- respond to the more general question, I could.

MR. QUINN:  Sure.  Please.

DR. CLEARY:  Yes.  Basically what investors would look at and the holding companies are an excellent example of an approach called the sum of the parts.  They would look at the different value of all of the different operations of the company, determine the market value of that, which would -- then they -- and put them all -- and, you know, they couldn’t have -- especially holding companies, they have lots of unregulated assets, regulated assets, assets, Opcos, in strong jurisdictions and in weak jurisdictions.

So that they would have different discount rates in determining the market value of those various assets, and then they would put them all together and it would essentially be a weighted average; their cost of capital, if you will, would be a weighted average of the cost of capital of those various entities.

So in this case, and I do have an understanding that it is a relatively small proportion here, but that would be the high-level approach that would be taken, would be you would look at the, let's just say, 90 percent of the assets that are regulated.  And that would be the ones that would be as stated, regulated, and would determine the value for that.  And then investors would also look at this 10 percent:  is it risky or is it less risky?  Does it generate higher returns, does it generate lower returns?  And that would go into the overall mix.

I am not sure if that answers your question or not, but...

MR. QUINN:  Thank you for that, it does.  And I am trusting it is helpful to the Board also.  And this is why we brought this issue before the Board.

So if I could just ask you then, without going into specific numbers:  Hypothetically then, if the non-utility storage had a significantly higher rate of return on the assets and eventually the embedded equity, how would that affect the market's view of the return of Enbridge Gas?

DR. CLEARY:  Sorry, could you clarity which return you are talking about?  Are you talking about the return on equity?  Or are you talking about -- well, I guess you can’t invest in the stocks for Enbridge Gas.  So, you know, the returns on the bonds, is that what you talking about?

MR. QUINN:  Well, I was talking about the return on the assets which generate the cash which the market would see.  And that, you have put your finger on part of the challenge that I had in terms of looking at the operating company for the -- the holding company, to use your words from your introduction.  And so I think it might be helpful.  I am just going to -- as opposed to making a hypothetical, I thought I would provide some numbers for context.  And again, this is not to test any math in this proceeding, but potentially to get an undertaking to assist the Board.

So I did submit a compendium, admittedly late Tuesday night, so I am not sure how much chance you have had to look at it, but -- thank you, very much, Ms. Monforton.

It is not my intent to ask you specific questions on numbers, but to use the numbers for the efficiency of asking for the undertaking.

But before we do, Mr. Millar, could we have an exhibit number for the compendium, please?

MR. MILLAR:  Certainly.  That is K10.1.
EXHIBIT K10.1:  FRPO COMPENDIUM FOR STAFF/INTERVENOR PANEL 9.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Just as a preface, all the numbers that are compiled are from the year of 2020, where I had a full set of numbers that I thought would be helpful.  Of course, I am not an expert, but I am sure that if I have not been comprehensive in providing the numbers that you need, you could potentially use these numbers to estimate ROE or some other resources you may have that you have already analyzed.

So if we can just turn up the next page, Ms. Monforton, please?  Yes.

And I have just highlighted two numbers here.  So this is the utility income.  And as it is presented in exhibits to the Board, it provides what is called corporate, and then it segregates the unregulated storage.  Do you see that in column 2?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes, I do.

MR. QUINN:  And so just to be of assistance, I have highlighted the operating revenue and the cost of service, down in the rows 6 and 12, specifically.  Netting out those two -- and I think that is fine for now, Ms. Monforton.  No, no, thank you.  That is helpful.

I just want to be able to say, in round numbers, would you take it, subject to check, that is approximately almost $90 million.

DR. CLEARY:  Yes.  It looks just under $90 million, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, okay.  So this would be the unregulated storage, netted out, utility income before taxes.  So if we compare that to the 841, which is in the utility income, you have additional income in the order of 88 -- if my math is starting to work now.  So that -- what we are seeing is a potential of a 10 percent increase in net income.  Would you agree with that?

DR. CLEARY:  Well, it looks like a -- I don't know if it is 10 percent.  Okay, I see.  You see 841, yes.  So close to -- yes, around 10 percent.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So what I have done in these successive pages is I have tried to consider what -- and I have tried to do it myself.  And, of course, I am not an expert, so I am not put anything on the record.  But what the Board ruled in the last rebasing proceeding is that the non-utility assets, non-utility storage assets, would be tracked for their continuity over the years.  So, if you turn to the next page, Ms. Monforton --


DR. CLEARY:  Sorry to interrupt you, but I am just, just looking at something here in the final column, utility income, right, is D.  So it is A, and it subtracts that, it subtracts the number in B.  Right?  So it takes out the unregulated storage revenues and costs.  Right?  So that 841.1 in fact does not include the revenue from the unregulated storage.  Right?

MR. QUINN:  Right, and this is of course not a test because I am going to be asking for an undertaking.  But it is good you are seeking clarity.  That is in fact correct.

DR. CLEARY:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  And so what we have, though, is a separation of the cost of service from the non-utility storage from the utility income.  But, very importantly, if you are going to say what is the return that the non-utility storage achieves and what is its impact on the bottom line for the corporate Enbridge Gas, you would need to know what assets and how are they funded.  So, if we could, move down to the next page, Ms. Monforton.  So this is a response from a proceeding in 2021, and, if we scroll down further, you will see that I -- yes, on the attachments that are in the preceding pages.  We will get to the table on the first page and slightly down further.  These, this is the Enbridge and Union Gas rate zones because they have two rate zones for the purposes of rate making, but the total for Enbridge Gas is at the bottom, and it specifies a number for the closing balance for the Enbridge non-utility storage gas plant.  Do you see the number in the bottom right?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes, I can't see the headings at the top, though.  If we could move --


MR. QUINN:  Oh, I am sorry.

DR. CLEARY:  No, no.  So opening balance...

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

DR. CLEARY:  Okay.  Thank you.  I just wanted to...

MR. QUINN:  Okay, so, with that, this is the continuity of property plant and equipment gas plant, but of course there is some depreciation on that plant.  So, if we can, scroll down similarly to the next page, Ms. Monforton.  We have highlighted -- this is the closing balance for the continuity of accumulated depreciation on those same assets, so that would give you what has occurred in terms of the depreciation on those assets over time.  Again, you may not be able to see that number well, but it is there in terms of the total amount of depreciation?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, the next, if we just scroll to the top of the next page, is the utility cost of capital summary for EGI, and I -- what it provides is the debt and common equity in its capital funding for that year.  So, just at a high level, I provided that.  But this is page 1 of 6, and to say, okay, what is the allocation of these components to the non-utility storage.  If we can go right to page 6 of this exhibit, please, this is from Enbridge's evidence, Exhibit 5, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 2.


So this is on the record in this proceeding.  I have highlighted the line 3, that says:  "Percentage allocation of debt to unregulated", or, as we refer to it, non-utility storage.  So I used those figures.  I came up with a number, which I won't speak to because I am not an expert, but I thought it might be helpful to your analysis and to your ability to inform the Board better than I if you could calculate the estimated rate of return that the company would have on those assets and what impact that would have on the market's perception of the factors it looks at, whether it be stability, growth, ability to generate cash, those things that you talked about in your introduction.

DR. CLEARY:  I don't -- I am not sure that I am capable of doing -- I can give it a try.  I think I might be able to, but without some time to look at it -- I think I could probably come up with the return, probably.  I would have to look more and see if all the information is in there that I need.  I would be happy to give it a try with -- I don't know if I can come up with a number.  I would also qualify that and say that the one thing that I would not be able to do, at least not certainly not in timely fashion or reasonable time amount, would be to assess the risk associated with those assets, which is the other side of the coin.  So, to look at the return on them is one thing which would have an impact on the overall value of Enbridge Gas as an entity, but, if they happen to have a higher return than the regulated assets, then that seems good unless there is a lot more risk associated with it.

MR. QUINN:  Understood.  Understood, Sir.

DR. CLEARY:  I mean I would be happy to give it a try.  My accounting is a little not what it used to be when I was a commercial banker, but I think I could probably figure it out from here if you would accept that.

MR. QUINN:  I would accept that, and we have a term, on a best efforts basis, and, Mr. Mondrow, I would be happy if you would be willing to accept the undertaking on a best efforts basis.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  You caught me daydreaming.  Was it an undertaking or an exhibit?

MR. MONDROW:  An undertaking, please.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Undertaking J10.2.
UNDERTAKING J10.2:  DR. CLEARY TO OPINE, FOR THE YEAR 2020, ON THE RATE OF RETURN FOR NON-UTILITY STORAGE BASED ON DATA IN EXHIBIT K10.1 AND ANY OTHER ADDITIONAL RESOURCES, AND TO COMMENT ON THE IMPACT OF THE RATE OF RETURN ON THE STABILITY OF EARNINGS FOR THE UTILITY AND THE MARKET’S PERCEPTION; THE RELATIVE RISK OF THIS COMPANY AND ITS APPLICATION TO EQUITY THICKNESS IN THIS PROCEEDING.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.

DR. CLEARY:  Sorry, could you just say specifically what you want me to get, just so that I understood correctly.  Because I am trying to follow this, and, also, I just want to make sure that I write it down correctly.  And let me know the number, the specific number, you are looking for.

MR. QUINN:  What I am looking for is, with the numbers provided in the compendium and any additional resources that you have on hand from the analysis you have already done, what would be the rate of return on the non-utility storage and what impact would that have on the stability of earnings for the utility and the market's perception as under what we are trying to establish here, is what is relative risk of this company and its application to equity thickness in this proceeding.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Quinn, this is Commissioner Allison Duff here.  What time period are you asking for this?  Because you say "your compendium", but there have been a few years referenced here.

MR. QUINN:  I believe, Commissioner Duff, and that is subject to check, I think I tried to -- well, I tried to keep it all in 2020.  Even though this last exhibit which is on the screen is Exhibit 5, tab 2 from this proceeding, the title is "2020 Calculation of cost of rates for capital structure components."  What I tried to do, Commissioner Duff, for the efficiency of the process is I dug through my resources to get all 2020 information.  If I have made an error in that, that was not my intent.  I was just trying to keep it to the same year, so all the numbers refer to the same year.  That is why I am focused on 2020 as opposed to a more recent year, because I did not have all the numbers when I prepared this.

MS. DUFF:  That is fine.  I just wanted to make sure the undertaking was clear regarding the task.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Oh, thank you, yes.  So this is specifically for the year of 2020, but it is an indicator of -- and it can be reflected in the 2022 numbers when they are completely available.  I believe Enbridge has now filed its 2022, but I didn't try to harvest the information from that document that is on the record now with the Board.

MR. MONDROW:  So, Mr. Chair, just to be clear, the exhibits that Mr. Quinn took Dr. Cleary to say "unregulated gas plant," and Mr. Quinn has used the term repeatedly "unregulated storage."  So I think what Dr. Cleary has indicated he can do is he can calculate the return on equity -- or is it ROI?

DR. CLEARY:  I was thinking more the return on assets because --


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, so --


DR. CLEARY:  -- you have an asset value for it.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, my mistake.

DR. CLEARY:  No, that's --


MR. MONDROW:  Dr. Cleary will calculate the return on the assets covered in these schedules, which are unregulated gas plant.  And he, as I understand it, can provide some commentary on how the market might view that component of Enbridge Gas' financials.  Mr. Quinn referred to some analysis of stability.  And I think Dr. Cleary has indicated, if I understand his evidence, that it would take some significant amount of work to analyze risk associated with this assets.  I don't believe he has done that, and so he will certainly provide commentary, but I don't know that there is any more analysis involved, if that's acceptable to Mr. Quinn.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  That certainly --


MR. MORAN:  I think that's a fair summary of what Dr. Cleary said he could do.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Sir.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you very much to Dr. Cleary and thank you very much, Commissioner.  Those are my questions.

DR. CLEARY:  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Next up is Energy Probe, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Can you hear me?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes, I can.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:


MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  Good morning, Commissioners and Dr. Cleary.  We met earlier this morning.  My name is Tom Ladanyi.  I am a consultant representing Energy Probe.

In your examination-in-chief, your counsel mentioned that Dr. Hopkins looked at business risks and you were looking at, let's call it, financial risks.

Did you take his information and include it in your consideration of the equity thickness?

DR. CLEARY:  I would just clarify, I also considered the business risk for EGI and the financial risk, so the total risk, basically, which is function of the two.  And yes, I did consider Dr. Hopkins's evidence, as well as evidence I've seen from others regarding the risks that the energy transition poses to EGI in particular for this circumstance.

MR. LADANYI:  So did he send you draft of his report and then you used that information?  Or did he send you a final report?  What did he send you?

DR. CLEARY:  I would have reviewed his final report.  And his was due before mine, so I had time to review the final report.  I think the way things worked out is there was week, or something, between the two, so I was able to review his and the other.

Albeit I would qualify that it wasn't something that I dug into particularly deeply.  I was looking at it from more the perspective of what market indicators were telling me about what this risk was with respect to Enbridge Gas and how they were pricing it in, and also, you know, how Enbridge planned to deal with it and what they were doing in preparation for this energy transition.  And, following the hearings, as I have been fairly regularly, it seems there are a lot of concerns that -- well, first of all, the path is still not clear for Ontario.  I think that's one of the things I get out of it, and also that EGI has begun to map a path, but that path is even less clear.

MR. LADANYI:  So if I can take you to your evidence, which is exhibit M6.  And I noticed that -- since you mentioned transition, actually, I was going to go somewhere else before, but this is a good segue.  You only mentioned transition risk, from what I see, at two places.  One is at page 3 and the other one is at page 35.  So if you can go to page 3, please.  Scroll down, pleas.  There we go.  No, up again, please, I think.  Yes.

You can see, middle of the page:
"Concentric has not provided meaningful support for its assertion that there has been a significant increase in EGI's risk profile that would warrant an increase in its equity ratio, let alone the significant increase requested.  Recent debt ratings reports confirmed this assertion by providing solid A, A-minus, and stable ratings, which were based on the assumption of 36 percent equity ratio during the test period.  These reports noted that ESG factors (including transition risks) are immaterial with respect to EGI's current risk profile and they continue to view EGI's low business risk as its number one strength."

My first question is, in relation to this quote that you have here, does the current period, or risk profile, refer to the period of this -- within the scope of this proceeding, which is 2024 to 2028?  Is that your understanding?  Or does "current" mean just exactly this year?

DR. CLEARY:  That's a good question.  And I think, coming back to a point that I made in my opening statement, is that, while the emphasis in these debt rating reports would be on -- in the 2022 reports, they were on the 2023-2024 period with respect to forecast metrics and whatnot.  And I saw recently the S&P updated its report, which is virtually identical to the 2022 report, that goes further into 2025.  So, certainly over that time period.

But, back to my previous point, this would be an emphasis on the short term, but also recognizing these long-term risks, would be reflected in that assessment.  Or, I should say, should be reflected properly in that assessment.  And even if the rating agencies aren't reflecting this, I would say that the capital providers and the bond market are probably more efficient than the stock market in terms of pricing things.  I think that is pretty well accepted in finance circles, and they are pricing in that their average-risk, A-rated utility in Canada.  So I would put that forward.

And, actually, there was -- I wish I could remember -- in one of my information request responses, I should say, I provided some detail on what DBRS Morningstar and what S&P, what kinds of factors they would look at under E,S, and G, particularly, to say they are not material.  I don't think they are saying they are not relevant.  They are just saying they don't have a material impact on their current assessment of if.

And if you look at some of the factors that DBRS Morningstar and S&P use, it's things like energy transition, specifically in their carbon pricing and specifically in the climate damage that could happen to the company as result of climate change, you know, kind of tangential to the energy transition.

So I would say that this statement is based on their assessment that, at least right now, the rating holds.  Right?

MR. LADANYI:  So if I can, let's say, paraphrase what you said, the rating agencies expect that Enbridge's risk will not be affected in the near term because management is handling the business effectively, to essentially manage whatever risks are related to energy transition.  Or perhaps are you saying that energy transition is too far in the future and too unknown that one cannot say what impact it will have?

DR. CLEARY:  Unfortunately, I don't know the answer to that.  It could be a combination of the two.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.

DR. CLEARY:  But they feel the company is managing it adequately at this point in time.

MR. LADANYI:  So they have confidence in Enbridge.

DR. CLEARY:  And clearly, as the paths get more well-defined for transition, at a broader level, for Canada and for Ontario, then they will be asking more pressing questions about that and looking for more details on those plans for transition.

But, at this point in time, it is clearly a risk, but we are clearly going to need gas during this transition period, for a long period of time, and I think, in the end, that's more or less what this report is saying.  But I can't put words into their mouth.  I'm just saying that they felt, and it seems like capital providers agree, that, at this point in time, it hasn't posed a huge, sudden existential risk.

Because you do have to realize that the bond yields and the debt ratings two years ago also recognized energy transition as a risk.  Ten years ago, maybe not so much.  Right?  But, ever since the Paris Accord in 2015, you would have to really stick your head in the sand if you think that it's not going to change the way your businesses operate and the way our economies and our societies operate.

It is going to happen.  It's happening very slowly, but it has to happen, and it seems there is impetus to make it happen.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So, at page 35, you state:
"Essentially, Concentric provided no meaningful response to the core of this question, which is:  Why would investors prefer to invest in gas utilities with older assets rather those with newer assets, like EG, even if there were significant immediate concerns over transition risk (which Concentric has failed to demonstrate actually exist)."

So, as I heard you just now, you believe that there is a transition risk, but Concentric just failed to demonstrate it.  Is that right?

DR. CLEARY:  I believe it is there; I don't believe that Concentric demonstrated that this transition risk didn't just appear six months ago, that has been there and has been evolving, I would say, through time.  It has been there, but they haven't proven any hard evidence that today's gas users should be penalized for transition costs that may happen in the future.

And in fact, you know, we have -- as I said, we are going to be using gas for a while.  And I heard somebody from Enbridge Gas say the other day, or confirm it, that we will be using it during this transition period because the bottom line is, you know, it is in the long term, transitioning away from gas.  But in the short term, you know, we have to get rid of coal and oil first.

And also, electrification actually means we need more electricity.  So even if we transition to other sources, it doesn't necessarily mean that the gas market is going to completely dry up, and I would suspect certainly not over the next five, even 10 years.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I am going to go actually to my last question, and I think everybody will be happy to know I will be finished soon.

Your evidence does not mention Enbridge's proposal for a straight fixed variable rate design, but Dr. Hopkins does discuss that.  Do you know what straight fixed variable rate design is?

DR. CLEARY:  I am not overly familiar with it.  I am sorry.

MR. LADANYI:  I certainly don't want to stump you on this, but some -- let's say some parties in this proceeding believe that it has a significant impact on Enbridge's risk, because it transfers more of the cost to the fixed component of the rate, and which is not dependent on the volume of gas sold to the customer.  But the Board has not approved this yet; this is upcoming, and will be considered later on in this proceeding.

So I asked the previous panel on this, because their recommendation for equity thickness, I wanted to know whether it took into account the straight fixed variable rate design, which might reduce and very likely will reduce Enbridge's risk in their recommendation for equity thickness.  And would you say that you did not take this into account?  You did not assume that the Board will approve the straight fixed variable rate design?

DR. CLEARY:  I assume business as usual, going forward.  And that is what the metrics did, and also the forecast metrics, in my analysis.  So if that were to be the case, of course, that would even add further support for my recommendation to maintain the equity ratio at 36 percent, and not to increase it.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you, Dr. Cleary.  These are all my questions.  And thank you, Commissioners, and the court reporter.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  I guess Enbridge is up next.  Mr. O'Leary, it looks like, based on your time estimate, you will take us to the morning break, but we will...

MR. O'LEARY:  Your plan is to take a break at 11:00, Sir?

MR. MORAN:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  I will see what I can do.

MR. MORAN:  Best efforts.

MR. O'LEARY:  We said hello, off the record --


DR. CLEARY:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  -- but I will do it now, on the record.  Nice to meet you, Dr. Cleary.  And I wanted to start by apologizing, first to the court reporter, because you have Dr. Cleary and Mr. O'Leary.  At some point, we are going to get the names interposed.  So I look forward to looking at the transcripts.  Ms. Monforton, can you go to Exhibit M6 at page 5?

And we will just at the basics.  You start out your report by referring -- if you could just scroll down a little bit to the National Energy Board's description of what the fair return standard is.  And you set out, appropriately, that there are the three components:  the comparable investment standard, the financial integrity standard and the capital attraction standard.

Can I ask you further, would you agree that it is a legal obligation on the energy board to ensure that the fair return standard is met?

DR. CLEARY:  To the best of my knowledge, yes --


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.

DR. CLEARY:  -- not being a lawyer.

MR. O'LEARY:  And its obligation to do so, for the purposes of this proceeding.  Right?

DR. CLEARY:  That is correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And part of the analysis that Dr. Hopkins undertook was with respect to whether there was a business change.  But I understand you are also opining on that.  So let me ask you a couple of questions:  First of all, in determining whether or not there has been a business change, would you agree me that the OEB views the starting point for that as being the last time that equity thickness was considered by the OEB?

DR. CLEARY:  I can't opine on that as an expert.  But following the evidence and the transcript, that is my opinion, that the last time they made a decision, to now.  But again, I would qualify it:  I came at this from the point of view, is the equity ratio today, has EGI suggested there is a significant change in the risk profile of EGI to warrant a higher equity ratio?

And then I came in and I -- as I said earlier, I don't believe so.  But secondly, I was asked to focus on does the recommendation to increase the equity ratio to 42 percent over a period of years. is it necessary?  And my opine is that it is not necessary.

MR. O'LEARY:  I wasn't going there; I was going to the first question.  You have said you are also opining that the threshold question, whether or not there has been a significant change of business risk, has been met.  And I am asking whether or not you at least accept that the comparison period for the business risk starts at the last time that equity thickness was an issue before the Board?

DR. CLEARY:  Well, from my understanding, and also, I think --


MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, is it your understanding or is it the opinion of the Board from prior decisions, that the correct time frame is the last time equity thickness was considered by them?

DR. CLEARY:  And again, just to clarify, I think what LEI's evidence suggested was that that period happened a few years ago.  And I can't remember the exact same date but, yes, they would have to look at since the last decision was made.

MR. O'LEARY:  And if that last decision was in respect of the 2011 applications, which were heard in 2012 and decisions rendered in 2013, we are talking 10 years since that occurred.  Right?

DR. CLEARY:  But there was a review that -- and, you know, if we turn back to the LEI evidence, there was a review and some sort of a decision on the equity ratio.  And I am sorry, my memory on the details are unclear because it was back in March or April, when I was reading this.  But it was 2017 or 2018, there was some sort of a review.

MR. O'LEARY:  Is it fair to say you are not familiar with and did not review for the purposes of your evidence the Board's decisions in the 2011 applications, EB-2011-0210 and -0354?

DR. CLEARY:  I did review them when I prepared my evidence.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right?  And you can't tell us now that that was the last time that equity thickness was considered by the Board?

DR. CLEARY:  Again --


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Mr. Chair, reviewing those decisions won't itself provide anyone information on whether there was anything subsequent.  If Mr. O'Leary wants to ask that question, that's fine.  I don't understand how reviewing those decisions indicates what may or may not have happened subsequent to those decisions.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. O'Leary, that is always a risk in asking an economist to become a lawyer, and what particular decisions mean at different decision points.  I am not sure that his ability to answer on what the 2011 decision, what the 2018 process really stand for, is necessary.  I think that is a matter that can be addressed in argument, in any event.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Sir.

But it was because something you said, Dr. Cleary:  You said towards the end of your examination when you were speaking with Mr. Ladanyi that, if I got it right, 10 years ago, ET was not so much.  So energy transition was not a big issue back then.  Is that correct?

DR. CLEARY:  Certainly not as big as it is today.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And so if the right time frame for the business risk comparison is 10 years ago, then you are agreeing with me, it wasn't a big risk back then?

DR. CLEARY:  In 2011/2012, I would suggest not.  And I did find the LEI evidence, and they mention again that the appropriate period to compare is since 2017/2018, because of that review that occurred at that period in time.  But again, my focus is on what is happening today.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Well, let's ask a few questions about what is happening today.  Undoubtedly, you have seen Procedural Order No. 6, where the Board has said it has particular interest in energy-transition issues in this proceeding?

DR. CLEARY:  That is correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  They have indicated they would like someone to be able to speak to energy-transition issues on every panel?

DR. CLEARY:  I can speak to it, but, of course, Dr. Hopkins is the one who provided the main evidence on behalf of IGUA for these proceedings.

MR. O'LEARY:  I wasn't going to ask you questions for your expert opinion on energy-transition issues.  What I am simply saying:  The Board has made it clear that energy transition is an issue that is front and centre in this proceeding.

DR. CLEARY:  Certainly.

MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough.  There are certain parties -- I don't know if you have reviewed the evidence of all of the other parties, but there are certain parties that want to for example reduce the customer revenue horizon and the customer attachment periods.  Do you understand what those refer to?

DR. CLEARY:  Not specifically, no.

MR. O'LEARY:  Ultimately, there is an economic analysis that is done to determine how much a customer would need to contribute in terms of its capital contribution to a particular connection, and, if you reduce the time frame, then the customer may be asked to pay more of the capital contribution.  So, if that was to happen, would you view that as increasing the risk to Enbridge Gas in that customers may see electricity as a more competitive alternative?

DR. CLEARY:  It is possible, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And there are certain groups who are advocating for -- and I know you are not a depreciation expert -- are advocating for an economic planning horizon for depreciation.  Do you understand what an economic planning horizon means from a depreciation perspective?

DR. CLEARY:  Generally.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right, so you're --


DR. CLEARY:  High level.

MR. O'LEARY:  -- picking a date that you will have depreciated an asset by that date, whether its actual useful life is expended or not.  Is that fair?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  And the result will be an increase in the depreciation expense and therefore an increase in the revenue requirement.  Right?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  And that would ultimately increase rates, and again we are in situation then where a customer, either existing or new, would look at the rates and say it appears they are not as competitive as they were to electricity before.  Is that fair?

DR. CLEARY:  Potentially.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  That is a risk.  Right?  Right.  And it is also believed that certain parties will advocate that all of the capital investments that Enbridge is proposing in this proceeding or a good chunk of them, because they are new and given energy transition risks, that, if they become stranded in future, they should be to the risk of the shareholder.  In other words, there would be a risk that the shareholder would not recover its investment.  Do you understand that is a possible argument here?

DR. CLEARY:  Isn't that always the case?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, well, but do you know whether or not that argument was raised in the 2011 applications?

DR. CLEARY:  No, I do not.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Would you accept, subject to check, that it was not?

DR. CLEARY:  Sure.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And referring to the MADs application, which is I think the 2017 application we were referring to, would you accept that that was not a position taken at that time, as well?

DR. CLEARY:  Subject to check.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  But that would add risk to the gas utility, would it not?

DR. CLEARY:  Again, I can't say that because any capital expenditures by any company at any particular point in time is subject to potential risks in the long term.  It will affect the long-term economic life of those investments.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right, but if --


DR. CLEARY:  You are giving me one particular instance where it may or may not.  And some of those investments in transition assets could in fact turn out to have longer lives and more productive lives.  So I guess you could isolate every investment one by one and say that there are risks involved, and of course that is why the capital providers require return on it that is risk-adjusted.

MR. O'LEARY:  We are not talking about risk on an asset-by-asset basis, but, if the ruling is that stranded assets are at the risk of the shareholder, you would agree that that is something equity investors would take into consideration as a change in the risk profile of this gas utility?

DR. CLEARY:  I would disagree.  I think we are talking about risk on an investment-by-investment case.  That is how the overall weighted cost of capital is determined, and that is how the company, itself, will determine what kinds of assets they are going to invest in and what kinds they are not.  They have hurdle rates.  Different risk categories have different required rates of return, and, judging by how successful Enbridge Gas has run its operations, it strikes me that they do a very good job in their capital-expenditure decisions because they earn their ROE all the time.  And so to take me to one example, yes, it is a risk adjusted for sure.  Not only equity investors.  Debt investors and the company, itself, looks at that.

MR. O'LEARY:  Ms. Monforton, could you go to page 5 of Exhibit M6, please.  We are going to change a bit here.  There is a paragraph where you refer to the proxy groups of Concentric.  If you could, scroll down, please -- oh, no.  Please go back up.  You refer in the paragraph to Concentric's evidence to the fair return standard analysis, which is -- in the next paragraph, you state:
"My evidence shows that three of the four proxy groups are not very good comparables in the sense of representing enterprise of like risk, while the fourth group, the Canadian operating company sample, includes seven poor comparators, leaving only three legitimate comparator companies."

So I think what you said in your surreply already is that you are of the view that there are only three comparable operating companies in Canada, and those were gas utilities, were they not?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes, and, just to qualify, certainly for the approach that Concentric applies, to take the equity ratio -- well, you can't really do that for the hold cos, but for the op cos -- I should say for the hold cos are not very meaningful, but, for the op cos, you really need to -- if you are just going to blindly take these and say this is what EGI should have, that is incorrect because you have to take into consideration the risks of those comparable companies.

MR. O'LEARY:  I was only going to ask about the three comparators that you consider relevant.  And they were gas utilities, were they not?

DR. CLEARY:  That is correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So I am just curious.  In your analysis, you don't refer to or consider the electric LDCs in Ontario, at all.  Is that right?

DR. CLEARY:  I did not, and that was because I was focusing on Concentric's proxy groups and analyzing their comparable groups.

MR. O'LEARY:  I see.  Are you saying therefore that you don't believe a fair return standard analysis requires you to look at electric LDCs in Ontario?

DR. CLEARY:  I did not say that.  I did not pursue that.  I said the entire approach of simply looking at equity ratios for operating companies and other jurisdictions that were established at other points in time is not informative.

MR. O'LEARY:  Do you know what the equity ratio is for electric LDCs in Ontario?

DR. CLEARY:  Ah, 37, 38 percent I believe?

MR. O'LEARY:  No, it is 40 percent.

DR. CLEARY:  40 percent, sorry.  That is for the smaller ones, though.  Right?

MR. O'LEARY:  That is for all of them.  There are a couple exceptions in generation.  Would you not agree with me that a 40 percent equity thickness indicates that the electric utilities are in fact more risky than Enbridge Gas?

DR. CLEARY:  Again, I do not like the approach of simply looking at equity ratios that were established on another record.  If we were to look at it without any qualifications, one could, one might, make that assumption.  But I would not make that assumption, myself, because I would look at other things, including their cost of debt, including their debt ratings, including their ability to earn their ROE versus their allowed ROE, and just overall business stability.  So I don't really think it is -- I mean it might be somewhat instructive to look at equity ratios for other operating utilities, but I think you get a lot more information by looking at the company itself, how well has it performed, what do the market think of it, and how are there operations moving forward.

MR. O'LEARY:  Would you agree that they are utilities of like risk?

DR. CLEARY:  Similar.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  And would you also agree that Ontario electrics do not face the energy transition risk that Enbridge Gas faces in this proceeding, and into the future, as you have noted in your surreply?

DR. CLEARY:  Not to the extent, no.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  And would you agree that no one, no party, is advocating the ultimate demise of the electric distribution industry in Ontario?

DR. CLEARY:  Not to the best of my knowledge, no.

MR. O'LEARY:  Let me turn now to some of your report.  Really, I want to ask you about two things in your report; questions whether the company's, Enbridge Gas's, credit ratings have changed, whether or not there has been any variability in its ROEs, and whether it has earned its allowed ROEs.  So let me turn to credit ratings first of all.

You did, I think, state in your surreply that the credit rating agencies only look out two years.  Fair?

DR. CLEARY:  I did not say that.  I said that the metrics in the 2022 report covered two years.  In the 2023, report they covered three years, but their assessment of business risk and financial risk would, in fact, be long-term, medium-term, but with emphasis on the most immediate period, probably the next three to five years.

The fact they only report the credit metrics for the next two to three years does not mean that they not consider risks and opportunities beyond two to three years.  It is, quite frankly, a pragmatic thing when you start forecasting financial statements.  Things can change, so would rather be able to update them on a regular basis as new information comes in.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So I think we are in agreement here, then, that you would agree that the period over which the assessment should be undertaken is not just two years, but it is out 10 years and beyond.

DR. CLEARY:  I agree.  And I believe that the debt rating reports also have that similar view, although they don't provide pro formas beyond two or three years.  It doesn't mean that they don't consider them, in terms of their business risk -- particularly their business risk, which has little to do with the financial statement -- and also of their financial risk.

And that's pragmatic on their part, too, because, if the equity ratio, for example, changes, and the ROE changes every year by formula, then they are able to do better forecasting with that new information that becomes available.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Dr. Cleary, do you accept that a credit rating today does not guarantee that the equity ratio reflects the business risk of the company from the perspective of an equity investor?

DR. CLEARY:  Sorry, could you repeat that.

MR. O'LEARY:  Do you accept that credit rating today does not guarantee that the equity ratio reflects the business risk of the company from the perspective of an equity investor?

DR. CLEARY:  Well, I have two issues with that statement.  The first is that no one can guarantee that the equity ratio today reflects the business risk of an entity, because we don't know if it is exactly right or wrong.  We can look after the fact and see:  Are they doing well?  We can also look at their ability to attract capital on favourable terms and say, Well, the market seems to think this is sufficient.

Again, back to that point I made in my opening remarks; and we are getting in that territory again with regard to equity investors and debt investors.  They not operating in different planets or universes.  The things that credit -- and, again, bond investors, they do look at the rating reports, but they do their own analysis, forward-looking analysis.  They take these reports, they are meaningful to them, but they also do their own analysis.

Equity investors do the exact same thing.  They would look at debt rating reports, they would look at equity analyst reports, and they would do their own analysis; make assessments of those future cash flows, growths, and opportunities; and come to the assessment of what is acceptable.

So equity investors and debt investors look at the same types of information from a different perspective.  So there is no way that a debt rating can guarantee that an equity ratio is either right or wrong, but the fact that they maintain that credit rating and are able to borrow on favourable terms is a good indication that it is adequate.

And, unfortunately, we don't have way to look at the cost of equity for EGI.  But, as mentioned, the cost equity for EGI is closely relate to its cost of debt.  If its cost of debt jumps up, then you can bet the farm on it that their cost of equity has also gone up, and vice versa.

MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, Dr. Cleary.  Let me understand.  Is your recommendation therefore that the Board should wait for a credit rating downgrade before Enbridge Gas's equity cost of capital is reconsidered?  Is that what you are suggesting?

DR. CLEARY:  That's not my suggestion.  My suggestion is that, at the current rates, their ratings are solid; their cost of borrowing is solid, which means their cost of equity is also solid; and the forecast credit metrics, which enable them to maintain those credit ratings and to borrow at those rates, are forecast to get stronger, not weaker, at a 36 percent equity ratio.  So the suggestion that we need to bump it up now, again, that will put extra income in EGI's pockets, but, again, at the price of the consumers.  And it's fine if it was deemed necessary, or proven necessary, but it has not been proven necessary.

MR. O'LEARY:  You would agree with me, Dr. Cleary, that the purpose of this analysis is actually to avoid a downgrading?

DR. CLEARY:  I would say -- no, I would not agree.  That's not the overall purpose.  It should be -- what's the word I'm searching for -- it should happen, if they are solid, that they should not receive a downgrade.  It should be an outcome of the overall process, which is to satisfy the fair return standard so that EGI earns a fair return, not economic rent, and that they are able to continue to survive as healthily as they have been surviving; "operate," I should say, not "survive."

MR. O'LEARY:  Let me now turn to your views on the relevance of achieving allowed ROEs.  My understanding is that you have used in your analysis, and opined, that the fact that Enbridge Gas has achieved its allowed ROE is of relevance, and I would like to explore that a little bit with you.

First of all, were you aware that Enbridge Gas is operating in a performance-based regulation environment?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Right.  And you would agree with me that one of the purposes of a PBR plan is so that the company is incented to generate efficiency such that it actually achieves its allowed return and generates gains that benefit customers through an earnings-sharing mechanism?

DR. CLEARY:  That's correct.  And it is indicative of operating efficiency within the company.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  But your suggestion that a company has very little business risk as a result of it achieving the PBR allowed return, therefore, doesn't that undermine the whole purpose of the PPR?

DR. CLEARY:  Not all.  Because, if you look at the evidence back to 1990, in the early years, this was the case, as well, before the PBR was implemented.  I'm not sure exactly what year in Ontario it was implemented.  But the fact that they are able to do so, operate more efficiently, means that they have low business risk in terms of shocks to costs that they are not able to pass through, shocks to revenue, and so on and so forth.  And, if you look at the evidence I provided, the study from the U.S. shows that that's not the case for U.S. operating companies on average.

So I think it's very strong evidence that the company is doing what it is supposed to do.  But also, as an investor, you look at that and you say, hey, you know, they are allowed 8.5 percent or whatever the number happens to be in a particular year, and we pretty much know they are going to do that.  So that is a pretty stable business to invest in or buy debt from.  And the fact that they earn more is just a bonus.

MR. O'LEARY:  Would you agree with me, Dr. Cleary, that the fact that Enbridge has historically achieved its authorized ROE doesn't tell us anything about the company's ability to continue to do so in the energy transition future?

DR. CLEARY:  I would disagree with that.  I think the track record and the fact that they have been able to do it for -- what is that now, oh my gosh, 32 years?  So the fact that they have been able to do it demonstrates a few things.  They operate efficiently.  They are in a strong economic region.  They also have strong regulatory support.

And, as an investor, I would look at that and say that one of the first things in, you know, equity analysis -- and I have taught it for several years and run funds where students are investing in equities, so I live in that world for a lot of my time -- is you are going to look at the track record.  And the track record says something about the business stability.  It also says something about the management, it says something about the environment they operate in.

So if I look at a company that is consistently earning above what it is allowed, and then I look at others -- and I don't want to point out cases, but there are some other companies that do not consistently earn at or above.  I would say those ones have some -- they are facing some risks, or they have some operational or management issues that are preventing them from doing that.

MR. O'LEARY:  Ms. Monforton, could you turn to Exhibit K8.3?  And I am looking for the -- I believe, right at the very end.  Sorry.  Yes, it is page 83 of the PDF, right at the last two paragraphs.

This is the decision the Alberta Utilities Commission, dated March 31, 2022.  And the last two paragraphs I have highlighted, it reads:
"Some customer groups pointed to the utilities achieving ROEs in excess of the Commission-approved ROEs.  For example, Calgary noted that ATCO has been remarkably consistent in earning in excess of its approved ROE over the last four yours, even when the economy at large has been decimated.  It is submitted that this indicates minimal business risk for ATCO Gas.  The Industrial Power Consumers Association submitted that over the last 10 years, most of the utilities in Alberta have been earning an ROE above the Commission-approved ROE."

The Commission's response is, and it is a decision:
"The Commission considers that historical earnings above or below the approved ROEs do not help it determine what the ROE for a future test period should be.  The Commission agrees with the following submissions made by AltaLink and EPCOR..."

If you could flip to the next page, please.

"...invariably, whether or not a utility earns its approved ROE in a given year will depend upon utility-specific matters, such as a utility's O&M capital cost performance in that year.  Although these matters may be relevant to regulation of the utility's revenue requirement, whether under the cost-of-service regulation or performance-based regulation, they are not relevant in the context of establishing fair return within a generic cost-of-capital proceeding."

That is with a "GCOC."  And you have appeared before that Commission, have you not, Sir?

DR. CLEARY:  Several times, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And what you are advocating here is inconsistent with what the Alberta Utilities Commission has just opined in that report.  Would you agree?

DR. CLEARY:  This decision, if you read through that, it is particularly with establishing a generic ROE.  And, in Alberta, they have to do that for seven or eight utilities.  What the Commission has determined is not -- you don't consider this in determining the ROE, but they have taken it under consideration in terms of a reflection of business risk.

MR. O'LEARY:  You do understand that, in Ontario, the ROE rate is actually set formulaically?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes, I have mentioned that previously.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  So the electrics and the gas are all subject to the same formula?

DR. CLEARY:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  So the means of adjusting for change in business risk in Ontario is left to the capital structure.  Correct?

DR. CLEARY:  Exactly.  And I believe that the Alberta Utilities Commission would view this ROE -- sorry, earning-allowed ROE information, in determining the equity ratio, which is an adjustment that they use in terms of reflecting business risk.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, it seems to me, Sir, that you are attempting to ask this Board to do something that the AUC doesn't believe is appropriate, which is to view the fact that the company has achieved an allowed return as a basis for denying a change in its capital structure?

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.

DR. CLEARY:  Here, they are talking about the--

MR. MONDROW:  Just a minute, just a minute.

DR. CLEARY:  Sorry.

DR. MONDROW:  The excerpt talks about determining ROE, not equity thickness.  So Mr. O'Leary suggested that Dr. Cleary's answer to his previous question contradicted this passage.  And I think if Mr. O'Leary reads the passage, in particular the reference to ROE, he can then pose a question.  But I don't think his assertion of contradiction is borne out by either the passage or Dr. Cleary's evidence.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I am attempting to put it into the context of Ontario.  Yes, Alberta does adjust the ROE and the equity thickness.  In Ontario, the OEB's policy is that the adjustment only takes place on the capital-structure side, so the equity ratio.

And I am asking Dr. Cleary simply whether or not he has is attempting to have this Board look at the historical ability of Enbridge Gas to achieve its allowed ROE as the basis for setting or denying, in this case, a change in the capital structure.

DR. CLEARY:  And again, just -- I thought I said this clearly, that the Alberta Commission takes into consideration this matter, and we discussed it very much at the most recent proceedings, as well, in determining the equity ratio.  This passage is determining the ROE.

So I would say in that sense it is very similar to Ontario, where the business risk is adjusted through the equity ratio.  So I cannot agree with your statement, as it was worded.  So they don't specifically do it in determining the ROE.  They don't have a formula there.  They are probably going to move that way.

But the ROE is determined by looking at your basic capital asset pricing models:  bond yield plus risk premium and dividend growth models and so on and so forth.  And then they adjust the equity ratio by a business risk analysis, which is very similar to some of the evidence I have presented here, looking at their ability to earn ROE, looking at volatility in ROE, looking at the credit metrics, specifically.

MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, I am going to be about another 10 minutes.  If you would like me to continue, I would be happy to do so.

MR. MORAN:  Why don't we just take the morning break and resume at 11:15, if this is a good point.
--- Recessing at 11:00 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:16 a.m.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  Mr. O'Leary.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Hopefully, I will live up to my promise of 10 minutes.  A couple of further questions, Dr. Cleary:  Would you acknowledge that Enbridge Gas has the lowest common-equity ratio of any North American investor-owned gas utility?

DR. CLEARY:  I can't say that for certain, but I know they are among the lowest.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Can you give an undertaking to identify another investor-owned gas utility that has an equity ratio of 36 percent?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes, I can accept that.

MR. O'LEARY:  So, are you accepting that they are the lowest, or that --


DR. CLEARY:  I will accept the undertaking.

MR. O'LEARY:  You will look, and you will advise if you can find one?  Thank you.

DR. CLEARY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J10.3.
UNDERTAKING J10.3:  DR. CLEARY TO IDENTIFY WHETHER THERE EXISTS ANOTHER INVESTOR-OWNED GAS UTILITY THAT HAS AN EQUITY RATIO OF 36 PERCENT, AND ADVISE IF ONE IS FOUND.

MR. O'LEARY:  In terms of one the proxy companies that Concentric examined, which was Southern California Gas, we have included in our compendium some information about that company.  I just want to ask you a couple of questions, if you accept the metrics that we have included.  So, first of all, Ms. Monforton, can you go to page 67 of Exhibit K8.3.

MS. MONFORTON:  I am unable to share my screen right now because someone else is sharing, it tells me.

MR. MORAN:  Hold on a second.  We are just clearing that problem.

MS. MONFORTON:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  Page 67, please.  This is the 10K form that was -- well, I should ask you first:  Did you have a chance to flick through the compendium materials that Enbridge filed several days ago?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right, so you will identify if you have any concerns with them, but on page 67 -- the next page, scroll down, please -- this filing identifies the fact that Southern California has 6.1 million customers.  Would you accept that?

DR. CLEARY:  That is what the report says, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  And then, on the very next page, would you agree that SoCal uses a forecast test year in California?

DR. CLEARY:  Again, that is what the report says, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Would you agree that SoCal has a purchase gas adjustment clause, meaning that it passes through its commodity cost and has no fuel cost risk?  If you go to the next page, 70, 71, please, and again we have highlighted it there.  Would you agree with that statement there, that that is what this indicates?

DR. CLEARY:  The highlighted part indicates "full decoupling."

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And would you agree that SoCal has a Standard & Poor's rating of A with a negative outlook?  If you could go to page 72, Ms. Monforton, and just scroll down, we get the date.  I see it is May 12, 2023.  It indicates that the negative outlook revision reflects our view that SoCal is likely to face graduate increase reflects our view that SoCal is likely to face a gradual increase in business risk given California's ongoing energy transition away from natural-gas-fueled technologies.  But you would accept that they have an A with a negative outlook?

DR. CLEARY:  That is what the report says, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Would you go to page 80, Ms. Monforton.  This is a schedule actually taken out of the Concentric report, which would indicate that they have an equity ratio of 52 percent.  Do you accept that?

DR. CLEARY:  Sorry.  I am having trouble finding it on my hard copy, but that is what appears to be on the screen here.  Is this further down in the pages?

MR. O'LEARY:  If you look on the screen, Sir, that might be the easiest way, but it was also in Concentric's report, at schedule 4.



DR. CLEARY:  Yes, I see that.

MR. MONDROW:  I am sorry, Mr. O'Leary.  Are these pages numbered, just to help Dr. Cleary find them?  Are they numbered at the bottom or not?

MR. O'LEARY:  They are not, to my knowledge.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, so maybe, if he would like to, we will just give him a minute to find the page.

DR. CLEARY:  I found it.  Thank you for that.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right, and then the very next page, which would be PDF page 81 and I have highlighted, this is a value line report on Sempra Energy, which is the holding company for Southern California Gas.  Would you -- you would have to scroll up a bit please, Ms. Monforton, just so we get the dates.  You will see that the earned ROEs for the years 2020, '21, and '22 were 10.6, 10.5, and 11.1 percent?

DR. CLEARY:  That is what is indicated in this report, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Thank you.  A couple of further questions:  My understanding is we spoke about your appearance in Alberta, and I understand that you appeared earlier this year and gave testimony in respect of another cost of capital proceeding there.  Am I correct that your recommendation to the Alberta Utilities Commission was that the allowed ROE should be 6.7 percent?

DR. CLEARY:  That is correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And can you advise me:  Is that somewhat consistent with the ROEs that you have recommended in other proceedings, or maybe it is a little higher?

DR. CLEARY:  It was -- subject to check, just so that I don't get the numbers wrong, but it is slightly above, I think 20 to 50 basis points above, my previous recommendation, my previous two recommendations.

MR. O'LEARY:  And has a commission or regulator in Canada ever adopted your ROE, your recommended ROE?

DR. CLEARY:  Just like they did not adopt the 11 percent recommended by the utilities experts, no, I don't think so.

MR. O'LEARY:  So, no, they have not adopted your recommended ROE, on no occasion?

DR. CLEARY:  I don't recall any occasion where they have adopted any expert's recommendation per se, mine included.

MR. O'LEARY:  Would you accept the fact that there is no ROE that has been allowed below 8.3 percent?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes, and that is why I believe they're too, the allowed ROEs are too high, because they didn't come down in lockstep with bond yields as they came down from double digits to the 2-, 3-, 3.5 percent range they are now.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Finally, in your response to an interrogatory, N.M6-EGI-50, I think you confirmed that, in every jurisdiction that you have appeared before, you have recommended either a reduction in equity thickness or that there should not be any increase in the current equity thickness ratio.  Is that true?

DR. CLEARY:  That is correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Those are our questions, Mr. Chair.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Commissioner Duff, do you have any questions?
Questions by the Board:

MS. DUFF:  Dr. Cleary, I had a few questions to the Concentric witnesses and I'm just going to ask you some of the same.

The OEB is considering, as an option, a change to the equity thickness for Enbridge Gas, and the fact it's at 36 percent today and could potentially go up to 38 percent or 42 percent, or remain at 36 percent, based on various inputs from expert testimony.  What would be the market reaction, just given your experience and what you know, if the OEB were to approve, in 2024, an increase from 36 percent to 42 percent?

I'm wondering, that in correcting, one could argue that they have corrected and caught up for the fact that the equity ratio has not changed since 2011.  And, if the OEB were to have a decision that accepts that and issues that kind of change, what would be the market's reaction, given your experience?

DR. CLEARY:  That's a great question, thank you.  First of all, I guess, if there is an increase in allowed equity ratio, the market and the debt raters, and so on and so forth, would few that favourably.  That would be the case whether or not they believe 36 percent is too low, because higher is clearly better; it's safer; and also, since the ROE is applied to the amount of equity, it generates more bottom-line income for the utility.  So the reaction would no doubt be favourable.

Right now, again, my evidence suggesting that the market rate that they are able to borrow at was slightly below the A-rate utility yield is base said on the belief that there will be no change.

MS. DUFF:  But could the markets also say, my goodness, a 6 percent increase.  The  Ontario Energy Board thinks energy transition for Enbridge Gas has that significant a change?


That's the flip side of that, and perhaps you could comment on that possibility.

DR. CLEARY:  You mean whether they would view, Oh, my goodness, we'd better change and look at Enbridge Gas.  Maybe there is more risk there than we originally thought.  Is that what you...?

MS. DUFF:  Just whatever.  I'm just interested in your input.

DR. CLEARY:  Yes.  I mean, I think it would be unexpected to increase it to 42 percent so quickly; that much, that quickly.  And I think that the market would adjust to that information.  It depends on their take on it, but I think, overall, more equity is better.  More net income, more safety.

But I don't know.  We are in this speculation here, now, but all of a sudden it may say, whoa, we didn't realize this risk about EGI was so significant.  And that could have a detrimental effect in the long term.  But, overall, I would suspect that an increase in the equity ratio from today's ratio would have positive impact.

MS. DUFF:  And these are just the deemed rates.  Of course, Enbridge can choose to differ from that.  So, currently, it has a certain debt equity ratio and, if the OEB were to make change like that, would you expect a company would react to that and therefore release some of its debt, decrease those fixed costs for its earnings, in order to have bit more flexibility with respect to the payments it would afford to equity holders?

DR. CLEARY:  I'm glad you asked that question, because it's something that I have looked at before.  You're talking about Enbridge Inc., the parent.  Right?

MS. DUFF:  Yes.  And, again, there is -- please make that distinction in the question.

DR. CLEARY:  No, no.  It's hard to say what they would do.  That would a business decision.  And, again, they are a sum of many parts.  Right?

I actually looked at Enbridge Inc.  Their leverage ratio for 2021 was 37 percent.  And that's generally true of all the holding companies, like Fortis, and so on and so forth.  They use the leverage, the unused leverage potential, in the opcos that get awarded equity ratios that, in some cases, are too high, and they use that as borrowing room at the parent.  So they are able to leverage up their operations on the back of those cash-cow operating utilities that are low-risk and get higher equity ratios than they need.

And then they use some of that leverage to invest.  You know, Enbridge Inc. has big pipelines and other unregulated assets, so they are using some of that cash to invest in riskier assets.  But that's fine, because they are a sum of the parts.  Right?  Some of their assets are less risky and some are more risky, but that's a decision that Enbridge makes.

So I would suspect, if they get this extra equity room on Enbridge Gas at the parent company, that gives them more room if they want to borrow more.  Or, as you mentioned, they may decide to use it for capital expenditures, or whatever.

MS. DUFF:  That's beyond this Board's concerns.

DR. CLEARY:  Yes, of course.  I'm just talking kind of hypothetically.

MS. DUFF:  There is also one sentence that you said in response to a question from Mr. O'Leary, and I just wanted you to expand upon it.  This is what I wrote down:
"There is no evidence today that gas users should be penalized for the risk of energy transition."

I believe that was the last part.  But it was the word "penalized" that I wanted to explore with you.  I don't know why you chose to use that; perhaps you could explain.

DR. CLEARY:  Sorry.  I can't remember using it, but I think the idea would be that today's gas users should -- you know, if these costs materialize and these risks materialize, future gas users could end up paying a fair bit of it.  I think it's unfair to make the current ratepayers pay additionally for risks that are not quantified yet; that the path for Ontario and Canada is not clear.  The path that EGI is going to take is not clear.  So these are all subjectors, if you will.

And the other thing is, and I think I failed to mention this in my opening statement, but that cost of debt today is based on forward-looking information.  So, in a sense, today's gas users are paying for those risks, because it's implicit in the cost of debt.  What my analysis shows is that they are not paying a whole lot extra for it, at least in terms of capital markets.  And, if you think that the allowed return on regulated utilities is roughly supposed to equal their cost of equity so that there is zero economic profit -- of course, that cost of equity reflects reinvestment, and all those things -- then that cost of debt affects the cost of equity.

So, in a sense, they are already being reflected in the cost of equity in the allowed ROE, so they are already paying for these risks, which are already reflected in the cost of equity, which in turn determines the allowed ROE for EGI.

MS. DUFF:  And my final question.  It was a sentence that you said just recently about how the ROEs that are being approved by regulatory bodies, I think you were talking about the AUC, did not come down in lock-step with bond yields.  Perhaps you could expand upon that a little bit for me, please.

DR. CLEARY:  Yes, thank you.  When I first jumped into these hearings over a decade ago, I was shocked at the high numbers for the allowed ROEs because, at that time, the bond yields were in the 3 to 4 percent range; which they are again today.  Of course, they were lower, but.

And then I started saying:  Why are they so high?  Why are they getting 8 or 9 percent when everybody knows, in financial circles, that the expected return on the market is 7 to 7.5 percent?  Right?  For long-term planning, purposes, the BlackRocks, the Vanguards, the pension plans all use that as their compass.  Even the Canadian Financial Planners Standards Council is about 7 percent.  And I said:  Well, how come these low-risk utilities, with betas around 0.5 or less, are getting more than market returns?

And then I started to look at the reason, and it had to do with inertia.  And I actually have a graph in my Alberta evidence that shows here is the allowed ROE and then, as the T-bond rate start to fall off a cliff, so to speak, the allowed ROE only goes slowly.  So the spread between government bond yields and A-rated utility yields widen considerably from back, say, 15, 20 years ago.  And a lot of that has to do with the inertia and being a proceeding or a -- I am speculating, of course, but I think it makes a lot of sense -- at hearings like this, where boards like yourself and commissions like Alberta look at what is going on in other jurisdictions.  And they say, well, they are still high.  Right?

And I think that is why I advocate not just blindly looking at other jurisdictions, but looking at actual capital market information to make those assessments.  So that is my take on it.  And the bottom line is that graph that I tried to do where, you know, the ROE does come down slightly; it is still above eight, as Mr. O'Leary pointed out in most jurisdictions.  But the bond yields went from, like, double digits to -- even, when they were at two per cent, that spread between them was, like, six and a half per cent versus one and half per cent back 15, 20 years ago.

MS. DUFF:  I do have one more question, then.

DR. CLEARY:  Sure.

MS. DUFF:  I do have the mic, that Concentric's witness referred to the term of "circular reasoning."  And I think that is perhaps what you are talking about now, in terms of regulatory agencies using historical information in order to -- and he addressed -- well, I know what he said.  How does a regulatory agency like ourselves consider historical information and make sure that we are not caught in circular reasoning?  What would you suggest?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes.  It is a challenging issue, no doubt.  And it is also challenging when you look around and see what the rates are being awarded.  I think, you know, you had this formula, and the formula has been in place for quite some time, which has to some extent dealt with that decline in bond yields.

Essentially, when you put the government bond yield, you have 50 per cent the change in that, plus the A-rated yield spread - you are essentially 50 per cent of the change in the A-rated yield, which is the cost of debt for the average utility.

The OEB formula at 50 per cent -- and I understand the 50 per cent adjustment is to minimize volatility in the awarded ROEs every year, but over time, as those yields went down and you are only bringing the rate down 50 per cent, that spread gets a little bigger.  Right?  Now if rates start to go up, it will then again take time for them to go up as much.

So I think you have to pay attention to the historical record, but I don't know how to escape it.  I think, you know, that circular reasoning you are talking about? - I think you just have to take a -- you know, really be aware of the current market conditions and the current business risk conditions.  And I think that is kind of what we are trying -- you know, this hearing is all about.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.  Deputy Chief Commissioner Elsayed, do you have questions?

MR. ELSAYED:  Yes, I just have one question.  Dr. O'Leary -- Cleary, I think you were --

DR. CLEARY:  He put that thought in your head.

MR. O'LEARY:  I put it in your mind, at the beginning.

MR. ELSAYED:  Yes.  Now you have confused me.

Doctor, in your opening remarks, you talked about that the work that Concentric did to compare Enbridge to certain proxy groups had some significant deficiencies.  Can you elaborate a little bit more about what in your mind are the main deficiencies in this work?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes, thank you.  So I think the problems are, first of all, when you -- you just have to look at the empirical evidence on earning ROEs, and that the average U.S. utility does not earn its allowed ROE, which suggests that they face different risks than the average Canadian operating utility, most certainly.  So that is one of the concerns with the U.S. samples.

And, you know, I point to that evidence, but I also look at the volatility in ROEs, since it is very challenging for these holding companies to try and determine a weighted-average awarded ROE, if you will.  So that is one of the problems.

And I heard it said yesterday, and I can't -- sorry, I can't recall who was discussing it, but the differences in the jurisdictional approaches in the U.S. are quite different than in Canada, too.

And I think you can look at U.S. utilities for some purposes, but you have to qualify it.  And just blindly looking at their awarded equity ratios or allowed ROEs, which are a function of, you know, the structure of the board or commission, the market conditions at the time, what is going on in the jurisdictions they operate in, is not adequate.

And the holding companies have, also as I said, they tend to leverage up on the unused leverage because they get higher equity ratios for their opcos.  And some of the holdcos invest in riskier assets, so that they are not perfect proxies.  They are not good proxies, I should say; they are clearly not perfect proxies.  It is hard to find good, perfect proxies.

So that also applies to a certain extent with the Canadian holdcos, although we don't have many.  But sometimes, when we are looking for information like betas and things like that when, you know -- I guess, having a formula, you haven't had to go through that process for a while.  But, you know, and you need market information; it is kind of the best you can do.

Now I would say the Canadian holdcos, and they have, you know, aside from Hydro One, which is based entirely pretty much the operating company, the other ones have significant U.S. operations and whatnot.  But the one thing that is beneficial about them is they usually have significant Canadian operations, and they also are accessing most of their financing in Canada.  And interest rates are lower in Canada, today, than they are in the U.S., which means the cost of debt for Canadian utilities tends to be on average.

Now, of course we have international markets and whatnot, but there is something called a home bias.  And there is lots of evidence that suggests that Canadian investors tend to invest more.  Even the large pension plans and that, tend to invest a little bit more at home than -- you know, proportionately, Canada is two per cent of the world capital market.  So Canadian investors tend to hold more than two per cent of their investments in Canadian assets.  So that is the problem with the holdcos.

The opcos, basically the U.S. ones, some comparability, but they operate in different risk environments.  And generally, like I said, the evidence shows they don't earn their allowed ROE.  Different regulatory proceedings, and I think Concentric's own evidence showed that, in a comparison of regulatory support, that EGI fared in the top among those, all these utilities.  So there is that going on.

And then the Canadian opcos was a good start, but focusing, you know, the 10 chosen -- well, seven of them were just so small that looking at a high-equity ratio for a small company, you know, it doesn't make sense, because they would have been awarded that for being small.  And, of course, as we have heard numerous times here, that EGI is the biggest gas distributor in Canada.

So the flip side of a small -- a premium for small, on risk, is the flip side, that there should be maybe a discount, if you will, for the large players, especially when you are thinking about the territory that they operate here in Ontario, which is, you know, among the stronger ones in Canada.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Dr. Cleary, you had a discussion with Mr. O'Leary about what it means to consistently earn at or over ROE.  A few minutes ago, you referenced some U.S. utilities that perhaps don't consistently meet their ROE.  What does that mean from the perspective of setting the deemed structure to address the question of business risk, and then the utility fails to meet that ROE?  Does that mean that the deemed equity is set incorrectly, it hasn't recognized the risk?  Or does it mean that the utility is not well run?  What does that all add up to in the context of the investor perspective, which is what we would rely on to inform us about what the return should be under fair return standard?

DR. CLEARY:  Yes, I think that is a great question.  And there is probably a few different reasons within -- packed within that.  In order to consistently, since 1990, to earn your allowed ROE, it must mean you have -- you are operating in a pretty good territory.  It must mean you have -- you're operating in pretty good territory; it must mean you have pretty good regulatory support, and it must mean you're operationally efficient, and, if you are operationally efficient, you could assume that management is doing a good job and a good track record.  When you are not earning that ROE, all of those four things that I mentioned are all possibilities.  It could be one of them, or it could be two of them or some combination, where either management is not doing a good consistent job or your territory faces challenges that are not faced by EGI.


And, for that matter, in Alberta the utilities there I know earn above their allowed ROE on average about the same, about 1 percent, particularly the PBR ones.  But that is the incentive to operate efficiently.

Some of them, if they are not efficient when they were -- I was part of the proceedings when they initiated the PBR there, and the utilities were arguing that this was a huge risk to them and should get a higher ROE.  As it turns out, you know, a decade or so later, it actually was an opportunity for them to continue to operate.  So there is management -- okay, maybe some of the utilities aren't managed, as well, have a poor track record.  That is something that can be fixed.  You can turn over management.  Right?  So I would find that that would be not a long term, you know, not a persistent 10 years of under-earning, so then you have to point to the economy they are operating in and the nature of their operations and their customer base and their cost base.  Right?  And fluctuations in those are most likely to cause you not to earn your allowed ROE.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Dr. Cleary.  Mr. Mondrow, do you have any redirect?
Re-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  I have one question.  Dr. Cleary, you had a discussion with Mr. O'Leary regarding this topic you were just opining on, the historical record on earning ROEs, and you referred to a study.  I think you said I wish I had my study at hand.  Is that a study that is on the record in this proceeding?  Do you know?  I guess I am asking what study you were referring to.

DR. CLEARY:  Yes.  Yes, and, ironically, I just happen to have the page open just from the previous question.  So that would be the study, utility of finance, that was I believe in footnote 6 on page 17 of my evidence.  That is Azgad-Tromer and Talley, who are authors from Columbia University.

MR. MONDROW:  Ms. Monforton, if you could just pull up --


DR. CLEARY:  And it's -- sorry to you interrupt you, but I think my note, my footnote, says I appended it as exhibit AS of my evidence.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, I am looking at a different one --


DR. CLEARY:  Okay.

MR. MONDROW:  -- and you can just tell us if this is the one you are referring to.  Ms. Monforton, if you could, pull up interrogatory response to EGI 59, and there is an attachment to that response.  And, Dr. Cleary, I am just wondering if this is the study you are referring to, just to orient the record on what your reference was.

DR. CLEARY:  Yes, I think you are correct.  According to my own notes, I had attached it as an exhibit, but I then didn't send it through, so --


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  If we could just --


DR. CLEARY:  -- then I submitted it again.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  Ms. Monforton, just go to the cover page so Dr. Cleary can see it.

DR. CLEARY:  That is the one.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.  That was all, Sir, thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  I think that concludes questions for you, Dr. Cleary, and the Panel thanks you for your assistance.  You are excused.

DR. CLEARY:  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  We are moving to the next Enbridge panel.  I see that it is quite a large panel.  Why don't we break for a couple of minutes while you set up.  Mr. Millar, you can just let us know when everything is ready to go.
--- On recessing at 11:51 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:58 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Stevens, are you ready to proceed?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I think I can just squeeze in with good morning for the next minute or two.  So good morning, everybody.

The next panel from Enbridge Gas is here to speak to customer attachment policy and the extra length charge.  This panel will speak to all aspects of Enbridge Gas's customer attachment policies, feasibility guidelines, and related matters, as well customers additions forecast.

The panel will speak to as much of the customer attachment budget and capital forecast information as they can, but there may be times when there are questions better asked of the next panel, who are here to speak about capital expenditures more generally, if we get into detailed questions about budgets.  So I just want to give that as word of warning, that there may come some questions which will be deferred to the next panel.  But, happily, they haven't appeared yet, so hopefully that won't disadvantage anybody.

The members of today's panel, starting closest to you, are Faheem Ahmad.  Faheem is specialist, customer portfolio and policy.  Next, Ian Macpherson, director of distribution In-Franchise Sales.  Next is Malini Giridhar, who is the vice president responsible for regulatory, DSM, energy transition, and public affairs.  And then, behind, we have Hulya Sayyan, who is a specialist, demand forecasting and Analysis.  And Gilmer Bashualdo-Hilario, who is the manager, economic evaluation and forecast.

With that, the witnesses are ready to be affirmed.  I note that Ms. Giridhar has already been affirmed.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for that reminder. I am going to ask you a question.  I will start with Mr. Ahmad, and then I won't repeat the question for everybody else.

Mr. Ahmad, you are about to give evidence in this hearing.  This panel is dependent on you telling the truth, and the law requires you to do so.  Therefore, before you testify, I must ask you this:  Do you solemnly promise this panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, I do.

MS. DUFF:  And do you understand that breaking that promise would be an offence under our law?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, I understand.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Macpherson?

MR. MACPHERSON: I do.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Sayyan?

MS. SAYYAN:  I do.

MS. DUFF:  And Mr. Bashualdo-Hilario?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO: I do.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.
PANEL 10 - CUSTOMER ATTACHMENT POLICIES, MISCELLANEOUS SERVICE CHARGES (EXTRA LENGTH CHARGE)
Faheem Ahmad,
Ian Macpherson,

Hulya Sayyan,

Gilmer Bashualdo-Hilario; Affirmed;
Malini Giridhar, Previously Affirmed.
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Stevens:


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

There has been a fair amount of discussion to date in this hearing, and on the written record, relating to customer connection policies and Enbridge's approach, and the OEB Panel itself, of course, has expressed specific interest in this through Procedural Order No. 6 and through discussions through the course of the hearing.  So, taking that into account, we have a few questions for the panel that we hope will set some context and common understanding on these items and that we hope will be helpful for everybody to go through before the panel answers questions from other parties.

In advance of today' appearance, I circulated a compendium that has a small number of documents that the panel might speak to in direct examination.  It is titled "Enbridge Gas Compendium for Direct Examination of Panel 10."  I was hoping we could have an exhibit number for that.

MR. MILLAR:  K10.2.
EXHIBIT K10.2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "ENBRIDGE GAS COMPENDIUM FOR DIRECT EXAMINATION OF PANEL 10."

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

Starting with, you Mr. Macpherson.  Can you speak a little bit about the significance of the E.B.O. 188 guidelines for assessing feasibility of customer connections and system expansion projects.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes, of course.  If I could ask if we could bring up page 4 of the Enbridge compendium, please.

So, to begin, Enbridge Gas has extensive experience with using and applying the OEB's E.B.O. 188 guidelines for assessing customer connections and system expansion projects.  E.B.O. 188 was determined after a lengthy proceeding that examined connection practices in detail and involved numerous parties.  It involved two EDR processes and subsequent reports of the Board, eventually culminating in the guidelines that we've been using for more than 25 years.

Can you bring up page 36, please.  The OEB guidelines are designed to streamline the approval process for system expansion projects and achieve a commonality of approach between utilities, while ensuring that ratepayers are protected against financially inappropriate system expansion.  Through the prescribed portfolio approach, using an investment portfolio and rolling project portfolio, the OEB developed the guidelines to balance the several competing interests of existing and new customers of all types, to achieve the public interest of providing access to natural gas distribution services in a financially responsible manner.

If you could please bring up page 76.  The OEB reaffirmed the relevance and appropriateness of E.B.O. 188 guidelines in the Generic Community Expansion Proceeding EB-2016-004, as providing for economic growth for the natural gas distribution system with limited cross-subsidies to some projects within a portfolio of any given year.  And, most recently, when the OEB approved Enbridge Gas's customer connection and feasibility policies in 2021 in the EB-2020-0094 proceeding.

Now if you could please bring up page 138.  Some of the guidelines, the OEB has codified in section 2 of the Gas Distribution Access Rule, starting with section 2.1.1, providing gas distribution services in a non-discriminatory manner; section 2.1.2, responding to all requests for gas distribution services in a timely manner; 2.2.1, a gas distributor's obligation to serve pursuant to subsection 42.2 of the OEB Act; and, lastly, subsection 2.2.2, a gas distributor's obligation to assess and report on system expansion in accordance with E.B.O. 188.

As prescribed by GDAR, Enbridge Gas's application of the E.B.O. 188 guidelines is not discretionary.  It is a mandatory OEB requirement, and Enbridge Gas has developed its customer connection and feasibility policies presented in this application in accordance with those guidelines.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And can you speak little bit, please, Mr. Macpherson, about the basic financial mechanics of assessing project feasibility under E.B.O. 188.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Of course.  If you could please bring up page 51.  So, in the E.B.O. 188, prescribed feasibility analysis determines whether a new customer, or a project attachment or expansion, meets financial requirements.  This is done by evaluating project revenues and costs and discounting them at the company's after-tax, weighted-average cost of capital.  The output of a feasibility analysis is the profitability index, or PI, which measures the value of a project's revenues against its costs.

A PI of 1 or greater indicates that a project's revenues over its life cycle of 40 years will be equal to or greater than the cost, and validates that a project is feasible and the associated customers can be connected without the need to charge a contribution in aid of construction, CIC.  When the PI is less than 1, Enbridge Gas's customers cover the shortfall by one of the current OEB-approved methods, as determined by Enbridge Gas.  These are by paying an up-front CIC to lower the capital costs sufficient to bring the PI up to 1, or to pay a volumetric surcharge, which is a system expansion surcharge or a temporary connection surcharge, at a rate $0.23 per cubic metre for a predefined term up to 40 years, which is determined based on the number of years required to achieve PI of 1.  Enbridge Gas applies the 40-year revenue horizon consistently for all residential customers because this is what E.B.O. 188 requires.  There no discretion allowed or prescribed.

The last point:  The customer attachment horizon of 10 years, is prescribed by the OEB at paragraph 3.3.2 of 188 maximum, and Enbridge Gas applies the customer forecast in that manner.  For instance, in a typical subdivision project, we may have an attachment period of three to five years based on the known plans of subdivision connections and developers and municipal plans.  So we use this 10-year period at our discretion, based on the information at hand.

In cases where, such as community expansion, where we are using a 10-year forecast period, the rate stability period of the OEB approved in the generic community expansion proceeding applies.  That is all.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Turning to you, Ms. Giridhar, I understand that there is a couple of points related to Mr. Neme's testimony, and some questions from Environmental Defence that you would like to address briefly in your opening remarks.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Mr. Neme referred to the revenue horizon as creating a cross-subsidy.  And I think that was in transcript volume 6, page 135.  Also, in his cross-examination of Dr. Hopkins, Mr. Elson from Environmental Defence -- I think that was on day 5, before the morning break -- stated that:
"The effect of Enbridge Gas adding new customers is to increase costs for existing customers by increasing rate base."

I just wanted to address both those points.  The OEB has ruled in numerous occasions that applying E.B.O. 188's prescribed feasibility guidelines and ensuring the attachment of customers on an average PI of 1.0 would ensure that the incremental revenues generated from an expansion will, over time, cover the costs of the expansion and not result in a subsidy from existing customers to new customers.

On the other hand, requiring new customers to pay their full connection costs upfront and pay the distribution charge regulated by the Board we believe would result in a cross-subsidy from new customers to existing customers.

So I just wanted to emphasize, you know, how we look at the word "subsidy" here.  There is in fact no instance in Ontario where gas or electric customers are required to pay their full connection costs upfront, and pay the same distribution charges as existing customers.  In fact, the company's experience has been that attaching new customers results in lower costs for all customers, certainly over the duration that E.B.O. 188 has been in place.

For example, our rolling portfolios have typically exceeded 1.0.  There is a contribution for a normalized system reinforcement cost that new customers are explicitly taking into account.  And so those are all reasons why contributions are actually made by the addition of new customers.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  More broadly, what are the broader implications of changing the revenue horizon set out in E.B.O. 188?  And why has Enbridge Gas not proposed any change, even in the context of energy transition?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Thank you.  I do want to say that, in this response, I mean, it is going to be fairly long response, but I do want to talk about the impacts of changing the revenue horizon, but also be helpful to the Board in terms of providing some more information of the implications of different revenue horizons on, you know, CIAC's capital and assumptions about the length of duration that -- or the duration that customers might stay on the system.

So, with that context, you know, the obvious impact of reducing the revenue horizon from 40 years is that new customers and the CIAC that they might have to pay in the future, relative to new customers coming on today.  This is an important consideration, because it will obviously have a direct impact on the customers attaching themselves to the system.  It could restrict rather than enable access to the gas system, both as it exists today and as it may transform in the future.  You know, I have talked previously about its ability to provide resiliency and reliability support to a growing electricity system.

However, speaking to the second point, while Enbridge Gas is not seeing a big change in customer behaviour to date with respect to remaining on the system for 40 years, we would like to provide further information about the implications of any change to the revenue horizon, because we feel the record is incomplete at this point.

So while there is some information about the impact of a 10- and 15-year scenario -- that is in JT5.21, and Exhibits I.ADR.1 to 4 -- there is actually nothing on any other scenarios between 15 and 40 years.  So, in order to provide more context, Enbridge Gas conducted a few more calculations in a similar manner to how we responded to JT5.21, and that is on page 139 of this compendium.  So I will just wait for that.

As you can see here, we have calculated the impacts of adjusting the revenue horizon to 25, 30 and -- well, 25 and 30 years, from the existing 40 years, so that is more information here.  So this is available obviously for parties to take a look at but, you know, I just wanted to highlight a couple of things.  For example, if you look at 30 years, you are seeing an average CIAC of just above $400.  And that number obviously increases significantly with the lowering of the revenue horizon.

The one thing I did want to point out is that this is a simplistic analysis because it assumes that every customer is assessed on the average connection cost, that every customer connects to the system and that they pay the CIAC as an offset to capital cost.  And we are pretty certain that this is not how this would actually evolve because, for every project and every customer, we actually have a more customized cost calculation on the costs to connect those customers.  So, obviously, some customers are more profitable than others.  Some customers would have no CIAC, others might have a significant CIAC.  And then those customers have to decide whether they are connecting to the system or not.

So the assumption that everybody connects and everybody pays the same CIAC, you know, is -- I am sorry, can you not hear me?  Sorry.

So I just wanted to say as a result of that, we know that a lower customer horizon would mean lower capital.  We just don't know that it would be these capital amounts.  Here, it actually could be higher or lower, depending on how many profitable customers we have and how many customers require a significant CIAC.

With that context, what I did want to offer up is I think in response to Mr. Millar:  Last week, he had posed the question about a variance account for customer capital.  And I had assumed that he meant, you know, years 2025 to 2028, and I suggested maybe that belonged in a phase 2.  But if that was contemplated for 2024, it might be appropriate to consider a symmetrical variance account for customer connections capital, because we actually don't know how customers are going to respond to, you know, a lower revenue horizon, if the Board were to decide that it was appropriate.

The other thing that I did want to go on to mention of course is, you know, that is not the only impact.  The lower revenue horizon -- a lower revenue horizon, I am sorry -- would also make the extra-length charge for infill customers proposed in this proceeding unworkable.

For example, Enbridge Gas estimates that on average, if we went to a 30-year revenue horizon, instead of the 40, each customer would have to pay $3,130 in CIAC, on average, to cover their cost to connect to the gas system, because the revenues would no longer pay for that extra-length charge of $32 that has been proposed in this proceeding.  So this would make it unaffordable for some infill customers, you know, who perhaps are fuel-switching from a higher GHG-emitting fuel source to natural gas, and therefore would not convert.

There are implications obviously on the community expansion projects, and that was mentioned last week, because these projects would no longer meet the feasibility requirements on the basis of which 22 announcements that were made and are still being developed.  And it would have an impact on the government-ordered subsidy of $200 million for these projects.

So our estimate is that if the revenue horizon is reduced to 30 years, the subsidy would have to go up by approximately $26 million.  But because the natural gas expansion program funding is set by regulation, this would require an amendment to regulation.  And if that amendment did not occur, these community expansion projects would not proceed, because they would not meet the feasibility guidelines.  This, of course, is contrary to government policy and objectives.

Alternately, the Panel may wish to carve out community expansion projects from any adjustments to the revenue horizon which then might create two sets of rules for infill customers and community expansion zones versus others.

In transcript volume 4, page 157, in response to a question from Commissioner Moran, I said that, if we had a level of certainty from policies and market changes that indicated our customers may not stay on the system beyond a particular point in time, then I think that would force a rethink of the revenue horizon.

So, in order to be helpful, Ms. Monforton, if we could actually go to page 140 of the compendium we provided today -- so what we have done here is to show the impact of assuming or different assumptions about how long customers remain on the gas system and its impact on the blended revenue horizon.

So, as you can see here, if we assume a 20-year equipment life and the fact that customers are faced with a decision of whether they should stay on the gas system or leave the gas system at that 20-year mark, if we assume that customers only stay for 20 years, that is everybody leaves the system on the 20th year, then a blended revenue horizon of 20 years would be the fallout.  If we assumed that only 10 percent stayed on the system, then the blended revenue horizon would be 22 years and so on.

I just want to highlight that, at 25 years, we are assuming that only 25 percent remain, so 75 percent have left.  At 30 years, we are assuming 50 percent of the customers who came on in 2024 have left and so on.  I just wanted to highlight that there is nothing unique about customers coming on in 2024 in that event.

So, if you are making the assumption that 75 percent of customers coming on in 2024 have left the system, then it is reasonable to assume that customers who came on before then are also leaving the system.  And that of course has implications for depreciation beyond what has been proposed in this case and certainly does have implications for the proposal on equity thickness, as well.

I think that I want to conclude by saying that, you know, and we have reiterated several times in this proceeding, government policy related to energy transition is undetermined and uncertain at this time.  We do think, in the spirit of E.B.O. 188 that tried to balance the interests of existing customers and new customers, so also any change in the revenue horizon must strike the appropriate balance between the needs of existing and new customers in the context of the government's policies, such as natural gas expansion program, the More Homes Built Faster Act, and of course the affordability concerns that have been raised both in the government's recent Powering Ontario's Growth as well as the response back to through from [audio dropout] from Mr. Smith.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Ms. Giridhar.  I know you said "finally", but I have a feeling there might be one or two other things that you were hoping to respond to that have come up over the last couple of days.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I do.  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  That was not final.  I just wanted to comment on a couple of characterizations on what I had said earlier last week.  So I think the first one I wanted to comment on is I think Mr. Shepherd paraphrased a question to Mr. Coyne and suggested that I had agreed with him that Enbridge Gas has an existential threat.

I kind of went back to the transcript, and what I said is that Enbridge Gas agrees that it needs to transform itself over the coming decades in response to climate change.  I had not agreed that Enbridge Gas has an existential threat.  In fact, I had said we would be transforming ourselves.

The second thing that I wanted to perhaps clarify here is Commissioner Moran had summarized my earlier testimony in an exchange with Mr. Coyne and indicated his understanding that I had said no to changing the revenue horizon and no to changing depreciation.  I think what I wanted to say and certainly what I had intended to say was that it was qualified in terms of the context of what we know today and the work specifically constituted for the purpose, for this purpose, by the government.  So those were qualified by those two remarks.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  With that, the panel is ready for -- or the witness panel is ready for questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Environmental Defence, Mr. Elson, you are up.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Commissioner Moran.  Good afternoon, panel.  Going first, I have the pleasure I think of doing some level-setting questions, and so I will start with that.  Actually, perhaps I should start with marking our exhibit.  We filed a compendium for this panel, panel 10, and perhaps we could get an exhibit number for that.  Angela, if you could, pull up page 2.

MR. MILLAR:  K10.3.
EXHIBIT K10.3:  ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 10.

MR. ELSON:  On page 2, we have E.B.O. 188.  Of course, these are the rules around distribution system expansion, and so these apply to requests to connect new residential developments.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And also to requests to connect individual homes to existing mains.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And also industrial facilities?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And then expansions into existing communities, of the gas system.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.  I would just add the detail that this needs to be read in addition with our Board- approved customer connection policies to be fully understood.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I will start with a discussion relating to residential developments because I believe that is the bulk of your new connections.  You provided a high-level overview.  I would like to provide an even higher level overview of how E.B.O. 188 works.  So what it does is sets the rules for determining if a developer needs to pay a contribution in aid of construction when connecting its new homes to the gas system and how much that contribution will be.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  More or less, correct.

MR. ELSON:  I am going to try to summarize at a high level, without getting into detail, how that works.  You need to calculate the incremental cost associated with connecting the houses in the new development, and you need to calculate the present value of the forecast revenue over 40 years, including all the houses that are forecast to be built within 10 years.  And then the developer's monetary contribution in aid of construction is the capital costs minus the present value of the revenue.  Is that correct, high level?

MR. MACPHERSON:  There is a little more to it than that.  We have to add on to that cost the incremental O&M cost of adding the new customers, and we have to add on the normalized system reinforcement cost and an estimate of the indirect cost of adding customers.

MR. ELSON:  I am going to get there.  I am just trying to keep it simple by calling -- -

MR. MACPHERSON:  Sure.

MR. ELSON:  -- those incremental costs.  So those are the incremental costs.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Agreed.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And so the 40-year horizon is the revenue horizon, and, the 10 years, that is the customer connection horizon.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is right.

MR. ELSON:  Just to use a simplified example, if the capital costs in relation to this development are a million dollars to put the pipelines down and the present value of the forecast revenue from those customers is $700,000, the capital contribution is the difference, which would be $300,000.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Agreed.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  For large volume customers, the revenue horizon is 20 years.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes, at a maximum.

MR. ELSON:  And that is because there is a greater risk that a large-volume customer will cease being a customer and cease paying revenue.  Is that fair to say?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is fair to say, and it is also prescribed in the regulation, that it be maximum of 20.

MR. ELSON:  Now, we have been talking about a 40-year revenue horizon, and you seem to say that that was a requirement.  My understanding is that the 40-year revenue horizon is a maximum.  You are disagreeing with that.  Is that right?  If you are, I would like to take you somewhere.  I just want to confirm that you are saying it is not a maximum.

MR. MACPHERSON:  It is a prescribed number.  If you would like to bring up -- we could bring up the section.  Maybe you are going there.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I'm going to -- I will go there, yes.  So if we could go to page 3 of our compendium.  And so this the decision of the Board in E.B.O. 188.  And, if you could scroll down to paragraph 3.2.1, it says:
"The ADR agreement set the following parameters for the DCF analysis."

I am just going to walk you through.

And then, if we could scroll down to the next page and the highlighted portion on the next page.  This is now setting out what the ADR agree agreement was, and the ADR referred to:
"The maximum customer revenue horizon shall be 40 years from the in-service date of the initial mains."

Do you see that there?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And now if we could scroll down further to the next page and the next highlighted portion.  The board says -- sorry, the next one, further down on page 6.  It says:
"The Board accepts that the DCF calculation will be based on a common set of elements, as proposed in the ADR agreement."

So I am reading this Board decision as being very clear in saying that the ADR agreement talked about a maximum of 40 years.  And the Board accepts that ADR agreement, which is a maximum of 40 years.  So it seems like it's a maximum of 40 years, not a requirement that you use 40 years even if you think 25 or 35 would be appropriate.

MR. MACPHERSON:  So we have to go to Appendix B of the E.B.O. 188 regulations.  It's on page 4 of the Enbridge compendium; yes, in the Enbridge compendium.

So, to be clear, the rule has been incorporated into Appendix B and sets out specific parameters that the company must follow.  And if I could take you to section 2.2, part B, it sets out a customer revenue horizon of 40 years from the in-service date of the initial mains and 20 years for large-volume customers.

MR. ELSON:  That's fair, Mr. Macpherson, but it also says the same thing in A, which is a 10-year customer attachment horizon.  But you say that that 10-year customer attachment horizon is a maximum, and sometimes you use less, so why wouldn't it be the same with respect to B?

MR. MACPHERSON:  We don't -- we apply the discretion of fact.  So if we have a customer forecast of -- that our customers connecting in two years, then years three through 10 are zero.  So we do consider the 10-year period; it's just more about what information we have on the record from customers or builders about what we expect is going to happen, and then just zero out every other year, not counting for what we expect.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mr. Elson, perhaps I could offer an explanation.  I mean, obviously, I don't know what was on the Board's mind when it came up with it, but the maximum of 40 years, in the context of customers attaching over a multi-year period, meant that you would apply 40 years to the customer attaching in the first year, but you could not use 40 years for the customer attaching in the second year, because it was from the date that the asset was put into service.  And so you would reflect 39 years for the customer attaching in the second year and 38 years for the customer attaching in the third year.

So I think that was the context in which the word "maximum" was used, because you are not assuming that all customers attach in year one, a consequence of that customer attachment horizon.  And actually, that becomes -- I notice that, in the distribution system code for electric distributors, the Board actually footnotes what it means by "maximum".

So I am just offering that to you as a suggestion.  We have applied the 40-year revenue horizon prescriptively, based on this.  But, of course, it only applies to the customer attaching in the first year.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I mean, we disagree with your interpretation of what the Board says, but I think that's for this Board to decide.  But it's helpful for me to understand what your interpretation is and, you know, that, in essence, Appendix B trumps what is stated in the Board decision itself, or that "maximum" is something different.  So, I mean, I'm happy to move on from there.  I understand what your position is and we will -- you know, to the extent that it's relevant, whether it is a maximum or now, we can address that in our -- do you have something to add, Mr. Macpherson?

MR. MACPHERSON:  If I could just add just one point for clarity.  How we have interpreted the E.B.O. 188 regulation, including the notation of Appendix B, is by incorporation in the OEB Act.  I would have to look for the reference and section, but it is by inclusion specifically to Appendix B, and not just E.B.O. 188 itself.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Elson, given your indication that you are prepared to move on, is this a good time for the lunch break?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  I was about to say the same thing.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  We will adjourn until 1:15.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:35 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:18 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  Mr. Elson, just before you start, Mr. Macpherson, just to avoid confusion on the record, I know you are referring to E.B.O. 188 but, occasionally, you call it a regulation, and -- when, in fact, it is a Board decision.  So, if you could remember that, that would help.  Thanks.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes, Commissioner.  My apologies.

MR. ELSON:  Can I begin, Commissioner Moran?  Thanks.

I do actually have one follow-up question, although I said that was my final question on that point, and perhaps it should have been.  But, Ms. Giridhar, I think you were saying that the word "maximum" in E.B.O. 188 is there to clarify that you count 40 years from the start, not 40 years from the last house that is put in place.  That is Enbridge's understanding?

DR. CLEARY:  That's right.

MR. ELSON: Could we turn up page 4 of the Environmental Defence compendium, please?  So the specific wording is:
"The maximum customer revenue horizon shall be 40 years from the in-service date of the initial mains."

So it is 40 years from the in-service date of the initial mains.  So it seems the word "maximum" in your interpretation would be redundant.  Is that correct, or am I missing something?  I am happy to leave this to submissions, but if you have a response, that would be helpful so that I can address it in my submissions.

MR. MACPHERSON:  It is not redundant.  The term applies to year-one connecting customers in the project feasibility.

MR. ELSON:  It is redundant in that that is already clear from the words that say "from the in-service date of the initial mains."

Right?  You are counting 40 years from the initial service date of the initial mains.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I believe that is correct.

MR. ELSON:  So "maximum" doesn't change that interpretation to clarify that you don't count from the initial service date of the initial mains as opposed to, you know, when the last house is put in?

And, to be fair, I am happy to move on.  But if you have a response, I am happy to hear it.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Maybe I could respond for greater clarity.  If we could just move on your page, if we could go to section -- of the document, you have up at 3.3.6?  And if you could page-down from your compendium?  Right there.

For clarity on the point earlier of what we follow, this sets out the clarity between this portion of the document and of the discussion portion, that:

"The common elements reflected in the DCF analysis and investment portfolio and the rolling project portfolio by each utility in its rate case, the details of which are set out in appendix B."

So that is what we follow, in line.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  Thank you, Mr. Macpherson.  I would like to move on to another set of questions about how many customers this applies to.  And if we could turn to page 13 of our compendium?  And scroll down, so we can see the highlighted number.

This is customer additions, and I am not concerned about the specific digits here, but just give or take, in terms of customer additions, it is roughly 40,000 a year, in 2024, and in that range on a going-forward basis?

MS. SAYYAN:  It is 41,648, as seen in the table.  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And if we could turn now to page 14?  This is providing a breakdown of the customer attachments, by type.  And the reason I went to the previous document is that there is no total column here, but it is helpful to have the breakdown, as well.  And just to walk through what we are seeing here of the, you know, give or take 40,000 new connections in every year, at least for 2024, you know, roughly three quarters of those, roughly 30,000, are from homes in residential developments.  Have I understood this correctly?

MR. SAYYAN:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  And then the first column is "community expansion."  So you are expecting about 1,257 customers to connect in those, you know, communities that you have recently expanded to.  Is that correct? - or are expanding to, in 2024?  Was that a yes?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And then "fuel switching other than CE", I think that is what you would classify as an infill, is that correct?  It is a customer that is on or near a main, and is switching to gas.  And you are expecting 4,640 of those?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.  This is a combination of infills plus main extension projects, where we extended the main to connect the customer who wants to switch from other fuels.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  So infill.  And those main extensions, they are fairly small extensions.  Is that fair to say?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, small extensions.  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And then we have already looked at the homes in residential developments which is, you know, by far, in large, the largest of these categories.  Then you have single-family dwellings, apartment ensuite.  I always find that category a bit confusing.  I think what it means is basically condos and apartment buildings, like multi-residential buildings.  Correct?

MR. AHMAD:  That is correct.  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And then "other" would be industrial or commercial?

MR. AHMAD:  Industrial or commercial.  And, for apartment ensuites, I just want to clarify that these are those apartment buildings or condo buildings where we install individual meters.  So every unit is individually metered.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.

MR. AHMAD:  So where we install a bulk meter, so that is covered in the last column under "others."

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  If we could turn to E.B.O. 188, appendix B, page 4?  We have been on this page before.  I am looking at the capital costs, if you could scroll back up, please?  And go back down, please.  Perfect.  No.  Up a little bit more, up a little bit.  "Capital costs", there we go.

Before, we had talked about incremental capital costs and, Mr. Macpherson, you had gone into a bit of detail.  And I am proposing to get into that detail with you now.  So the incremental costs are bucketed as being direct costs, incremental overheads and normalized system reinforcement costs.  Is that right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And so the direct costs would include the service lines and the meters?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Partially.

MR. ELSON:  And incremental overheads, that would include for example, you know, an extra customer in your billing system, that sort of thing?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And then your normalized system reinforcements, I think what that means is that a new customer could result in upstream upgrades being required, and so this is, you know -- I guess you could describe it as a rough estimate of the cost of those upstream incremental upgrades that are associated with new connections.  And if I have described that incorrectly, if you could provide your own explanation, that would be helpful.

MR. AHMAD:  So basically, these are the costs.  A normalized system reinforcement cost, there is a section in E.B.O. 188 which describes the normalized system reinforcement cost.  So these are those projects which the utility undertakes to serve future growth customer -- future growth.  So the cost of such projects, it is amortized over 10 or 20 years.  And the amortized value of the cost, plus the cost of normal reinforcement which is not amortized, so they put together those costs and apply to all new connections, which means that the system reinforcement projects, which are-built to serve future growth, so those costs on an amortized basis are supposed to be applied to new connections so that existing customers are not burdened with reinforcement costs.

MR. ELSON:  So you predict your reinforcement costs going forward, translate that into a per-customer basis on the assumption that it's going to be serving --


MR. AHMAD:  No.  We don't predict the reinforcement cost on a go-forward basis.

MR. ELSON:  All right.  Let me jump in.  I wasn't suggesting that you figure out a direct line between each customer and the costs.  Let me ask you this:  When you say "normalized", it means that you are coming up with an average and then applying it to the new customers.  Is that right?

MR. AHMAD:  It is not an average.  This is all past projects which are undertaken in the past, so we have a schedule of all those projects, and we amortize the value of those projects over 10 years and then apply it to new connections.

MR. ELSON:  Well, let's say that the cost of the projects is a million dollars.  Do you apply a hundred percent of million dollars to new customers, or do you apply the million dollars across all of the customers notionally?

MR. AHMAD:  Million dollar divided by 10, so that is the burden of that reinforcement project of one year.  And, similarly, there are other projects which we have undertaken in the past, so they also add up to those costs.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Maybe I could clarify.  So we would have the budget of normalized system reinforcement projects for a 10-year period.  For the next year, for 2024, that year would add in, the tenth past year would fall off, and we would sum those up, divide by 10, and then create a percentage based on the forecasted capital budget for connection projects in the coming year as a percentage.  So it applies to everyone, I think, in answer to your question.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  Got it.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Sorry, every new customer connecting.

MR. ELSON:  And so the idea is that it is a measure of the incremental new costs, you know, resulting from growth?

MR. MACPHERSON:  If we could bring up Exhibit I1.15, VECC 4?

MR. AHMAD:  In this response, Enbridge -- if you go down, please.  So, yes, here, the OEB requires gas utilities to include an allowance for system reinforcement cost for new connection projects on a normalized basis, as described in the final report of the OEB, E.B.O. 188, paragraph 2.3.7.  Normalized system reinforcement costs are categorized into special reinforcement and normal reinforcement.  The cost of the former are those associated with specific meter reinforcement of the system and are to be amortized over a period of 10 to 20 years.  Normal reinforcement costs are the residual of the total identified reinforcement costs after the special reinforcement costs are deducted.  The amortized value of special reinforcements and a 10-year average of normal reinforcement costs are included in portfolio analysis as a percentage of the total capital expenditure in the year.

MR. ELSON:  The question I have, and I think I know the answer, is that these are meant to represent incremental costs.  Right?  When you have growth from new customers, you are going to need reinforcement, and so this is representing incremental cost.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Exactly, and incremental capital costs which are being invested to support that growth.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.

MR. MACPHERSON:  So just those costs.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  That is what I understood, and that is really all I need.  But, just to make sure that we have clarity on this, I am going to ask for an undertaking to provide the normalized system reinforcement costs for 2024, including the underlying calculations and showing how it is applied to the connection costs of a customer.  Could you do that for us, please?

MR. AHMAD:  I'm not sure we -- sorry.

MR. STEVENS:  Again, the question that I typically ask at this point is whether that is information that is readily available that you can put together.

MR. AHMAD:  So that information is under, if you go down in this same response, so there is a table that show the calculations.  This a sample calculation.  It is not necessarily to 2024.  So this is how it is calculated.  So, based on the procedure that I described, described in E.B.O. 188, so the step number 1 is, the special reinforcement costs, they are amortized over 10 to 20 years, so, for that particular test year, it was 13.7 million.  So these are the amortized values.  And then we add normalized system reinforcement costs, which we take 10 years of average, so that is 1.5 million.  So the total reinforcement cost to be applied is 15.281.

MR. ELSON:  I am going to stop you there because we can see what is on the screen.  Can you provide the actual values for 2024?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J10.4.
UNDERTAKING J10.4:  EGI TO PROVIDE THE NORMALIZED SYSTEM REINFORCEMENT COSTS FOR 2024, INCLUDING THE UNDERLYING CALCULATIONS, AND SHOWING HOW IT IS APPLIED TO THE CONNECTION COSTS OF A CUSTOMER.

MR. ELSON:  And I take it you don't include in these costs the depreciation expense -- and when I say "these costs," I am taking a step back; I am moving on from normalized system reinforcements, talking about the incremental costs that you include in the E.B.O. 188 financial calculations -- you don't include in those calculations depreciation expense for the rest of the system in this calculation.  Right?

MR. AHMAD:  I would like to clarify.  When you say "depreciation," are you talking about accounting depreciation or the tax depreciation?

MR. ELSON:  I am talking about the depreciation of -- the depreciation expense that goes into your revenue requirement.

MR. AHMAD:  Because the feasibility assessment as prescribed in the E.B.O. 188 is a cash-flow-based analysis, so we do not include the accounting depreciation in these calculations, but we do incorporate the tax depreciation in those calculations, which you call CCA tax sheet.

MR. ELSON:  Sorry.  We are confusing what depreciation we are talking about.  I am not talking about the depreciation of the service line and the meters, which I think is what you are talking about.

MR. AHMAD:  Mm-hmm.

MR. ELSON:  I am talking about the depreciation of $15 billion of rate base that we have that goes into a depreciation expense.  I'm sorry.  I am just trying to make what I think is an obvious point, is that that depreciation expense is not included in the incremental costs under E.B.O. 188.

MR. AHMAD:  No, we don't include that depreciation in this analysis.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I would like to turn now to the magnitude of the costs that are forecast to be added into rate base due to connections.  If we could, turn to page 10 of our compendium, please.  But, just at a high level, we had given an example previously.  In that example, the capital costs were $1 million, the customer contribution was $300,000, and then that would mean that the $700,000 is added to rate base in that simplified example.  Is that right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  Page 10 is from the updated pre-filed evidence, and it shows $304 million in customer connection costs in 2024.  Do you see that there?

MR. MACPHERSON:  We do.

MR. ELSON:  And that number comes up in a couple of other places, so I am going to try to drill down to make sure that we understand what is in that $304 million, including that table that was on the second-last page of your compendium that we saw earlier.  Give or take, the 300 or 400 million dollars is the proportion of the capital costs for connecting the roughly 40,000 new customers that will go into rate base instead of being paid up front by new customers through a contribution in aid of construction.  Is that right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Can you repeat that?  I just want to make sure I am answering properly.

MR. ELSON:  The $304.1 million is the proportion of the capital costs for connecting the roughly 40,000 new customers slated for 2024, and it is the proportion that will go into rate base instead of being paid up front by new customers through a contribution in aid of construction?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Let me just confer.  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Now, we have a separate line on this table for community expansions.  That's 11.2.  My understanding from Exhibit I.ADR-7-- we don't need to pull it up -- is that the $304 million number does not include the customer connection costs for community expansions, like their service lines and meters.  Do I understand that correctly or is that something you need to take away?

MR. MACPHERSON:  We think the capital panel will be in a better position to answer this question.

MR. ELSON:  The $304 million, does that include the incremental overheads and the normalized system reinforcement items that we saw in E.B.O. 188?

MR. AHMAD:  No.  The $304 million does not include the normalized system reinforcement cost.  Those are the costs which are accumulated based on the projects which were undertaken in the past and they are not part of this budget.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And so it also doesn't include incremental overheads.  Is that right, the 304?  I don't think it does, but I just want to confirm.

MR. MACPHERSON:  It includes capitalized overheads, but not incremental overheads.

MR. ELSON:  Which one of those is higher?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Or incremental costs.  Sorry, did we answer your question?

MR. ELSON:  Which one of those is higher, capitalized or incremental overheads?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Incremental overheads are the costs of persons who work on the connections projects who become capitalized, and I would think that's -- do we have an estimate of that?  I think that's a smaller component, versus the normalized system reinforcement cost.

MR. STEVENS:  If I may interject for a moment, Mr. Elson.  I think, once we start to get into discussions about what is capitalized, we are talking about incremental costs.  There was discussion earlier that some of the incremental costs are O&M.  You can see the witnesses trying to be helpful, but maybe not having all of the answers.  I would suggest that, if what we're talking about is what are the components of each of these lines on table 1, the capital panel is well positioned to answer those questions.  They're the folks who put this table together.  They are the folks who oversee the capital budget.

I'm confident that Mr. Ahmad and Mr. Macpherson will answer everything they can, but I don't want to sort of push them beyond the level of their comfort when we know we have folks who are better positioned to answer the questions coming up.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I think I have my answer that it doesn't include incremental overheads and it doesn't include normalized system reinforcement, and I think what I will need to do is ask for an undertaking, but I'm going to hold off on that until my questions proceed a little bit further, because this 304 number comes up again.

If we could turn to ADR 6.  And hopefully this isn't another question for the capital panel, because it would be helpful to have this information for the sake of these questions, but let's see what we can do.  If you could turn down, there is a chart in ADR 6.  And you will see this $304 million number is coming up again.  Right?  Do you see that there under 2024?

MR. MACPHERSON:  We can see that.

MR. ELSON:  But, in the rows below, we have a line for meters, 16.5.  Do you know what that is and why meters would be -- you know, a system access meter would be separate from a connection cost?  Is that something you can speak to?

MR. MACPHERSON:  We are not able to speak to that.  I believe the capital panel would be in the best position.

MR. ELSON:  You know, I'm a bit worried that the capital panel is going to say, "I'm not sure what is used for connections and what is used for other purposes," so I'm going to ask you for an undertaking.

Could you undertake to confirm what is included in these customer connections numbers, the 304, 248, 256?  And, if it doesn't include incremental overheads, if it doesn't include normalized system costs, and if it doesn't include the meters for new customers, could you add those to this table, please.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I may, Mr. Elson -- sorry, go ahead.  I think we need to make sure we are adding apples and apples.  I know that at least the normalized system reinforcement costs, for example, if that's what I thought I heard you say, those are costed incurred in the past.  They are not capital expenditures that we are incurring in 2024.  So we just need to make sure that we are really looking at capital expenditures and not assets that are on the ground from before.

MR. ELSON:  That's fair.  And I think there are different purposes for the numbers, and one of them is to determine what the avoided cost would be if we are lowering the revenue horizon.  And those costs include the direct costs, but also the normalized system reinforcement costs and the incremental overhead dollars.  And so I'm trying to figure out what those numbers are.

MR. STEVENS:  Again, Mr. Elson, if your questions are around sort of all of the knock-on impacts of customer attachments and various portions of the capital budget and where they may be found, and what those impacts are, I do believe the capital panel are the proper folks to answer those questions.  If they can't answer them, we will give an undertaking at that point.  But I think we're going to put ourselves in circles by giving undertakings here -- which I'm not prepared to undertake will be provided before the capital panel appears -- and then have those out there, and confusion of what new questions come along.  So I strongly prefer to have this line of questioning that's digging into the capital budget, to have this line of questioning asked of the capital panel.

MR. ELSON:  Well, you know, I'll turn to page 7 of my compendium and maybe you can see the connection.  I mean, this panel has filed this document showing the reduction in capital costs if you change the revenue horizon.  And, I ,mean I guess I can ask the same question to the capital panel, but it would be helpful, as soon as we can, to know whether this includes those other items and, if it doesn't, to have an undertaking to provide it.  I mean, I don't know why we don't just deal with it now and we don't have to spend more time with another panel.

MR. STEVENS:  It strikes me --


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Stevens, if I could just add a question.  Just from an efficiency point of view, I assume that, if you were to agree to this undertaking, the folks on the capital side would be able to address the undertaking.  So I guess my question is:  Is it more efficient to get an undertaking now or have this line of questioning pursued at the actual panel and then maybe an undertaking deferred to that point?  I just raise the question.

MR. STEVENS:  And it's a fair question.  My concern is that there is a lot of moving parts.  I mean, I know it looks easy, but to have undertakings coming in and have an expectation that they are given before somebody asks their question in the very next panel, and to have them absorbed, it's just not something I can promise, that the undertakings are going to be ready in time.

We can give the undertakings.  I question the efficiency of this.  I will say, Mr. Elson, that I heard your questions going well beyond what is included in the 304.  They started at the top of the table we were just looking at; that's 304.  Now, let's look at the bottom of the table.  But, in any event, if you would like to repeat your request based on the last document, I will discuss it briefly with the regulatory team and respond.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, I think, Mr. Stevens.  The question is to confirm whether the numbers in table 1, which is on the second-last page of the compendium filed for this panel and their direct examinations, whether it includes incremental overheads, normalized reinforcement costs, and meters; and, if it doesn't, to add those to the table.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  My apologies, Mr. Elson.  I want to repeat again what I said earlier.

To start off, an estimate of increment of -- sorry, normalized system reinforcement overheads are actually expenditures from the past that are in rate base.  They are what you might call sunk costs, not costs that can be avoided, because those are assets in the ground in anticipation of growth.

So I do want to make sure that conceptually we are adding numbers that it makes sense to add.  I can understand the question about whether meters are included in the $304 million number, because they are a Capex for 2024.  And so perhaps that is something we can take away, to see if the $304 million estimate is in fact reflective of all expenditures connected to customers coming on the system or not.

The other items are really specific calculations for the purposes of E.B.O. 188 and having an estimate -- I mean, that is kind of discounted cash flow analysis that is not necessarily reflective of the actual capital expenditures in that year.

So, if you don't mind, I think we do need to confirm whether the addition of those four numbers actually does make sense.  Based on my limited understanding of this area, I can see that it makes sense to ask if the number $304 million includes meters related to the customers coming on and, if not, to add that to the number.

MR. ELSON:  Ms. Giridhar, I understand not wanting to compare apples and oranges.  And what I am trying to get at is if we reduce the customer horizon, it is going to result in higher contributions in aid of construction and less expenditures by way of rate base.  This chart captures part of that; it captures the direct costs.  It is not capturing, as I understand it, the incremental overhead amounts in the normalized system reinforcement amounts.  So you can separate them out into a separate table, you can put writing on the bottom, you know, asterisks -- I don't know what the plural of asterisk is.

But it would be helpful to have those three categories, so that we can understand what the difference is in terms of spending, because maybe it is coming out of other lines.  But, you know, what happens when you have less of the connection costs coming out of rate base?

MR. STEVENS:  We can take that away and provide an answer in writing.  I mean, you won't be surprised to hear that we will provide whatever explanation and context is appropriate.  I mean, you will have heard and I will repeat that, you know, we would have though apples to apples would be looking at the 2024 cost implications, and that will be the thrust of whatever we are answering.

But if there is information that we can provide about normalized system reinforcement costs, then we will do that also, with appropriate explanation.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J10.5.  Mr. Stevens, sorry to do this to you, but I know there were a number of caveats attached to that.  Do you have a pithy 10-worder to summarize what it is you are going to do?

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  Enbridge Gas will provide information about the customer connections forecast number of $304 million for 2024 contained in table 1, including whether it includes incremental overheads, meters, costs and normalized reinforce costs.

If some or all of those are not included, Enbridge Gas will indicate the costs that would be associated with each of those items, and Enbridge Gas will indicate its views as to which, if any, of these items are appropriate to be considered in the context of the 2024 capital budget and in the context of implications of changing the customer revenue horizon.  Perhaps not pithy, but complete, I hope.
UNDERTAKING J10.5:  ENBRIDGE GAS TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ABOUT THE CUSTOMER CONNECTIONS FORECAST NUMBER OF $304 MILLION FOR 2024 CONTAINED IN TABLE 1, INCLUDING WHETHER IT INCLUDES INCREMENTAL OVERHEADS, METERS, COSTS AND NORMALIZED REINFORCE COSTS; IF SOME OR ALL OF THOSE ARE NOT INCLUDED, ENBRIDGE GAS WILL INDICATE THE COSTS THAT WOULD BE ASSOCIATED WITH EACH OF THOSE ITEMS, AND ENBRIDGE GAS WILL INDICATE ITS VIEWS AS TO WHICH, IF ANY, OF THESE ITEMS ARE APPROPRIATE TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE CONTEXT OF THE 2024 CAPITAL BUDGET AND IN THE CONTEXT OF IMPLICATIONS OF CHANGING THE CUSTOMER REVENUE HORIZON.

MS. DUFF:  Can I ask a question?  It is just to make sure I understand table 1.  It is Commissioner Duff:  It is the title that is confusing me.  So if I go to, in 2024, with the 30-year revenue horizon, I will still spend the $304 million, won't I?  But part of that contribution in aid of construction will decrease the amount that goes into rate base to be recovered.  And then I may have costs attributed to E.B.O. 188, such as the direct overheads, their direct overheads.

And I am assuming they are going to be absorbed, through either a contribution in aid of construction or paid by other customers?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  My understanding, Commissioner Duff, is that the way E.B.O. 188 would be applied in this situation is that you would still apply the incremental overhead; in the calculation, you would still apply the normalized system reinforcement cost.  And all of that would spit out a customer contribution, which is shown here, which would be an offset to the Capex.  Therefore, the number $238 million under a 30-year revenue horizon is the amount -- is the Capex that the company is spending.  And $83 million is the CIAC -- I am sorry, yes, $83 million is the -- is that correct? -- is the CIAC that would be coming from the customers, in this example.

MS. DUFF:  But it is not really capital expenditures, because some of them will have been incurred before.  Is that not true?  That is where I am kind of -- when you are saying the money has already been spent, we put in a main two years ago.  We knew there was going to be growth forecast associated to -- the reason we built it was to last for a number of years of customer attachments.  Yes?

So now I am going to allocate a portion of that cost of the main to this project, because it is leveraging this upstream ability.  Is that right?  Is that why you are using the normalized?  Have I got the theory right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Just to clarify, these are the direct -- like, these are the direct costs of expanding the system and connecting those customers.  And, in the economic test, we are taking those -- sorry, we are taking all the direct costs --


MS. DUFF:  Yes?

MR. MACPHERSON:  -- and adding indirect costs and the normalized system for the testing purposes, only.  I don't know if that answers your question.  So those things in the past, it is just the prescribed to ensure that future customers are burdened by past investments that support their connection.  Does that answer it?

MS. DUFF:  Yes, thank you.

MR. MORAN:  If I could just follow up:  Help me understand what you mean by "testing purposes."

MR. MACPHERSON:  I am going to ask Mr. Ahmad, if he can clarify my words.  But because feasibility itself is an incremental analysis of the investment versus the revenues of attaching a new customer, and these guidelines of E.B.O. 188 set out how we do it.  They are not a rate-making vehicle for us.  I don't know if you want to add something, Mr. Ahmad.

MR. AHMAD:  I think you have covered for the most part.  So the only thing I would like to add is that when we say testing -- so E.B.O. 188 prescribes a method of assessing new customers.  So in that method, we incorporate the direct capital cost and also incorporate the incremental cost, including the -- yes.

MS. DUFF:  Sorry.

MR. MACPHERSON:  You were getting the hand.

MR. AHMAD:  --incremental cost and normalized system reinforcement cost.  So, although those are not the costs driven by the customer which is being assessed, but those are the costs which were incurred for future customer growth.  And we apply those costs to all new customers, so that to protect the existing rate base.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  On that basis, then, when I look at again table 1 and, for example, the 30-year revenue horizon line which concludes with a $83 million contribution in aid of construction, does that number include all of the things that you have just listed?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.

MR. MACPHERSON:  We should qualify, though:  I mean, this is a greatly simplified calculation --


MR. MORAN:  I understand.

MR. MACPHERSON:  -- because of -- we need the real projects to yield the results.

MR. MORAN:  No, I understand.  I heard Ms. Giridhar's caveat on this.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Okay, fair enough.

MR. MORAN:  But conceptually, the $83 million includes those additional costs that you have just identified.  Yes.

MR. MACPHERSON:  It does.

MR. MORAN:  One last question, then:  For testing purposes, what does a bad outcome from a testing perspective look like, versus a good outcome?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I don't know if there is -- yes, there is no bad outcome.  Many projects have a PI below 1.0.  And then it is a matter communicated to the customer of contribution, to make the project feasible or, in some cases, if it is really bad, they -- it is not economic to them, and they don't proceed.  They don't make that -- and so we don't make the project happen.

MR. MORAN:  Right.  So that just increases the CIAC, if --


MR. MACPHERSON:  Exactly.

MR. ELSON:  I believe we were waiting for an undertaking number, just for the record.

MR. MORAN:  We had J10.5 already assigned.

MR. ELSON:  Do we?  Okay.  Just to be clear Mr. Stevens, my understanding is that that is to update the whole chart and not just the 304?

MR. STEVENS:  That had not been my understanding, I will say.  So you are requesting that we provide all of these pieces of information in relation to each of the cells?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  Why don't I come at it from the other perspective.  Instead of doing it in an additive way, I will come at it from a subtractive way.  I am just trying to understand how much more you are going to collect from customers in a contribution in aid of construction if we change the horizon, so let me flip it from the other direction, and I think it will be a lot easier.  So I am going to ask for an undertaking to provide the amount that you are forecast to secure from customers in CIACs based on the revenue horizons listed here, 40, 30, 25, 15, and 10, so that we can compare how much you are going to collect under each scenario, which would be an offset presumably.  Is that something you can do?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Sorry.  I have to interject because I think we've already answered.  The simplified table is --


MR. ELSON:  No, I mean the total number, like the total number.  You know, for example, the $304 million, that is just the connection costs that go into rate base.  There is another chunk of that that the customer is paying, right, the new connecting customer?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  The 304 is a net number.  I think, if you went to the previous slide, there was a footnote that said that the 304 included capitalized overhead and is net of customer contributions.  So, for --


MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  -- the 40-year horizon, the 304 is a net number --


MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  -- net of customer contribution.

MR. ELSON:  That is the amount that goes in a rate base.  It's not --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  It is excluding the connection cost that the customer pays?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  Right.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  And, in the case of the 30 years, my understanding was that the 83 million that you see in the second-last column is reflective of the customer contribution, so that 238 and 83.

MR. STEVENS:  If I can play it back to you, Mr. Elson, I think what you are asking is:  What is the total -- can we look at just 2024?  Is that reasonable?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And I think what you are asking is:  What is the total contribution in aid associated with each of these revenue horizons?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  On the assumption that they are something more than zero for 2024.

MR. ELSON:  Well, of course there is more than zero for 2024.

MR. STEVENS:  Because, as the witnesses have explained, the incremental CIAC is what is shown -- is the difference between 304 and each of the numbers.

MR. ELSON:  Yes, this is CIAC per customer.  I am looking for the contribution in aid of construction total so that we can figure out, if we change the revenue horizon, how much more is Enbridge going to collect.  I would appreciate it, if it is possible, for 2024 to '28, but if you only do it for '24 --


MR. AHMAD:  Yes, it -- the three that you see in the second-last column, so that is over 5 years, so we are taking the difference of scenario in --


MR. ELSON:  I am going to interrupt you.  But those are just the direct costs.

MR. STEVENS:  I understand the request --


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. STEVENS:  -- Mr. Elson.  We will provide the numbers for 2024.  If it is easy to do for future years, we will do that.  If it is going to be a lot of work, we won't.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Sorry to take so long on this.  I will move on and actually move on to this chart, which is what I wanted to talk about.

MR. STEVENS:  I am sorry.  Just before we move on, should we get an undertaking number?

MR. ELSON:  Of course.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  It is J10.6.  Again, Mr. Stevens, I think I have got all -- maybe I will just let you explain for the record what it is.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  In relation to table 1, Enbridge Gas will advise as to the total contribution in aid of construction amount associated with each of the different revenue horizons for 2024, and, if the amount of additional work is not overly substantial, Enbridge Gas will provide the same information in relation to the years 2025 to 2028.
UNDERTAKING J10.6:  IN RELATION TO TABLE 1, ENBRIDGE GAS WILL ADVISE AS TO THE TOTAL CONTRIBUTION IN AID OF CONSTRUCTION AMOUNT ASSOCIATED WITH EACH OF THE DIFFERENT REVENUE HORIZONS FOR 2024, AND, IF THE AMOUNT OF ADDITIONAL WORK IS NOT OVERLY SUBSTANTIAL, ENBRIDGE GAS WILL PROVIDE THE SAME INFORMATION IN RELATION TO THE YEARS 2025 TO 2028.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is J10.6.

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, just while we are on this, I heard a lot of back and forth on what is included in the CIAC and what is not included [audio dropout] how it takes account of historical spends that are seen as reinforcements benefiting the future, and I wonder if it might be acceptable to you, Mr. Elson, and to the Panel for the witnesses to review what they've said and just, if there is anything that they want to clarify, to include that in this undertaking response?

MR. ELSON:  I would actually maybe think it would be helpful to provide that clarification right now because I did actually see a difference between what was said earlier and what was said in response to Commissioner Duff.  Because my understanding is that the system reinforcement costs are based on previous numbers but they are meant to reflect an incremental forward-looking expense.  I think that is what you said earlier, Mr. Macpherson.  Is that correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  You are asking if normalized system -- those costs are in the past.  Those are investments --


MR. ELSON:  Well, that is how you calculate them, but they are meant to represent the incremental costs associated with these customers, aren't they?

MR. MACPHERSON:  No.  No, they are not.  They are meant to add to --

MR. ELSON:  Well -- okay.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Let me clarify.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. MACPHERSON:  If I misspoke, I apologize.  But those costs are amortized and added in the feasibility test to future connecting customers as a method of properly burdening them, of attempting to burden them, with the investments that have occurred in the past to support their addition to our system.

MR. ELSON:  So you include the past costs but not the future costs.  Is that right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  The future costs are also added through the estimated cost of incremental O&M in the test, as well.

MR. ELSON:  By future capital costs?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Future capital cost --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Could you explain what you mean by "future capital cost"?

MR. ELSON:  Because, when you have growth, you require reinforcement.  I mean, obviously, one house doesn't, but in aggregate.  My understanding was that you used previous numbers to forecast the incremental capital cost going forward.  But, if you are saying that it is meant to cover past costs, then it doesn't cover future costs.  It's got to be one or the other.

MR. MACPHERSON:  So, to be clear, once we have attached them, there is no future reinforcement cost to support that customer; they are attached, so we have already done that.  If there was a direct cost required to add a new customer to our system, they would be burdened with that cost and pay it directly.

MR. ELSON:  So it doesn't account for anything in the future; it is just accounting for what is in the past because -- I mean, you know what, this is sufficient for my purposes.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Just for that one portion, it is a past cost that is added to the test.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I actually had not intended on discussing this topic at all, whatsoever, but your correction to your evidence yesterday evening referred to the normalized cost, and I was trying to dig in a little bit further.  So I am going to step back and ask you some questions just about the direct costs that I think are the most important piece.  So that is what we have on the screen here.  So, in terms of direct costs, what you are showing here, in table 1, is the reduction in what you are going to have to include in rate base as the revenue horizon drops with respect to direct costs.  Is that right?  So, if you move from 40 years to 30 years in 2024, there is $83 million less in direct customer connection capital costs; if you move from 40 years to 10 years, there is $853 million less going into rate base.  Have I understood that correctly?

MR. MACPHERSON:  So these cost reductions include both direct capital and capitalized overheads, as well.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, but what they reflect is less money going into rate base.  Right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  If you reduced from 40 to zero, then the savings are $1.3 billion.  Correct?  That's not on your chart, but I am gathering that because that is your revenue from 40 years over the 5 years.

MR. MACPHERSON:  So, if the company made no investment of any kind connecting new customers, that would reduce our capital budget by an estimated -- this amount?

MR. ELSON:  I don't know.  It depends what you mean by the company made no investment.  I mean you may connect customers, and that would be paid through a contribution in aid of construction.  But, if there was no subsidy, let's call it, then the reduced capital costs would be $1.3 billion.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  If customers were to receive no benefit of their real contributions in revenue to the system payment, that capital investment would be transferred to the burden of those customers connecting to the system, is the answer.

MR. ELSON:  If they were to pay their full way in terms of their connection costs.

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I would just like to talk about the mechanics.  When you have a developer, you sign a declaratory connect agreement with them I take it?

MR. MACPHERSON:  We do not sign a connection agreement with builders.

MR. ELSON:  How is it that you determine or agree with them, I'm going to build the pipes and you are going to pay this contribution in aid of construction?  Is that set out in a letter, or how is it done mechanically?  And how far ahead is that done from when you put the pipes in the ground?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I think these questions would be best handled by the capital panel.  Their teams own the business process of forecasting, estimating costs, and entering those values into the feasibility tool to determine these items.

MR. ELSON:  Sure, that's fine.  Then I'll ask you about the temporary expansion surcharge.  In essence, the temporary expansion surcharge allows a contribution in aid of construction to be paid off over up to 40 years, via a $0.23 per cubic metre surcharge instead of paying it up-front.  Is that, giver or take, what the temporary expansion surcharge would do?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Conceptually, that's correct.  The term is a "temporary connection surcharge" or "system expansion surcharge."

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, my mistake.  And although this is not specified in your written policy, Enbridge's unwritten policy is that it does not offer the temporary connection surcharge in the case of a residential developer.  I think we confirmed that at the technical conference, Mr. Macpherson?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And if Enbridge were to offer the temporary connection surcharge to developers, that would allow those developers to avoid the up-front contribution in aid of construction cost and instead shift those costs to the gas bills of the homeowners.  Right?  The home buyers.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Should we change our policy and apply it to those builders, then that's what would occur.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  Would Enbridge agree to maintain its policy of not offering the temporary connection surcharge to residential developers until at least its next rebasing application?  I'm happy for you to take that away by undertaking, if you prefer.

MR. STEVENS:  We could take it away by undertaking, Mr. Elson.  I will say that, amongst the regulatory group, we are pretty confident that's a question that is difficult to answer in the absence of an OEB decision in phase 1.  Let's say, for example, you prevailed in your view that the revenue horizon should be zero.  Enbridge might take advantage of all regulatory tools, as Ms. Giridhar has talked, about to look at what else it would do.  So to give an absolutely yes or no, I'm not sure, is going to be possible, so I'm not sure whether the undertaking is going to help you.

MR. ELSON:  Well, it would actually help me if you were able to say of the connection surcharge, you know, We may start using this if the revenue horizon drops below such and such.  And then I know to make submissions on it.  I'm just trying to strike an issue out so that I don't have to make submissions on it.

If I could have that undertaking, you can provide the answer you can provide, and we can know what you will agree to.  Then it would reduce the issues that we need to debate in submissions.

MR. STEVENS:  Well, I think, if what you are asking is whether Enbridge will, in all circumstances, agree not to apply this tool, the answer is likely no.  If what you are asking is for Enbridge to define when it would start considering the tool, I'm not sure you are going to get a clear answer on that.  It a hypothetical.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Elson, if I understand Mr. Stevens, he is suggesting that Enbridge's answer will be contingent on our decision in phase 1.  So it seems to me that you should be able to make submissions about under what circumstances you might like that outcome, and Enbridge can, of course, reply to that.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  That's sufficient.  I am going to turn now to infill customers.  We have been talking about development so far.  Residential infills are existing homes which are converting from other fuel types to natural gas to meet their energy needs.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And that could also include individual home construction, like a new home on a lot that could be serviced from an existing main?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And the houses in community expansion areas also pay the extra line charge.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  The extra length charge?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes, they do.

MR. ELSON:  And I think we can think of the extra length charge as being equivalent to the contribution in aid of construction for infill customers, only it's calculated differently and averaged out so that you can apply it on a simpler basis.  Is it fair to understand it in that way?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Exactly.  It's designed to be a simplified economic policy following that 20-meter rule today, or the 30-meter rule in the Union rate zone, that projects are implicitly feasible based on those charges.

MR. ELSON:  And if we could turn to page 17 of our compendium.  The threshold over which the extra length charge needs to be paid was 20 meters in the Enbridge zone and 30 meters in the Union zone.  And the charge over that threshold was 32 meters for Enbridge and 45 for Union, and you are planning to harmonize it at a 20-meter threshold for all rate zones, with an extra length charge of $122 per additional meter.  I'm just trying to level-set here.  Do I have that correct?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct, but that number has been updated, so it $159 per meter.

MR. ELSON:  $159 per meter?

MR. AHMAD:  Per meter, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And this $159 is based on the distribution revenue from a typical residential customer and what it can support?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.  So if you go to the regression analysis.

MR. ELSON:  It should be a page or two down.

MR. AHMAD:  One page down.  Further down.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Ahmad, maybe I could ask it because, you know, we have the evidence.  I think what you are meaning is that the present value of 40 years of revenue, you think, on average, will cover the cost to install 20 meters of service line to the customer meter.  Is that right?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, that's all I need.  And if we could turn to page 20, please.  Now, this seems to say that the average service cost of a connection where there is a 20-meter service is $6,000.  Is that still accurate?

MR. AHMAD:  At that time, when this analysis was done, it was, at that time, approximately $5,600 or $5,700.  So it was at that time, which is -- this is based on the data for three years of data, from 2018 to 2020.  So we can say that it is based on that time when the analysis was done.

MR. ELSON:  Do you think that this change is unfair to new customers, who will have to pay more in 2024 or 2025, for example, versus the customers who were connected over the past decade and who benefited from a lower threshold and a lower charge?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I would say that the answer is not particularly about fairness.  It's an issue of what the costs are forecast to be and the revenue is forecast to be.  The cost of construction in infill situations in cities, with permitting and road-cut permits and improved conditions whereby we need to fix the landscaping or driveway, are expensive, and increasingly so.  And these costs, this rule, has to work in all those situations on an average basis.  So it's not unfair.  It's designed to be fair to existing ratepayers, that it's in balance and feasible.

MR. ELSON:  And I think if the connection policies will result in underrecovery from new customers, you need to change those policies even though that will mean that customers connecting to the system in the past will be treated differently from customers connecting in the future.  Fair?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mr. Elson, I am trying to understand what you mean by "treated differently."  So the principle here is that the costs are recovered from the customers that imposed the cost.  So if the costs have gone up, and they now have to pay those higher costs, they are actually being treated the same as the customers before them.

MR. ELSON:  I think that is a helpful answer.  Thank you, Ms. Giridhar.  So now the extra-length charge threshold would need to change if we move the customer horizon to, say, 50 years?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I believe we have already given a high-level answer based on that 30-year revenue horizon of approximately -- excuse me, I think it was $3,000 -- that we would charge to every infill customer.  We would no longer have a free allowance of 20 or 30 metres.  It would simply be a flat amount, on average.

MR. ELSON:  Let me ask my next question.  If we could turn to page 16, please?

This is the capital amount that can be supported by the distribution revenue of a residential customer; a 10-year horizon is about $2,713, and 15 is $3,658.  I was going to ask an undertaking to provide a table with the corresponding extra-length charge, if you were to change the revenue horizon threshold to zero, 10, 15 and 25 years.  But now I am understanding that you may change your policy.

So I would be fine for an undertaking to explain what you would change your extra-length charge policy to, for infill customers, should the revenue horizon change.  Is that something you could undertake to do?

MR. STEVENS:  Again, I know that we provided the information this morning in examination in chief about the implications for 30 years.  Is that replicable, is that something that can be readily done for the other revenue horizons?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes, we believe we could.  It would be on the same basis though, that we are saying this is what a -- the flat amount that we would be charging infill-connecting customers based on different revenue horizons.  We would not be -- we could not quickly propose a new extra-length charge, nor do we think it would probably make sense.

MR. STEVENS:  For the record then, Enbridge Gas can advise as to the change in either extra-length charge or standard charge to be made for infill customers, or to be applied to infill customers, in the context of revenue horizons of zero, 10, 15, and I am going to suggest we should also provide 25, since that is not on the record.

MR. ELSON:  Sure.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J10.7.
UNDERTAKING J10.7:  ENBRIDGE GAS TO ADVISE AS TO THE CHANGE IN EITHER EXTRA-LENGTH CHARGE OR STANDARD CHARGE TO BE APPLIED TO INFILL CUSTOMERS, IN THE CONTEXT OF REVENUE HORIZONS OF ZERO, 10, 15, AND 25.


MR. ELSON:  And if the Board did decide to reduce the revenue horizon to 10 or 15, for example, how would you recommend that they deal with the issue of the extra-length charge, that they allow Enbridge to, you know, develop your own response to that, or that they implement your flat fee that you are suggesting?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I think it would be difficult for us to answer, absent the Board's decision.  Ultimately, our proposal is based on the current regulations with a 40-year revenue horizon.  Once we had received decision, we would have to, I think, create new information and seek the Board's approval.  It is an explicit approval in our rates handbook that sets out the extra-length charge or any other charge for that matter that we would need to contemplate on that approval.

MR. ELSON:  Let's say that we went down to a 15-year horizon.  You currently have a set of fees that increase as the length increases, because the cost increases as the length increases.  Would you not continue having a component where you have additional costs, as the distance from the pipeline is longer?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I think as I have already answered, we would need to look at this once we have the Board's decision, to see what makes sense.  It is very difficult in this condition to try to come up with this, on the fly.

MR. ELSON:  I will turn on to a question about a community expansion.  With community expansions, you determine feasibility with a discounted cash flow analysis.  And within that discounted cash flow analysis, you include the amount of connection costs that will go into rate base.  Right?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, we include the cost that goes into the rate base.

MR. ELSON:  Let's say that is for putting the mains in, you include the connection costs that are going to rate base, and you offset the revenue from the new customers.  Right?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.  Conceptually, yes.

MR. ELSON:  But then you also have the extra-length charge when individual customers connect.  Right?  And that is for their portion of the connection fees.  And my question is aren't you then counting their revenue twice?  First, you count it in your discounted cash flow analysis for putting your mains in, and then you are setting it against your charges for the service line and the meter.

MR. AHMAD:  Can we confer?

MR. ELSON:  Mm-hmm.

MR. MACPHERSON:  And so to clarify, these projects are -- the capital budget is set, including an estimate of the average service length, the 20-metre rule or 30-metre rule, as it may apply, and that is budgeted in our feasibility and discounted cash flow.  So to the extent that an extra-length charge my apply, then that is a fair representation of extra costs that that customer incurs, or may drive on the capital cost of the system.

MR. ELSON:  I will have to think about that.  But for now, if we could move to page 35?

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, Mr. Elson, before we move on:  On undertaking J10.7, Enbridge agreed to provide either the updated extra-length charge or fixed charge that would apply for infill customers with different revenue horizons.  And you had asked the panel subsequently, well, what would you be asking the OEB to approve?

And in talking with my regulatory colleagues, we wonder whether it might be helpful to add to that undertaking and advise whether our answer basically comprises what it is that we would be asking the OEB to approve in the context of these different revenue horizons.

MR. ELSON:  In terms of the extra-length charge?

MR. STEVENS:  That is right.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  I mean, I think that would actually be included, but I am happy to have that added.

MR. STEVENS:  In any event, I am reacting to the back and forth you had with the panel, where you were asking them to give their view --


MR. ELSON:  My short answer is yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  I have some questions relating to connection rules for residential developments as between gas and electricity.  And I am not going to ask you to interpret the distribution system code, because I think the document speaks for itself.  But I am going to walk you through some sections to set the basis for my questions.  But first, I will start at a high level, not referring to what is on the screen.  I think you will be aware that the revenue horizon in the electricity context is 25 years, and the customer connection horizon is five years.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is what we understand; the revenue horizon, 25 years, the attachment horizon is five years.  However, as we understand it, there is discretion to expand that attachment horizon to a longer period of time, at the discretion of the distributor.

MR. ELSON:  And I am looking now at 3.2.20.  And in addition to a contribution in aid of construction, a customer connecting to the electricity system must provide a deposit equal to 100 percent of the forecast revenues, and, at 3.2.23, the deposit is paid back over 5 years.  If the forecast demand has not materialized, the developer loses the portion of their deposit equal to the revenue shortfall.  I am not asking if you would agree with that.  You know, that is what it states in the DSC.  My question is to compare that to gas, and my understanding is that Enbridge does not require developers to pay a deposit to cover the risk of a revenue shortfall.  Do they?

MR. MACPHERSON:  We do not.

MR. ELSON:  And so the developer does not bear the risk of a revenue shortfall if there are fewer houses connected, if the development gets delayed, or if those houses consume less gas than average.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  To be clear, our team would work closely with a builder to understand what their plans are for these homes, what level of attachments, what equipment are going in, and that would be reflected in our feasibility calculation.  If in some time in the planning process from let's say something was planned and began in the past and something changed in the future, we would work with the builder, rerun the feasibility calculation.  That may result in a contribution, and it may result in something different, but we would use the latest available information, based on their plans, to run that feasibility.

MR. ELSON:  But, once the pipelines are in the ground and they have paid the contribution in aid of construction, you don't come back to them and have a mechanism for them to pay more if less houses than forecast are built, if less demand materializes because of lower average use.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  We do not.

MR. ELSON:  In section 3.2.21, the DSC notes that the expansion forecast covers both the forecast risk and the asset risk.  And, in combination with 3.2.7, the distribution system code makes it clear that the developer will be on the hook to pay for any capital cost overruns.  Now, on the gas side, the developer is not responsible if Enbridge's capital cost ends up being higher than forecast.  Is that correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  I just have a last few questions, and thank you for your indulgence, Panel.  I am not sure if I am close to or almost over my time.  I would like to talk a little bit about existing versus new customers.  Let's say that the horizon stays at 40 years, and the horizon is applied to a specific customer connection.  If a customer stays with the system up until the 40-year mark but leaves one day later, they have only paid for the costs relating to their connection, not for the rest of the system.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  The answer depends on the specific customer.  So we have very -- we have customers, say, as you mentioned, new construction projects that are extremely feasible, that they could have paid back their connection costs in 5 years or 10 years, possibly.  Some of the developments, they built homes very close together, and we built them with joint trenches, and it's one of the lower cost, with narrow lots versus maybe a different situation.  The most extreme, it is 40 years to recover that cost, but that customer is contributing to the system.  They are paying for their O&M.  They've paid for their direct costs, and they have also paid for the incremental cost of providing service.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  And I think, if I may just add, you know, I think I mentioned earlier that the rolling portfolio PI generally exceeded one, so if you looked at new customers being attached in a particular year, in totality they more than contribute their costs.

MR. ELSON:  You said the -- let's say, the rolling portfolio, it is, it doesn't stray very far from 1, so let's describe it as 1 or 1.1 or 1.2.  That means you have some above and some below, I think is the point you are making.  And so the ones that are more cost effective, they are paid off sooner than the ones that are less cost effective.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Some are, yes.  Some are more cost -- lower cost than others, but, in totality, if you think of all new customers as a group and all existing customers as another group, because the PIs have exceeded 1 in general -- I think you have seen that historically -- I think it is safe to say as a group we have more than recovered their connection costs over the 4 years.

MR. ELSON:  Well, you --

MR. MACPHERSON:  Sorry.  I will just correct one thing.  The rolling PI has always been above 1.  The rolling PI is about 1.5.  So that is an expression of, you know, that removes -- you may want to add more detail to it, but that is that those costs of those new connecting customers are far more -- they basically contribute to the system's cost and not to bring down the cost.

MR. ELSON:  The question I was trying to hone in on was when you actually have a customer who has 40 years of offset.  So let's say a developer, where they have put in a development and they have to pay a contribution in aid of construction, and the reason they have to pay a contribution in aid of construction is that 40 years of revenue is not enough to cover the full costs.  And so, in that case with that customer who is at the 40-year mark, let's say, if they stay with the system up to the 40-year mark but leave one day later, they have only paid for the incremental costs associated with their connection; they haven't paid for the rest of the distribution system that would be paid through the depreciation expense on rate base.  Right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Just a moment.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think, Mr. Elson, we might have to go back to our previous statement.  So it is true that any one customer that took the entire 40 years' worth of revenues to pay for their connection costs and the normalized system reinforcement costs would not be making additional contributions, but, as we have told you, there are safeguards within E.B.O. 188, and the fact that the rolling portfolio is averaging 1.5 means that in totality when you look at a class of new customers they have more than contributed their connection costs over that 40-year period.  And that is probably true of existing customers, too.  There are some customers who call the call centre all the time, and we may incur more costs on their behalf.  Obviously, they are not very happy customers, true, but, you know, I mean that is the principle of a cost of service rate making, that we have these broadly applied rate making principles, but these are deemed to be just and reasonable.

MR. ELSON:  So, you know, I am focusing on the customer basis, and I think you have agreed with me on the individual customer basis, but you are adding a caveat on a portfolio basis, and, on the portfolio basis because your PI is 1.5, you have paid back the connection cost on a portfolio basis before 40 years.  So let's say that it is 30 years.  And so, on a portfolio basis, if all of those customers stay for 30 years, it is still the case that, when you get to year 31, that is the -- they are just starting to pay for the rest of rate base; they are just starting to pay for that depreciation expense.  They are covering their connection costs up until that, let's say, 30-year mark on portfolio basis?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  For the one customer that takes 30 years to pay their connection costs, yes, that is the math for that customer.

MR. ELSON:  On a portfolio basis, it would be whatever the 1.5 equates to in terms of how long the revenue period is.  Fair?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Could you repeat that last piece, please?

MR. ELSON:  Because your rolling portfolio is 1.5, it will be paid off before 40 years, but you still have the situation where, in the earlier years, you are just paying back your connection cost.  You're not contributing to depreciation expense for the rest of rate base.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  And those are E.B.O. 188's prescribed guidelines.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I have one more question on JT4.24.  It may be one better left to a different panel, but I just want to make sure I don't miss it.  That's on page 25 of my compendium.

This is showing rate base increases from 2024 to 2028, and I would like an undertaking to provide the proportion of rate base in 2024 that is attributable to direct connection costs.  Should I be asking you folks for that, or should I be asking...?  You can scroll down the page to see where we are.  Should I be asking you folks for that, or should I be asking the capital panel?

I'm looking now at historic connection costs.  The historic connection costs from past customers, how much are those in existing rate base?  And if it can't be for 2024, it could be for 2023 or 2022.  And I'm looking for that as a number and as percentage of overall rate base.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I could clarify, are you asking about the numerator being capex and the denominator being rate base?  Is that what you are asking for?

MR. ELSON:  First of all, I'm looking at how much of the undepreciated rate base is connection costs from previous customers connecting.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think that would be --


MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Elson, I expect that, whomever you asked about this, it would be an undertaking.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  So we may as well deal with it now rather than push it to another panel.

For clarity, I think, if we're looking at 2024, I think what I heard you ask is how much of that $16.2 billion is attributable to all of the direct customer connection costs that are still remaining in rate base.  Is that right?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, thank you.

MR. STEVENS:  So I certainly can't promise that that's information that's available or could be put together, but, if the information is available, we will provide the answer.

MR. ELSON:  Best efforts and with whatever caveats would be fine.  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.

MR. STEVENS:  The caveats may be that it's impossible to be clear.

MR. ELSON:  That's a consequence of best efforts.  That's fine with me.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J10.8.
UNDERTAKING J10.8:  FOR 2024, AS INFORMATION IS AVAILABLE, ENBRIDGE TO ADVISE HOW MUCH OF THE $16.2 BILLION IS ATTRIBUTABLE TO ALL OF THE DIRECT CUSTOMER CONNECTION COSTS THAT ARE STILL REMAINING IN RATE BASE.


MR. ELSON:  I have no further questions for this panel.  Thank you very much.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  Up next is FRPO, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Good afternoon.  Mr. Court Reporter, can you hear me okay?  I'm assuming yes.

MR. MORAN:  Yes.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I've turned off my video again.  There is some instability I've had in the Internet service here.  I know most of the panel, but I would say good afternoon, Commissioners, and the witness panel.  My name is Dwayne Quinn and I'm here on behalf of FRPO.  We have a number of concerns, but our intervenor collaboration has allowed us to understand that these concerns are aligned with others, and especially my friend Mr. Rubenstein from Schools, so he will go over some of these concerns with the witnesses later.

Our specific area of interest, though, and I do this with some trepidation, is on the Enbridge compendium, on page 139.  I am going to ask for that to be brought up, if you would, Ms. Monforton.  Thank you.

Now, we actually appreciate the preparation of this compendium, because I was going to ask for a comparable type of assessment, and Enbridge has provided that.  I listened with some interest to the dialogue previously, and we'll need the transcript to ensure that I completely understand it, so I'm not going to go through any clarifying questions in that regard.

But I do want to offer Mr. Macpherson an opportunity to consider whether he wants to clarify an answer he gave to Mr. Elson, specifically when Mr. Macpherson, I believe, said that there was no future capital required in the horizon for these customers.

I paused, because, if I could ask, when the company needs to change the meter -- and likely the regulator, per Measurement Canada–prescribed regulations -- does the company treat that meter replacement, and the assets that go with it, as capital or operating?

MR. MACPHERSON:  If we could clarify that that type of future capital expense, I believe it's called an MSGI, is under utilization capital, not under customer connection capital.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, that's a good clarification.  But it would be included in your analysis for the impact of this table, which calculates the revenue horizon versus, you know, the potential for a CIAC for each customer?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I don't believe that it would change anything.  There is no estimate of future capital additions in the feasibility calculation, or in the budget of our base year.  If there is a budget, to be clear, there would be budget in the capital program for meter exchanges in 2024, but not due to new connecting customers in 2024, if that makes sense.

MR. QUINN:  That part makes sense, I think, Mr. Macpherson.  But did you take it into account in the economics you used to develop this table?

MR. MACPHERSON:  No.

MR. QUINN:  All right.  I just wanted to clarify that, because I was just concerned on the spot that you may not have considered that, but it sounds like you have.  Thank you.

So on behalf of my client, FRPO, I was happy to look at this information, yet it makes it hard to translate it to larger building with more individual residential units.  So I'm going to ask if, by way of undertaking, Enbridge would be able to provide a similar table, with the appropriate caveats that may be included after looking at it again from Mr. Elson, but if you would be able to provide it simply for a couple of apartments.

And I was looking at a range of apartments; the two I was considering is a three-storey, 24-unit apartment, and then a 12-storey, 200-unit apartment, that use the natural gas for both space and water heating.  And I would actually consider, if you have done a project similar to that in the last five years and want to use the connection cost for that type of building as your initial capital, I was just interested in what the impact would be for my client, looking at what potential contribution there would be over the respective revenue horizons.

MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Quinn, it's David Stevens speaking.  The table in front of us speaks collectively, I think, to the full customer connections cost or capital cost.  Do I understand correctly that what you are asking is, for the two example buildings you suggest, what would be the developer's contribution in aid under different revenue horizons?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Is that something that can be determined, Mr. Ahmad and Mr. Macpherson, with the -- I guess with the type of defining characteristics that Mr. Quinn has described?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Just a moment.  It would be helpful  -- we could do the calculation, but it would be helpful if Mr. Quinn, from one of his members, could provide an example of a project that the company has connected for a FRPO member, provide a specific address, and then we could conduct that analysis.  It might be difficult for us to go looking around to try to find a project example, because we would do this in this specific circumstance.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  So do I understand, Mr. Macpherson, that you would need more details than the sort of high-level examples that Mr. Quinn provided?

MR. MACPHERSON:  It would be helpful if you could provide us with exactly what you're looking for, like an address.  We could find the details of that address.  We would have to keep it confident in our analysis, what we provide in the undertaking, but I think it would be hard for us to quickly cite to find a building of that description and to rerun the feasibility.

MR. STEVENS:  Would it be possible for Enbridge Gas to identify, you know, a sample project of a five-storey building and a 20-storey building from the last couple of years, and just build off of that?

MR. QUINN:  I would be satisfied with that, Mr. Stevens.  I understand some of the complications.  And as soon as Mr. Macpherson said "confidentiality", I had considered that we could collect that information.  But then, it wouldn't be as helpful to the Board if it was confidential.

I came up with those numbers as defining a range for different types of apartment buildings, but I would be happy with what Mr. Stevens said, if one is found at five storeys and one is found at 20 storeys, whatever number of units are in those buildings, that just gives us a sensitivity analysis on the implications for potential apartment buildings and their choice of natural gas along these revenue horizon lines.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Mr. Macpherson and Mr. Ahmad, if we make whatever reasonable assumptions we have to make for those two types of buildings, is this an analysis we can put together?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I believe so.  We could come up with some parameters on that; we could do that analysis.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  We can provide that undertaking, Mr. Quinn.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J10.9.

UNDERTAKING J10.9:  REFERRING TO THE ENBRIDGE COMPENDIUM, EXHIBIT k10.2, TAB 39, ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE A SIMILAR TABLE FOR TWO TYPES OF APARTMENT BUILDINGS, A SAMPLE PROJECT OF A FIVE-STOREY BUILDING AND A 20-STOREY BUILDING FROM THE LAST COUPLE OF YEARS, THAT USE THE NATURAL GAS FOR BOTH SPACE AND WATER HEATING, TO SHOW THE DEVELOPER'S CONTRIBUTION IN AID UNDER DIFFERENT REVENUE HORIZONS.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar, thank you, Mr. Stevens, for the clarifications, and Mr. Macpherson, the panel.  Any simplifying assumptions you make, that is fine; just note them out.  We are not looking for precision, just a range of what we would expect.

And with that, Commissioner Moran, those are my questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Next, we have the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers, Mr. Buonaguro.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, Commissioners, and good afternoon, witness panel.  As Commissioner Moran mentioned, my name is Mr. Michael Buonaguro, I am counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.

And most of my members, or OGVG's members, are large customers.  And that is the one section of your customer base that we haven't actually been talking about so far in this customer connections policy panel.  So I just wanted to wrap up a few small points with respect to large customers.

My understanding is that you are not proposing any changes to the status quo with respect to your connection policies for large customers.  Is that correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so when you have a discussion about things like changing the 40-year horizon applicable to residential customers, and things like that which we just had with Mr. Elson, for example, that is not directly relevant to the connection policy for large customers?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Not necessarily.  To the extent that their revenue horizon were to become changed under the Board's decision, that could impact large customers as well.  At this time, we have made no such proposal to change the 20-year term of revenue horizon.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  That is why I mention, I don't think it's -- it hasn't been discussed or proposed because already, under E.B.O. 188, the connection or, sorry, the revenue horizon is 20 years.

In addition, the one thing that hasn't been mentioned and I think is worth pointing out is that under the Board's decision in EB-2020-0094, Enbridge had approved the early-allocation factor.  I am assuming the panel is well aware of that --


MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes, we are.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- since it was your application.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And, under that, that mechanism as I understand how it operates and it was approved by the Board, for large customers you actually allocate responsibility for connection projects specifically to each individual large customer, and then each individual large customer contracts with the company for service under a specific amount of time.  And, for the most part, that term of the contract will pay for the cost of their connection, so there is no capital contribution.  But if they choose to do something less than a term that pays for the full amount, they actually end up paying a contribution.  Is that right, generally speaking?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I think so.  You said a lot in that statement.  But that would be correct, more or less.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And so part of the reason I mention it here is because -- and it was on the screen a second ago, K10.2, which is your compendium for this panel, if we put up the table 1?  Again, it was the last exhibit that was shown on the screen, so table -- it is page 139.

So, like Mr. Quinn, I appreciated receiving this last night; I found it very helpful.  However, my understanding is that the -- if we look at 2024, the revenue horizon, 40 years, and as you went through with Mr. Elson, the $304 million that is showing there, that is the total budget for all customer connections, net of calculated or proposed capital contributions for 2024.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But wouldn't that include large customers, large-customer connections?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes, it does.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So in theory, to make this table specific to this issue of the 40-year horizon for residential customers, you would have to deduct from the $304 million budget the amount that is attributable to large-customer connections, wouldn't you?

MR. MACPHERSON:  As I think we have answered before, that it is tricky.  Like, how we have tried to create this to be helpful to the Board, it would be tricky to explain how this -- how large customers would be affected by such a change.  We are not reducing the revenue horizon below 20; we have kept it at 20.  So they would be unchanged.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am not suggesting that it would change.  What I am suggesting is if we are focused on the impact, for example, of reducing the revenue horizon for residential customers from 40 to 30, for example, and your starting point is a $304 million capital budget, it is misleading or potentially misleading to include all the costs for large customers before making the deduction?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think we can agree that this is a very simplistic table, here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think we also highlighted the other assumptions, for example, assuming a single average cost of connection, assuming that everybody pays the new CIAC, et cetera.  So it is really meant to be illustrative, the order-of-magnitude impact.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.  But I don't know; do you know how much of that $304 million would be directly attributable to large customers?

MR. MACPHERSON:  It would be best asked of the capital panel.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then, for the revenue horizons below, so I understand how you came to the $304 million, because that is the budget.  That is in the evidence; you calculated that as part of the application and then updated it recently.

For the 238, the 214 and the 146, my understanding is that what you did was you took the customers being attached or proposed to be attached in the year, and then calculated how much capital could we spend before you have to start doing a capital contribution, which I understand that you can do that in an abstract.  You don't need to know what the capital project even is; you just know how much capital those customers support, based on current rates.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, when you did that calculation, again, did you include the large customers?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes, we did.  So, as I said previously, large customers would not have been affected in any way until such time that we went below 20 years.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, even if you are assuming that this whole exercise of looking at changing the horizons would apply to large customers, and I am not suggesting it would, but I take your point though.  So you did include them.

So again, if we are focused on residential customers, you would want to take out that revenue to get a more accurate number?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Sorry, I don't think I understand what you are asking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, if the concern is the residential customers -- and my understanding is that that is the far, the vast majority of the connections would be residential customers, and they would fall into this bucket.  The problem is that the $304 million includes large customers --


MR. MACPHERSON:  Hmm-mm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- and the revenue projections that you are using include large customers.  And without knowing how material it is, I don't know how skewed these results are.  It may be very small.  For example, it may be that the connection costs for large customers that should be taken out of the $304 million might be $4 million, which may -- wouldn't have much of an impact.  And I think the customers that you included out of the 40,000 or so that Mr. Elson referred to might only be a few hundred large customers.  I don't know.

I am just saying that, right now, the two groups of customers which have already differing connection policies are being included in the same bucket when you are doing this analysis.  That is my only point.  I am just trying to get a handle, and maybe you can think about it, through undertaking, how material it is to your illustration, because I understand it is illustrative.  But it might be worth thinking about ways to extract the large customers so that you can focus on the residential customers, which I think is the focus of the proposal, for example, that Mr. Neme put in his evidence.

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, Mr. Buonaguro, it is David Stevens for Enbridge:  I don't know how responsive this will be for you but, in terms of order of magnitude, I believe Exhibit I.ADR.6, table 1, breaks out the $304 million into eight different categories, so that one can see to some degree where the costs come from, so it is under 2024 in sort of the third column down, in the top half of the table.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, so if we look at that table -- and I thank you.  That is very helpful.  But in looking at it, out of 304 million, can you tell me out of those categories which ones would fall into the residential current 40-year-horizon bucket and how much would be in the large-customer bucket?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I don't think this panel would be able to answer that question.  Maybe there is something else we could provide that would be of use?  Like I think what I hear you are asking is you are wanting to know what impacts a change would make on these customers, so we would have to know on what basis.  So, right now, I mean right now, we use 20-year-revenue horizon, so what we agree we could provide for Mr. Quinn, providing a 15- and 10-year analysis for a typical greenhouse, would that be --


MR. QUINN:  No.

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, Mr. Buonaguro, I am concerned that, if this gets pushed to the next panel, they won't know what revenue horizon is applying to each of these, so, if it is acceptable to you, perhaps it is most appropriate for us to take this away by way of undertaking and indicate which and, to the extent we can, how much of the subcategories of customer connections costs are subject to or currently subject to a revenue horizon of less than 40 years, with reference to table 1 in ADR 6.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  I mean I would actually make it, I think, simpler.  So maybe I can give it a try.  If you go back to table 1 from the Enbridge compendium, all I am trying to find out is to what extent, and could you try to scrub the large users out of this analysis?  Because I don't think anybody is proposing to do anything with industrial customers or large customers.  I think the concern is about residential customers and the impact on them.  I think you have inadvertently included the impact of large customers.  It seemed from that last exhibit that Mr. Stevens brought out that it could be as much as 60 million of that is actually large customers, which wouldn't be part of this analysis, at all.  So, if you could take a look at your table 1 and see if you can, to the extent it is reasonable, scrub the impact of large customers, that is all I am asking for, and I -- understanding that it is for illustrative purposes.


MR. STEVENS:  We can do that on a best efforts basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  I apologize for jumping in.  I was going to ask a similar question.  It would actually be more helpful if the original undertaking, the information that you were originally, Mr. Stevens, willing to provide by way of undertaking with reference to ADR 6 was also provided.

MR. STEVENS:  Happy to do both.  Maybe I could play it all back, just to make sure that it is clear what we are doing.  Is that acceptable?  So, with reference to table 1 from Enbridge Gas' compendium, Enbridge will on a best efforts basis indicate what the numbers for 2024 would be if industrial and large customers who are subject to a different revenue horizon are removed from the analysis.  Additionally, with reference to table 1 in ADR 6, Enbridge Gas will indicate which of the categories in the system-access category are subject to a revenue horizon of less than 40 years.

MR. MILLAR:  We will mark that as J10.10.
UNDERTAKING J10.10:  WITH REFERENCE TO TABLE 1 FROM ENBRIDGE GAS' COMPENDIUM, EXHIBIT k10.2, ENBRIDGE, ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS, TO INDICATE WHAT THE NUMBERS FOR 2024 WOULD BE IF INDUSTRIAL AND LARGE CUSTOMERS WHO ARE SUBJECT TO A DIFFERENT REVENUE HORIZON ARE REMOVED FROM THE ANALYSIS.  ADDITIONALLY, WITH REFERENCE TO TABLE 1 IN ADR 6, ENBRIDGE GAS WILL INDICATE WHICH OF THE CATEGORIES IN THE SYSTEM-ACCESS CATEGORY ARE SUBJECT TO A REVENUE HORIZON OF LESS THAN 40 YEARS.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Just one last question, and this comes from the last bit of questioning that Mr. Elson put to you in terms of how much does a customer who has been on the system for 40 years actually contribute to the existing system.  I am asking -- this came up.  I am thinking about it as he said it, and I am just going to put it to you because you might know because I certainly don't.  My understanding is that the PI analysis at the outset assumes that rates are flat for the full 40-year period.  Is that correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  It uses, yes, it uses present rates.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, and it assumes that those present rates would be in place unaltered for 40 years?

MR. MACPHERSON:  As are all other costs, too.  They're all, like everything is in the present and the discounted rate is prescribed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.  Maybe that helps with my answer.  So, for example, the O&M rate that you assume is flat, as well?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes, it is a present O&M rate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, but during the course of the 40 years rates will go up beyond increases in O&M, for example, as the system changes, right, as assets are replaced?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Then it is expected that rate growth will cover those changes in costs over time, but this just the feasibility test.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. MACPHERSON:  At that moment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, and I am raising it because I just -- from the way you presented it, I just intuitively don't think it is that simple, to say that someone who has been on for 40 years didn't contribute to the system because rates change over that 40 years and at some point presumably they are going to complaining that they are subsidizing the people who come after them.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. MACPHERSON:  I have to admit I am pulling over how we have answered that and, once I think more on it, how we responded to Mr. Elson with maybe speaking to someone in rate design that that is a correct statement because I don't want to overstate my understanding of that principle.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Because my understanding is that at any point in time you can point to four different customers and arguably one of them is subsidizing the other and another one is doing fine but that it is really over a period of time that rates are based on.  It is not a static concept.


MR. MACPHERSON:  That is true, and that is fair, and I think our minds are more focused on new business policy and how we test people coming into the system and not after that.  That is a rates concept that we are not -- I am not qualified to answer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  We will take the afternoon break and come back at 3:20.
--- Recess taken at 3:06 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:26 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  I think Energy Probe is up next.  Mr. Ladanyi.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you, Sir.  Good afternoon, Commissioners and the panel.  My name is Tom Ladanyi.  I represent Energy Probe.  First, could you turn to the Energy Probe compendium.  I sent it out a few days ago.  Mr. Millar, can we have an exhibit number for that.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes it's K10.4.
EXHIBIT K10.4:  ENERGY PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 10.


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Can you go to the bottom of the first page, under tab 1.  Keep going down, please.  Yes, there.

I want to draw to your attention the date of this document.  This document was finalized, if you like, with the decision of January 30, 1998, and the result -- and there was an interim report prior to this, dated August 1996.  I will personally disclose that I was involved in negotiations in 1996 and 1997, and possibly even earlier.  And later on, I wasn't, but I certainly know a lot more about this than probably many of you.  But I won't say anything, because I'm not supposed to give evidence.

Anyway, now can you turn to tab 2.  And the second page, please; next page.  You see the date of this document, which is -- this is Appendix B from the Distribution System Code, and last revised October 21, 2009.  So there is roughly 11 years between the two documents.  And I don't want you to necessarily have to recall it, but there were lot of changes in the Ontario energy industry in those years.  Specifically, there was the Energy Competition Act, you might recall, which was actually approved by the legislature in December of 1998, so it was roughly 11 months after E.B.O. 188.

And the reason why I mention this is, when E.B.O. 188 was produced, would you agree with me that there was no issue about competition between electricity and gas?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Just to confirm, are you referring to the Electricity Competition Act?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Okay.  I would agree, based on my reading of the documents and filings from the creation of E.B.O. 188, that fuel competition was not an issue.

MR. LADANYI:  So would you say that E.B.O. 188 is really reflective of a past period, before electricity was essentially deregulated, if you like, before Ontario Hydro was broken up, and it reflects a different time, and perhaps it might be outdated; that perhaps the Distribution System Code better reflects current conditions?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I don't think we necessarily agree with that.  The original E.B.O. 188, as you have said, was approved in 1998.  However, the original negotiations and establishment of the Distribution System Code, to the best of my understanding, was in 2000 and had further amendments in the future.  And I don't know what has changed from 2000 to 2009, but I would say they were created in the same era, by my view and understanding of those rules -- or those guidelines, excuse me.

MR. LADANYI:  So the differences between what is in E.B.O. 188 and what is in the Distribution System Code came up in a recent case, the Elexicon Energy application for ICM, and it's EB-2022-0024.  Do any of you know anything about that case?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I'm familiar with the case.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  And that case, amongst other issues, dealt with service for a large subdivision called North Brooklyn.  It was of 10,000 homes to be built over a period of years, and it came up in the proceeding that Enbridge was going to provide gas service to the subdivision without any contribution whatsoever, but that Elexicon Energy had to actually ask for a $27 million contribution from the developers for that subdivision, because they were following the Distribution System Code.  Are you aware of that?  That was big subject in that hearing.

MR. MACPHERSON:  I'm not qualified to speak to the nature of that capital request and surety by Elexicon.  However, what I understand about it is that there were special circumstances to do with the infrastructure being created for that subdivision that was extraordinary and unique from what are traditional subdivisions.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I agree with that.  There were other issues, of course, that were raised.  It's not strictly about that, but certainly a discussion about that was there.  And it certainly appears from that case that the current policies, when you compare E.B.O. 188 to the Distribution System Code, the current policies actually favour gas.  And, really, they favour gas because of the very long revenue horizon of 40 years for gas and only 25 years for electricity.

MR. STEVENS:  It's David Stevens speaking.  If that's a question, Mr. Ladanyi, can you point us to the decision in the Elexicon Energy case?  Or perhaps some evidence that's filed there?  Just so that we have context to answer that supposition.  Because I don't think -- I will speak for myself -- other than being broadly aware of that project, I really don't know what was driving the contribution from the DSC rules versus what was happening on the gas side.  So I don't think it's fair to ask the witnesses, who are only broadly familiar with this, to agree or disagree with your supposition without having some more details for us to be able to use to respond.

MR. LADANYI:  This late in the case, I don't want to introduce evidence from another case, so I will just leave Elexicon, but I will use it as a lead-up to a discussion about the differences between Appendix B in the Distribution System Code and, in fact, Appendix B also in E.B.O. 188.

Would you agree with me that the differences actually favour gas over electricity?  You must agree with that.

MR. MACPHERSON:  I would say, as I answered previously, that those revenue horizons for E.B.O. 188 were created in 1998, and then the Distribution System Code in 2000, at that time, was established at 25.  I'm not familiar with the reasoning of the experts and people involved in creating that rule, but, at that time, that made sense.  So I don't think, beyond that, I'm able to compare.  It may have to do with what -- my minimal understanding is that it had to do with the useful life of electricity assets, but, beyond that, I don't know.

MR. LADANYI:  Just on that -- and this is certainly a financial question -- when you are calculating a discounted cash flow, surely a discounted cash flow that's present-valued at over 40 years is going to give you a better result than one that is present-valued over 25 years.  This is a very simple question.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Is there an inconsistency between Enbridge's request for an increase in equity thickness, which you partially justify by the fact that electric distributors have 40 percent equity thickness, but you are opposed to using the same customer attachment policies as electrics?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mr. Ladanyi, I think it is difficult to pick on a particular issue and compare it the way that you have compared it, in the assessment of business risk.  So I am really not able to answer that question.

MR. LADANYI:  As a general policy, do you think that the OEB should favour one form of energy over another?  Or the OEB should have uniform rules that do not favour gas over electricity, for example?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I do believe the rules are informed by a particular set of factors driving the setting up of the rule at a point in time.  So I don't know if I can conclude that different rules necessarily mean one is being favoured over the other.  I think we can take comfort in the very extensive processes that -- I certainly don't know much about the Distribution System Code, but it appears that it has been revised over a period of nine years.

But E.B.O. 188 in and of its own, I understood, was a multi-year process with a lot of participation by several parties.  And so we can only conclude that the process itself was fair, and therefore the outcome was.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Now let me go to another area of my cross-examination.  And I sent a note to Ms. Innis, saying that I would be referring to my compendium, the Energy Probe compendium from panel 4, which is, I believe, Exhibit K7. 1.  Can we have that, please?  Thank you.

And if you can go to tab 2, sorry, tab 2, which is -- which I downloaded July 5, 2023 from a website called "Urbanize Toronto."  And there, if you go to the next page, and the next page after that, please?  Sorry, they are not numbered; obviously, I am not that good with computers.

Here is a sketch showing many tall buildings in this area.  And I showed that a few days ago, essentially Yonge and Eglinton and Bayview and Eglinton, which we will talk about in a minute, Davisville and St. Clair, and so on.

If you can turn the next page, please?  And there is shown existing and proposed large new buildings around Bayview and Eglinton.  And will you, let's say, trust me, I walked around the area.  And existing buildings all have gas meters and regulators in front of it, so I assume they are all Enbridge customers.  Would I be right in assuming that the new buildings are likely to be Enbridge customers, as well?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I wouldn't be able to confirm, without doing some investigation.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  And I don't want you to do it; we are going to have a hypothetical discussion here.  So if they are Enbridge customers and they require gas service, do you have a lot of spare capacity on the gas mains on Eglinton and on Bayview that would serve these large condominium developments?  And specifically, like, you think the -- like, in fact, the whole system in the city, do have a lot of spare capacity?  Or are you kind of short on capacity?

MR. MACPHERSON:  As I said, I wouldn’t be able to answer with -- it very site specific.  I mean, when you say capacity, capacity for what?  A house, a business, a high-rise tower like this?  It would have to be evaluated on a -- on the particulars of an individual building and an individual address.

MR. LADANYI:  So let me give you a scenario whereby the first builder comes to you and says I need so much gas.  And you look at it and you do some calculations on your network, and say, yes, we can supply that, fine.  And then the next one comes.  And pretty soon, you actually find out that you need to do something, that you don't have enough gas, that you have to build some kind of reinforcement, building a new regulating station.

Would you be actually asking the builder who is going to cause this need for additional capacity, would you ask them for a contribution?  How would you deal with that situation?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Again, it depends on the particulars.  But with a proper planning process, our operations team would foresee the growth going on, evaluate the need for connections, future connections.  And to the extent that some reinforcement needs to occur in the system, again, it depends on the particulars.  It is possible that it may be normalized and spread out over -- across all systems.

If it was very, you know, real and direct to these particular customers, it would be applied directly to their feasibility evaluations driving their contribution.  So again, it always matters, the particular, but what we really aspire to is to see what is coming in our planning process and, you know, to be ahead of it.  We don't want that situation where the first customer pays, or doesn't pay -- or sorry they pay, and that then everyone else gets a free ride.

And that was part of the reason behind why we created the hourly allocation factor, was when we saw a forecast of large customers in our growth forecast, that we could apply those costs to the initial customers.  And then other customers, as they came along, that they would pay on the same basis.

MR. LADANYI:  But the problem is harder in a big city like Toronto, where there are many customers and they come on at different times.  It is not like a new community, and that is what I want to discuss with you.

So let's say you need reinforcement, and reinforcement would be part of your reinforcement budget.  But these specific customers that actually resulted in the need for reinforcement might never be charged for it, because reinforcement might be in two years or in three years, or it might have been actually before any of these buildings are built.

So all the customers on your system, everywhere, in fact, even in Ottawa, would be paying for a reinforcement at Bayview and Eglinton?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Sorry, I am missing what you are asking, Mr. Ladanyi, of this question.  Can you please repeat it?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  You mentioned a minute ago that your -- I think your planning staff or whatever, looks at long-term needs and plans reinforcements so that you would have enough capacity to add whatever new construction is going on, let's say, in Toronto.  So I presume that everybody will be paying for this new capacity, new reinforcement.  And all Enbridge customers, it goes into a pool.  It is not allocated to Toronto.  It is actually everybody pays for it; that's why I said even people in Ottawa would pay for it.

Or, if reinforcement is required after these buildings are built, it would be exactly the same thing, wouldn't it?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Can we just confer for a moment, please?

If I could answer:  To the extent that a reinforcement is, I will call it non-specific, yes, that does get rolled up to normalize reinforcement costs, and would be applied in the sum of all those projects to customers connecting anywhere.

But in cases like this, this is a specific reinforcement that would be, to very clear and known large customers in this case, that that would be -- they would be more likely to be bearing these costs in their feasibility.  So this is a very -- I mean, you have a very site-specific area requiring growth; it looks like a whole area being transformed, by looking at this picture; I don't know the area.

MR. LADANYI:  I will ask you a question, but you will probably not answer it:  Do you actually ever ask condominium developers who are building all these large buildings around Yonge and Eglinton, Bayview and Eglinton and down in St. Clair, do you ever actually ask them for a contribution?  You must know that.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Absolutely.

MR. LADANYI:  You do ask them to pay a contribution?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Absolutely, if the revenue doesn't support the cost, they pay.  There is no -- it depends on the situation.  A large condominium, if it has -- a good example, it has a bulk meter, and it is served under a general service rate, that is not a lot of revenue.  It may be higher volume, and it depends on the cost of the system, but they would end up likely maybe paying a contribution.  But again, it is always in the particulars of the case.

MR. LADANYI:  I am going to move to another area, just for a minute; I am coming to the end.

Under E.B.O. 188, an individual project has to achieve a profitability index of 0.8.  Is that right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. LADANYI:  And if you ask the contribution from a customer in that project, that would only be for the projects that are below 0.8, to bring it to 0.8.  Is that right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Now a marginal customer, which -- I mean a customer that is barely feasible, at 0.8, that customer would have to remain attached, and the customer of Enbridge for 40 years.  Essentially, what I am trying to say is that that customer would not reach the profitability index of 0.8 until the 40th year on the marginal project that is at 0.8.  Wouldn't that be right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  So a couple of things about that:  Number 1, we have -- we were clear in our decision and reaffirmed by the Board in the EB-2020-0094 decision that, in an attempt to manage our investment portfolio that we did not apply the discretion of going below one on any connection project.  Secondly, I think back to before the break we had the concepts -- and I think was the one who was muddled.  Again, we are talking about new business policies for connecting customers.  That is an incremental test.  But we don't draw a circle around customers after that.  There is not -- we don't have 3.8 million rates, one for every customer, and we look at them in that way.  We have a broad system of customers who have been, many customers, millions of customers have been customers for decades, who, based on that approach, have long paid for their cost.  But customers share their costs together.  We have a postage-stamp rate make-making system, and they share in those costs together.  So we wouldn't look at it that way, and I don't think that is the way we -- I don't believe that is a regulatory approach that we have in this province.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  At one time, I was a customer of Direct Energy and had a renal water heater.  Then, I decided it made sense to buy out the water heater, and I was charged an exit fee which covered, apparently, the undepreciated value of the water heater.  But you are not contemplating that you would ever charge an exit fee for a customer who leaves the system before they have really paid for all their costs?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is not correct.  I think I heard two negatives in there, so forgive me if I didn't understand that right.  We are not ruling out exit fees.  We are just not proposing one at this time.  I think in my previous testimony I suggested that exit fees do have their place in the regulatory tool kit.  I can think of instances where we have used the equivalent of an exit fee even within regulated.  I think gas supplier contracts, bundled supply and transportation contracts pre-1988 perhaps had some consequences for customers.  So we are not ruling out exit fees as a regulatory tool.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, so, and you know there are quite a few customers converting to heat pumps now.  They appear to be quite popular, and there are different kinds of heat pumps.  I am not going to discuss the economics.  Let's say, if a customer who is on a main that was only extended, let's say, 5 years ago, and that customer suddenly decides I am -- I don't want to be a gas customer; I want a heat pump, there will be no exit fee for that kind of customer right now.  There will be -- the cost of services that were provided for that customer will be paid by other ratepayers, Enbridge ratepayers.  Is that right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  So, Mr. Ladanyi, are you suggesting that it is not simply the acquisition of a heat pump, that the customer is physically disconnecting from the gas system as a consequence of the heat pump?

MR. LADANYI:  That --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Five years after acquiring a furnace, presumably, to heat their home?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I am not talking from a customer's point of view.  I am talking about from your point of view.  So it is immaterial what customer is paying.  That doesn't matter to you.  What it really is should matter to you is what costs are essentially left with the remaining Enbridge Gas customers.  And the costs are that there was an investment made for this particular customer maybe 5 years ago, maybe 10 years ago, and that investment would consist of some main service line, a meter, a pressure regulator, and now, these costs, somebody will call them stranded, but they are not actually stranded.  You are just probably going to leave them, leave everything there except the meter and the regulator, and other customers will be paying for this.  The meter might in fact be repurposed and used on other installations.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  So, first of all, I think I would say we do not at this point believe we have a significant number of customers disconnecting from the system.  So, to the extent that a particular address might not use gas, I think it will probably be two-step process.  A decision to physically remove the assets feeding the area or into the home, you know, would require a conclusion that gas will never be used on the premises.  That may or may not be true, so I think certainly, if we see more instances of this happening, that is consideration.  And, yes, under postage-stamp rate-making, you know, we don't attribute specific assets to specific customers.  Once customers are attached, they become part of a pool.  And under postage-stamp rate-making, everyone partakes of those costs, so, if some customers have left the system, then those costs are borne by the remaining customers on the system.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  These are all my questions.  Thank you, Commissioners.  Thank you, court reporter, too.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Schools is up next, Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good afternoon, Panel.  I have a number of sort of disparate areas that are left to be canvassed.  I would like to do that with the panel.  I do have a compendium.  I was wondering if we could get that marked.  Mr. Millar, if we could get that marked?

MR. MILLAR:  K10.5.
EXHIBIT K10.5:  SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 10.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe where we can start is Enbridge's compendium.  If we can go to page 139, this is the table that we have been talking about a number of times today.  My first question is:  Am I correct that costs with respect to community expansion projects are not included in this?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I was wondering, when I look at the 40-year revenue horizon, this is showing what are essentially expenditures that would be put into rate base, so really the net costs of connections.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering if you were able to provide -- and, really, we can look at 2024 -- what are the capital contributions that are required already of customers or you are forecasting for customers to support the $304 million of amounts that would be placed in rate increase?  Do you know that?  I don't know if that is on the record.  I haven't seen that.

MR. STEVENS:  I believe that is undertaking J10.6.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That will show us the capital contributions that are already being forecast to be paid in 2024?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Then, conceptually whatever that number is based on your forecast, based on this simplistic model as we've talked about, the difference between 304 and 238 would be added that, correct, in the scenario of a 30-year revenue horizon?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  You are asking me if the difference between 304 and 238 would be added to whatever CIACs we had for -- that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Now, we have talked a little but about this table, and I think you have provided your views that it is a sort of simplistic explanation and calculation.  I was wondering if you could provide essentially how you have done that calculation?  Presumably, there is some spreadsheet where you have inputted those assumptions so we can actually have a better understanding of actually how you are doing it.  Is that something you can provide?

MR. MACPHERSON:  We can provide that information.

MR. MILLAR:  J10.11.

UNDERTAKING J10.11:  ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE A DOCUMENT SHOWING THE CALCULATIONS OF THE FIGURES IN THE TABLE AT PAGE 139 OF ENBRIDGE'S COMPENDIUM.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, you would agree with me that what is a central feature of E.B.O. 188 and the community expansion decision is ensuring that there is a PI of expansion projects no less than 1?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand the feasibility analysis, the E.B.O. 188 analysis, whatever word we want to use, it assumes that once a customer connects in the 10-year connection period they remain a customer through the entire 40-year period.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, if the project was to be in service in 2024, a customer who signs up in 2024 is forecasted to stay on the system until 2064.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And at the last year of the connection horizon, so year 10 give or take, they would be on the system as well until 2064.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand from panel 1 and some of the high-level discussions that were had -- Ms. Giridhar, you were there -- with respect to the energy transition discussions, I understood that, in the Guidehouse analysis, either the electrification or the diversification option, customers would really only be on the system at that time if there is use of RNG and hydrogen.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That was the assumption of the Guidehouse report, that I believe the level of methane remaining on the system was a fraction of what it was today and compensated for by CCUS or carbon capture, but the vast majority was hydrogen or RNG.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we are going to assume a customer is going to be on the system in 2064, generally speaking, they would have to be taking service from Enbridge, primarily through hydrogen.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  With the caveat that the Guidehouse study was a pathway analysis.  It was not necessarily a forecast of the future.  It is one of multiple pathways and, in that pathway, the emissions associated with a gaseous fuel were addressed through fuel substitution of RNG and hydrogen.

I think the CER study, for instance, assumed that people would continue to have natural gas in their homes, or some proportion would, and then that would be compensated for by direct carbon capture, negative emissions associated with that.

So I think it depends, I mean, on what pathway you consider.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, that was 2050.  I'm talking 2064.  We're talking about the 40-year connection horizon.  Is it your expectation that customers who connect in 2024 will be on the system in 2064?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  They could be.  I think, as we have -- we are very clear that the unabated use of natural gas has to decline to meet climate goals, and we are also very clear that non-emitting electricity would play a very significant role.  So, while we have modelled -- while Guidehouse modelled these two scenarios, you know, there is myriad scenarios in between, but one that we actually think could play out, depending on government policies, is that people stay connected to the gas system.  It becomes a reliability and resilience play.  At that point, obviously, the amount of energy that is used is vastly lower than what is used today, because of a combination of energy efficiency, high-efficiency appliances, and so on.  And the need for the gaseous fuel on the occasions that it is used is addressed through low-carbon fuels, but it would be a much lower number than what is being used today.  So we see that as entirely possible.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me that a customer who connects -- sorry.  Of all of the customers who connect in 2024, at least some of them will exit the natural gas system by 2064.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  It is possible that some of them would exit.  It is also possible that they stay on the system for the resiliency and reliability benefits.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me that the likelihood of them leaving the system is greater today than it would have been when E.B.O. 188 was developed?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Maybe I would throw just a response.  Looking at -- and I know it has been on the record -- what's happening in the Province of Quebec with Hydro Quebec and the joint program they have with Énergir, they are using a 40-year revenue horizon for their new gas connections with heat pumps because that has emerged as a problem on their system.  This is a heating-first, electricity-first jurisdiction that has come to the conclusion that combining gas and electricity is a key aspect of managing the amount of peak electricity production they need to create, managing the local infrastructure that needs to be invested in, and is one of the most -- is a valuable solution for ensuring the future GHG emission goals of the Province of Quebec.

So we would say yes.  And I think, in talk of what Mr. Ladanyi questioned about heat pumps, the trends we are seeing are that heat pumps, yes, they are gaining a lot of market share.  They are gaining market share over air conditioners.  They are not gaining markets share over heat pumps; it's gas and heat pumps as being the trend that we are seeing.  Customers are making the least possible investment in upgrading their electricity infrastructure to be able to heat their home with the best combination of fuels.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, just to back up to the question I actually asked, if I can recall it.

Is it your evidence that a customer who is going onto the system for the first time in 2024, they are more likely to stay on the system for 40 years than a customer who, for the first time, went on the system when E.B.O. 188 was created?  Is that your view?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  I think we can agree that energy transition, as a concept, has very much matured within the last decade.  I think we talked about the last five years to 10 years.  So it's fair to assume that, in 1998, though Kyoto was already in play, we probably weren't talking about emissions to the extent that we do today.

So, to answer your question, there is greater uncertainty than there was in 1998.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand the feasibility analysis, the E.B.O. 188 analysis assumes no change in average annual consumption per customer for the 40 years.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That's right.  E.B.O. 188 uses only estimated volumes and present rates, present everything.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I might just say, Mr. Rubenstein, that the impact of volumes on the calculation can be addressed through rate design measures and, as fixed charges have grown over time, it can neutralize the impact of declining volume.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, we will have that discussion in phase 3.  But, for the purposes of where we are today, you would agree me that average consumptions are declining?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you would agree with me that, with the increased high efficiency of gas appliances, that is likely to reduce average consumption further in the next 40 years?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me that average consumption is also likely to decline because of the DSM plan that you have implemented and the requirement, or the incentive, for absolute reductions in gas use?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me, as well, that some customers will transition off some their gas appliances.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR: Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So am I correct that, all else being equal, if there are fewer customers on the system than forecast in your feasibility assessment, all else being equal, the PI will be lower?

Let me put it a different way.  I apologize, I wasn't entirely clear.  If customers do leave the system, your PI will be lower than forecast.  Correct?  The actual PI.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm guess I'm having some difficulty because these are two separate concepts.  So are you asking me if customers -- if you are assuming that 40,000 customers come on the system in 2024 and we achieve a PI of 1 in total over those customers, if some of them leave 20 years later, we would not have reached a PI of 1 in retrospect?  The answer is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we have a project.  It has a forecast PI of 1.  It involves a forecast of a certain number of customers coming on the system, over the connection horizon.  Let's assume they all end up coming on the connection horizon, but some of them exit within 40 years.

All else being equal, your PI will be below 1.  The actual PI will end up being below 1.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think, Mr. Rubenstein, you are asking us about the benefit of hindsight.  At a future point in time, 20 years down the road or some such time, would we have hit a PI of 1?  The assumption of reaching a PI of 1 would not be achieved if customers leave within the 40-years horizon, we can agree with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And let's imagine the same project; calculate a PI of 1.  All else being equal, because you've admitted that we know that average consumption is going to decline, the project won't have a PI of 1.0.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Again, our view in this situation is we should be adopting a straight fixed variable methodology for rate-making.  And if we were to do that, as long as customers remain on the system, even if they use less gas, we would reach the PI of 1.0.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What happens if their demand decreases, their demand decreases over time?  So the same scenario, but now we have your phase 3 -- your phase 3 position or request with respect to changing the rate structure.  But now, over time, demand decreases.  Will the PI remain at 1.0, or will it be below?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mr. Rubenstein, again, keeping within the confines of a feasibility calculation and assessing PI at a point in time, and revisiting that PI at a future point in time and the assumptions bear out to be different from reality, I think that is the context in which you are asking this question.  Is that correct?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Only put aside the context; I asked what I thought was pretty simple question.  We know demands are going to decrease so, in that scenario, all things being equal, the PI will be below 1.0.  You raised the issue that that is better dealt with, with your proposal with respect to split variable demand rates; I forget the acronym.  And now I am asking.  So let's just talk about demand.  If demand decreases over the 40 years, all else being equal, the PI will also be below 1.0.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  So it would depend on which proposal gets accepted.  So if I could just -- if you could just bear with me.

So the proposal to have rate fixed variable demand charges, in that scenario, if the demand were to decrease, that is correct in that the revenue attributable to the customer would reduce.  But I just do note that to the extent what we see in the future is the adoption of hybrid heating and so on, that may not reduce the demand, because you would continue to have the same peak demand, because you would be using gas on peak.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so if the goal of E.B.O. 188 in the community expansion decision is to have projects that reach a PI of at least 1.0, isn't it important to ensure that the assumptions that go into that feasibility analysis are as accurate as possible?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  We can agree with that, Mr. Rubenstein, again with the caveat that "accurate as possible" is in the context of what we know today.  And we have already talked about the uncertainty regarding how the energy transition might unfold.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so if we think that some customers who attach, starting now, will leave the system before 40 years, we know that average consumption is declining and will continue to decline, and we know the possibility that demand may decrease, then aren't the assumptions that we are currently using not the most accurate as possible?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think the purpose of table 2 in the Enbridge compendium was to sort of sketch that out a little bit in terms of, you know, what would be the impact on the blended revenue horizon of different assumptions of customers leaving the system.  So, in that sense, you can see that if we continue to assume no customers leave the system, then the blended revenue horizon is 40 years; if you assume something else, you know, that number is lower.

So Enbridge's perspective in this case to date is that, at this point, we don't know how the energy transition will unfold.  And we certainly don't know what the government's policies in this regard are going to be.  We have already heard that, in Quebec, for instance, they are assuming hybrid heating would stick around for 40 years.  And, in fact, they have mandated that with the assessment.  Is that correct, Mr. Macpherson?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  So we really are at that point in uncertainties, which is why we are putting out a table like this so that we could perhaps, you know -- I suppose if we wanted to take a position on the proportion of customers who would remain on the system, then the blended revenue horizon could be adjusted accordingly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we go back to, I think it is page 139 of your compendium?  Just so I am sure, one more time, that I understand this, you are still assuming that in each of the various different revenue horizons, that the same number of customers will connect.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, we did qualify that as being a simplistic assumption.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand.  And that they will ultimately pay the CIAC payment?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But we know that is not going to happen.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so ultimately, the actual capital that will be required is going to be lower than this.  We don't know how much, I took from your opening statement, but we know it is going to be lower.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  It would be lower than the numbers on the first line, if we had a different revenue horizon.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask a question:  You mentioned in your opening comments, and I wasn't sure if it was a proposal or just thinking out loud about some of the things that you were expecting, you talked about how to address this issue, that maybe you would want a variance account, if the Board was going to implement a reduced revenue horizon.  Did I get that correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  A variance account would address the situation we are faced with, which is that in the event the Board approved a shorter revenue horizon, there are implications for CIACs, and the customers may make different decisions than they would have absent that CIAC.

So we really -- it is hard to predict in the first year of operation of a new rule what the impact might be.  And so to the extent that the customer connections capital is a factor in setting base rates, you know, a variance account would allow us to neutralize the impact of that change.  And it could be higher or lower.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How would it be higher?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, it could be higher -- so let me clarify:  If we assumed $304 million in the setting of base rates, and we changed the revenue horizon to 30 years, I would agree that the number would be lower.  If we assumed that the revenue horizon should be 30 years, and the Board, you know, rather than approve a capital envelope decided to specifically zoom in on the customer connections capital and say we approve a customer connection capital of $238 million, then the end result could be something higher or lower because we are simply -- I mean, the assumption that everybody connects and pays $428 in CIAC is obviously not going to pan out.

So if the most profitable customers connected and there was no CIAC, that number could be higher than $238 million, or it could be lower.  That was the point of the variance account.  If an adjustment were to be made to customer connections, it would be difficult to assess what that adjustment would be.  If we choose to leave it at $304 million and require a true-up to whatever the actual customer capital is, then, of course, the adjustment would be downward.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am just a little confused how it can ever be higher.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Maybe I could help here.  I am sorry.  Excuse me.  So these numbers are based on our forecast.  To the extent they could vary could be affected by the mix of new customers connecting in 2024 for example.  So, should there be more subdivision customers and less infill customers or large customers, that would change the mix of what the total is of all this.

There is lots of action and new rules, Bill 23 from the province, encouraging more homes to be built faster in the province, and certainly the number of housing starts has increased.  So it's hard to predict exactly how many new homes will be completed in 2024, but that number prospectively could go up as a result of those changes, that we see more completions and a higher number of customers connecting than we had planned.  And that is something we saw last year.  We had a forecast methodology in round numbers, but I think it was like 45,000 customers and we connected 48,000 customers because of that surge in new-construction activity.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But now you are mixing two things up.  One is the change of connection costs as a result of just the change in the revenue horizon versus just there could be more customers who connect under the current situation, as you are talking about, or capital costs could be higher or lower.  As your proposal -- and this is to the question.  You may want to take it by way of undertaking.  If the Board was going to change the revenue horizon, what exactly in your -- we're talking about a variance account.  What exactly would it track, and what is it that it would attempt to capture.  If you would like to take this by way of undertaking, which makes a lot of sense, then I would be happy.

MR. STEVENS:  I think, in the interest of moving along this afternoon, it might make sense to answer that by way of undertaking, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J10.12.
UNDERTAKING J10.12:  ENBRIDGE TO ADVISE ON, IF THE BOARD WERE TO CHANGE THE REVENUE HORIZON, WHAT EXACTLY WOULD IT TRACK AND WHAT IT IS THAT IT WOULD ATTEMPT TO CAPTURE.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Even in the -- let's just assume that this was a perfect representation of what would happen in the various scenarios.  Am I correct that, in the 30-year time horizon, the same customers connect, the same gross capital is spent to build the infrastructure that is needed to be built; the only difference is the amount that would be included in rate base.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  You might have to repeat that question, Mr. Rubenstein.  Sorry.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No problem.  So let's assume that these numbers actually reflect what happens.  Am I correct that the difference between a 40-year and a 30-year or it could be any of what the various revenue horizons are, while the total gross capital that has to be spent to connect the customers doesn't change, the only thing that changes is what is included in rate base.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  In this simplistic table, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so Enbridge would earn less money on connections.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so less income from growth capital.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Can I ask if we can turn to the compendium.  Actually, I was wondering if, Ms. Monforton, you can bring up -- I apologize.  It is not in the compendium.  This is one interrogatory, interrogatory 1 in ED 83.  If we can scroll down to the answer to E, essentially Enbridge was asked to provide a comparison between gas and electric connection policy, and essentially you didn't provide it; they didn't provide the electricity side on -- you know gas, not necessarily electricity.  Do I have that correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Sorry.  Can you repeat the question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand the response and what the table is, you completed the gas side of it and you didn't complete the electricity side.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.  I mean, in our answer, there are dozens of electric utilities, and we are not familiar with all their regulations and rules.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is fine.  Can we go to page 4 of the compendium or, sorry, page 4 of the answer.  Here, you were asked for the rules regarding liability for revenue forecast shortfalls, who is liable and how this is enforced.  And your response was:
"The revenue deficiency created by one project is offset by the revenue sufficiency created by others.  The actual revenues for all projects each year are incorporated into calculating the PI of the company's IP."

And I believe that is "investment portfolio."  Is that what "IP" stands for?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The company is liable for managing its portfolio at a PI greater than 1 and reporting to the OEB as required in the E.B.O 188 guidelines.  Do you see that?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I didn't see that in the pre-filed evidence.  Did you report on the investment portfolio numbers?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Just a second, please.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I didn't see it until we asked for it in interrogatory 2.6, SEC 118.  This is at page 69 of the compendium.



MR. STEVENS:  If you give us a moment, we think we know where it is, Mr. Rubenstein.  Just one second.  We believe it can be found in the utility system plan at Exhibit 2, tab 6, schedule 1.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, it is okay.  I mean the information is now here.  So maybe I can flip over to page 70 of the compendium.  Table 1, as I understand, shows investment portfolio, PI, for between 2013 and forecast to 2024.  Correct?  And this was up [audio dropout] after that date.  Is this better?  As I understand table 1, it shows the PI of the investment portfolio from 2013 to 2024, and this is an updated, with the capital update.  Is that what I am looking at?  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what I see is that, for 2021, the investment portfolio was 0.87, 2022 it is 0.93, and 2023 it is 0.91.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I believe the 2024 one was revised downwards although it still remains above, forecasts remain above 1.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct, under E.B.O 188, you are supposed to be at a PI above 1, correct, for the investment portfolio?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so for 2021, 2022, and 2023, you are below the required PI of 1.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the implications of that, as I understand it, is that for attachments in '21, '22, and '23 for those projects, you don't expect to cover the connection costs over the 40 years.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  So a couple of points about this, and I think the capital panel that is coming up next week can add more colour.  We are talking about three years during the global pandemic, during extraordinary circumstances of supply-chain issues, inflation, extraordinary inflation, and other challenges in conducting our business and in connecting customers.  In addition to that, we had challenging costs to do with the extra length charge which the company tried to amend due to the cost escalation well above the rate of inflation.  So there was some extraordinary cost pressures coming from infill service costs.  So a number of drivers behind these cost differences, primarily to do with the pandemic.  And I think any business conducting business in Ontario has faced many of these same challenges at this time.

That aside, the one thing to look at here is the cumulative effect of the investment portfolio during the last few rate periods is positive.  The sum point is that the net effect on rates is positive.  During that time, you're right, the rule does say that the Board will review shortfalls in the investment portfolio and make a decision on the consequence of those, and I think that would be fairly extraordinary in the circumstances that we face.

Bringing it back to your question about whether those customers pay themselves back, the answer is no.  But, on a cumulative basis, we have a portfolio of customers.  The portfolio of customers is positive and, overall, has had an affirmative impact on our rates and other customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in ED83 we were looking at before, where Enbridge wrote:  "The company is liable for managing its portfolio at a PI greater than 1," what does that mean, you are liable?

MR. MACPHERSON:  It means we are at risk.  The words are -- if we could pull up E.B.O. 188, section 3.3.  I think we need the Appendix B, sorry, section 3.3.  It's coming, thanks.

Here is, from rule, the risks of non‑performance, black and white:
"In the event that the investment portfolio does not produce a positive NPV or PI of 1, the utility will be required to provide a complete variance explanation of its rate case and the Board will determine whether or not an acceptable explanation has been provided; and the implications of a negative NPV or PI less than 1 will be determined by the Board on a case‑by‑case basis."

So I guess, in answer to what we mean by the word, is that it's up to the Board, really. They could decide that we lacked prudency in those investments.  And that's what we're doing now, explaining, between our panel -- really, the capital panel will provide those variance explanations in further deal.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are the variance explanations -- I know there are a couple in the interrogatory.  There are a few lines that sort of summarize what you said; you know, pandemic, et cetera.  But is there any other variance analysis on the record with respect to these issues?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I think that would be best addressed by the capital panel.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And so, just as I understand you, the company is not proposing that it bear those, the differences.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. MACPHERSON:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, because there is no deposit policy, it's not those connecting customers who are solely bearing it.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it's all customers.  Correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Lastly, before we end, there was a lot of discussion about the electricity policies and how they differ from the gas connection policies.  And I'm not clear how the policies on both ends got to where they are, but let's just think about it at conceptual level.

Do you have a reason why Enbridge, and the gas utilities, should have different set of connection policies than the electricity distributors?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I think I've answered this.  Without knowing the differences in the nature of their investment and infrastructure and rates, I don't think I can begin to contemplate explaining and trying to align those two things.

They were both created in an independent manner, based on those nature of those public utilities.  Gas is different, has different types of depreciation and life expenditure, and infrastructure, than electricity.  So I can't offer an explanation.  And, as I said before, they were both created in a very close period of time, within a couple of years.  So I'm sure -- and E.B.O. 188 was created first.  So I don't know what was in the minds of the people who worked on the distribution system code, but I am sure they were well aware of what E.B.O. 188 was.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I'm not asking you to put your mind to where those who were involved in the distribution system code.  But, where we are today, do you see that there is a reason why Enbridge should be -- and the gas utilities -- should be treated or should have a different set of rules than the connection policies for electricity?  Is there anything that comes to mind why, for electricity, you should have an expansion deposit, a connection deposit, but, for gas, you shouldn't?  Why there should be a connection horizon that's different?  Is there anything specific that you can help us with?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I think I've answered that we are not familiar with those rules and regulations and why it was created in that manner.  E.B.O. 188 was created in that time.  It has been reaffirmed on several occasions, including in the EB‑2016-004 decision and in the EB‑2020-0094 decision.  If the Board were to review the nature of the regulation and add some new features in comparison to the Electricity Distribution System Code, I can't say what would or would not be appropriate at this time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.  Thank you for your assistance.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  According to the schedule, we are sitting a little longer than usual.  Is everybody okay to continue to 4:45?  CCC is up next.  Hearing no objections, we will carry on until 4:45.  Ms. Girvan, you are good to go until 4:45?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, I am, thank you.  I thought Mr. Yauch was in front of me.  Has that changed?

MR. MORAN:  APPrO has withdrawn its time.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Can you hear me, panel, clearly?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, we can.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Just so you know, my name is Julie Girvan, and I'm a consultant to a Consumers Council of Canada.

My first question is, could we turn to table 4 in the Environmental Defence compendium, please.  It's actually, I think on page 14 of 46.  So I'm trying to understand these categories.  And I think the first one is clear, that that's the community expansion for 2024.  It's the number of new customers.  Is that correct?

Does that include the government's natural gas expansion program?

MR. MORAN:  Ms. Girvan, just a moment, please.  The court reporter didn't hear the last answer.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, I'm sorry.

MR. AHMAD:  I said that the first category is community expansion customers.

MS. GIRVAN:  And does that include the customers connected through the government's natural gas expansion program?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  And so, with respect to the homes and residential developments -- the 29,000, I guess, we have there -- are the developers in those particular projects the ones that pay the contribution?

MR. AHMAD:  It depends on the project.  So each project is assessed based on the feasibility guidelines and, if they are feasible, they don't have to pay any contribution.  And, if they are not feasible, they provide a contribution.

MS. GIRVAN:  And it's the developers that provide the contributions in those projects.  Is that correct?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.  The builders or developers who make the application on behalf of the subdivision.  So, yes, they provide this contribution.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So to the extent that your policy might change in say, 2024, in terms of individual customers that could be impacted, it is everyone excluding the homes and residential developments.  Is that correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Sorry, I am not sure we understand the question.  Ms. Girvan, if you are asking if the revenue horizon were to change, which of this category of customers would be impacted?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. MACPHERSON:  All of them.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. MACPHERSON:  It depends on the Board's decision, but the 40-year revenue horizon, other than large-volume customers, are subject to a 40-year revenue horizon.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And have you had any discussions with developers in your service territory regarding potential changes to E.B.O. 188?

MR. MACPHERSON:  We have not.

MS. GIRVAN:  Do you intend to have discussions with them?

MR. MACPHERSON:  So the best answer I can provide, we would be -- subsequent to this hearing, we would be in contact with our builders and developers and other customers, and would share some of the issues of the proceeding, and including this one, and trying to -- which I am sure they would be trying to understand the impact of such a change on their connection to gas.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you don't know if a change in the potential revenue horizon, for example, could impact the number of customers attached through new developments?  You don't have any idea about that, for 2024?

MR. MACPHERSON:  We do not.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MACPHERSON:  If I just add, Ms. Girvan, that new construction developments are the most feasible type of project that we have.  But it is still difficult to estimate, because some developments do pay contributions, depending on if they are proximate to our system or if we have to do main extensions to reach those developments, which may impact the contribution.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So these numbers can potentially change if the E.B.O. 188 is changed in the context of 2024?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes, I agree.  I think we have already stated that.  We would have to reassess based on the Board's final decision in this, and it would ultimately become a matter of the market's appetite to pay.  How much would they -- like, once you figure out a connection charge, it is hard to know what an individual consumer would do.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Along those lines, if the OEB required Enbridge to initiate changes to your E.B.O. 188 policies, either through no revenue horizon or say, 20 years, for example, would you need time to phase that in?  Or could you proceed with this change in 2024?  And that may be something you want to think about.

MR. MACPHERSON:  I think the answer, it would depend on how dramatic the change is.  There is a number of projects that would be in flight.  We have projects for large customers and subdivisions that have started the planning process even in 2022 that may not be completed until 2024 or 2025.  So we would have to think through an implementation plan, to see what effects, you know, making these changes would be on the feasibility of these customers.  And if the Board's expectation would be that these would become effective immediately on January 21, and under what terms and conditions, that would be applied.

I am saying there is a lot to think about in terms of implementing a major change in these kinds of regulations.

MR. STEVENS:  Ms. Girvan, it is David Stevens speaking.  You had suggested that this might be something we would like to take away, and certainly hearing the witness's answer, it sounds like it is something we would probably be well advised to take away rather than to answer, without having thought about it fully.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, I would appreciate that, because I am trying to look at the practical implications.  So, for example, if the board did make a change, let's say for example it changed to, you know, no revenue horizon in terms of the customers would have to pay the full CIAC, I would just like to understand the implications of that in terms of practicality.  So could it be implemented in 2024 and, if so, how would Enbridge propose to do that?  And if it couldn't, sort of what your proposal actually is?

MR. STEVENS:  We can certainly advise as to our position on that, if the undertaking is acceptable to you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J10.13.  And, Mr. Stevens, what are you undertaking to do?

MR. STEVENS:  Enbridge will advise as to its position on the time it would need, or would request, to implement a new revenue horizon policy if that was directed by the OEB.
UNDERTAKING J10.13:  ENBRIDGE WILL ADVISE AS TO ITS POSITION ON THE TIME IT WOULD NEED, OR WOULD REQUEST, TO IMPLEMENT A NEW REVENUE HORIZON POLICY IF THAT WAS DIRECTED BY THE OEB.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  That is helpful.

MR. MORAN:  In 2024, I think was what Ms. Girvan was asking.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  And if that was practical --


MR. STEVENS:  Sorry.  Apologies, I was speaking over two people.  Yes, the premise I think of the undertaking is what would Enbridge's proposal be, where this Panel was to determine in phase 1 that there should be a change to Enbridge's -- the revenue horizon used by Enbridge Gas for connection policies starting in 2024.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, that is great.  Thanks.  Are we going to 4:45, Commissioner Moran?

MR. MORAN:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Is that what you said?  Okay.  I will try to fit in one more question.

And I guess this is really for both Mr. Macpherson and Ms. Giridhar:  So today, I just want to confirm that you have a variety of customers, and I am speaking from a residential customer perspective.  You have customers who have been connected and haven't been required to pay a contribution in aid of construction.  Is that correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  And you have customers who are required to pay a contribution in aid of construction?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Correct.  And you have customers who are a part of the community expansion program who pay the system expansion charge, which is effectively a program in which they pay a CIAC over a period of time, so that other customers aren't subsidizing their connection to the gas system.  Is that correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That is correct.  But to be clear, all classes of customers that you just mentioned are treated in the same manner.  The E.B.O. 188 regulations apply consistently, and a customer paying a contribution that has been done on the same basis that is approved by the Board in our regulations -- or in our guidelines and in our approved new business policies, and the community expansion has special rates to do with -- or standalone rates, that support the community expansion, and allow those areas which other otherwise would be infeasible, to be connected.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But these customers are all a little bit different in terms of what they have paid to Enbridge?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I believe that is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And then you have customers who are part of the government's natural gas expansion program.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Sorry, excuse me, the community expansion program is the government's natural gas expansion program.  It is one and the same.

MS. GIRVAN:  But there are two components.  One is where the customers themselves are paying a system expansion charge, and the second, where there are grants from the government to subsidize those expansions?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Sorry, when you use the words -- excuse me, when you use the words "community expansion", we generally apply that to the NGEP expansion program projects that have been selected by the ministry of energy.

However, to be clear, there could be other projects, and there are other projects that have surcharges, either the temporary connection surcharge or the system expansion surcharge that are connected and would not be beneficiaries of that grant program.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But they are different types of customers?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And a lot of them have had access to gas under different policies.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I am not sure I understand the question, on this one.  You mean there has been different rate treatments over time that may have applied?

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, that is fair.  That is fair.  I think that would be my conclusion for today.  I do have another 20 minutes, or so.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan we will continue with you on Monday.  So we are adjourned until Monday morning, 9:30.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:47 p.m.
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